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PART! 

Unless otherwise indicated or the conte.·a otherwise requires, all references to the "Company", "A1RC Global", "we", "us", "our" and the "registrant" refer Jo A1RC 
Global inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

ITEM!. BUSINESS 

Gcne1·al 

We are the leading g lobal distributor of pipe, valves and fittings ("PVF") and other infrastmcture products and services to diversified gas utility, energy and 
industrial end-markets. We provide innovative supply chain solutions, technical product expertise and a robust digita l platform to customers globally through our 
leading position across each of our diversified end-markets including the following sectors: 

• Gas Utilities: gas utilities (storage and distribution of nanaral gas) 
• DTET: downstream, industrial and energy transition (crude oil refining, petrochemical and chemical processing, general industrials and energy transition projects) 
• I>TI : production and transmission infrastructure (exploration, production and extraction, gathering, processing and transmission of oil and gas) 

We offer approximately 200,000 SKUs, including an extensive array of PVF, oilfield supply, valve automation and modification, measureme·nt, instrumentation and other 
general and specialty products from our global network of over 7, I 00 suppliers. With over 100 years of experience, our more than 2,600 employees (or "team members") 
serve over 8,300 customers through digital commerce applications and 197 service locations including regional distrilbution centers, service centers, corporate offtces 
and third-party pipe yards, where we often deploy pipe near customer locations. 

O ur customers use PVF and other infrastructure products that we supply in mission critical process applications that require us to provide a high degree of product 
knowledge, technical expertise and comprehensive value-added services to our customers. We seck to provide best-in-class service, and a one-stop shop for our 
customers by satisfying the most complex, multi-site needs of many of the largest companies in energy, industrial and gas utility sectors as their primary PVF supplier. 
We believe the critical role we play in om· customers' supply chain, together with our extensive product and service offerings, broad global presence, customer-l inked 
scalable infonnation systems and efficient distribution capabilities, serve to so lidify our long-standing customer relationships and drive our growth . As a result, we have 
an average relationship of approximately 35 years with our 25 largest customers. 

MRC Global Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on November 20, 2006. Our principal executive office is located at 130 I McKinney Street, Suite 2300, Houston, Texas 
770 I 0. Our telephone number is (877) 294-7574. Our website ad!dress is www mrcglobal com. Infonnation contained on our website is expressly not incorporated by 
reference lntn lhi~ document. 

MRC Global Sale <>£Canada Business 

On March 14, 2025, the Company completed its sale of its Canadian operations to EMCO Corporation, and we plan to use the proceeds for reduction of debt. The 
historical results of the Canada segment have been reflected as discontinued operations in our audited consolidated financial statements for all periods prior to the 
definitive agreement. As a result of the sa le, a pre-tax, noncash loss on discontinued operations of approximately $22 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of2024. 
Assets and liabilities associated with the Canada segment are c lassified as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations in our audited Consolidated Balance Sheets 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Addit ional disclosures regarding the sale of our Canada operations are provided in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Item 8 of this Fonn 10-K. 
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Business Strategy 

As a distributor ofPVF and other infrastn•cture products to diversified gas utility, energy and industrial sectors, our strategy is focused on growth, creating e!Ticiencies 
and the development of long-term customer relationships. Our strategic objectives are to: 

• increase our sales by executing preferred supplier contracts with new and existing customers, and maintaining a focus on our managed and targeted growth 
accounts, 

• enhance our product and service offerings around our core PVF distribution offerings as well as complementary products, 
• extend our g lobal platfonn to major gas utilities, energy and industrial companies that utilize PVF, 
• provide our products and services to companies engaged in the energy transition, 
• invest in technology systems and distribution warehouse infrastmcture to achieve improved operational excellence, 
• continue our penetration of electronic interaction with our customers throug h c-conuncrcc, 
• safely and sustain ably increase our efficiency and lower our cost to serve to enhance our margins, 
• maintain superior customer service, 

• optimize our working capital, and 
• generate coosistent cash flow through the cycle in order to maintain an acceptable net debt leverage ratio, have ample cash to execute against our share buyback 

program and invest for future continued growth in our business. 

We believe that preferred supplier agreements allow us to better serve our customers' needs and provide customers with a global platform to procure their products. The 
agreements vary by customer; however, in most cases, we are the preferred supplier, and while there are no minimum purchase requirements, we generally have a larger 
proportion of the customer's spending in our product categories when we enter into these agreements. We strive to add scope to these arrangements in various ways 
including adding customer locations, product lines, inventory management and inventory logistics. 

We conduct detailed account planning and educate potential customers on the offerings and logistics services we provide. In addition, through digital system 
integration with our customers and suppliers, we believe transactions with our customers can be more streamlined. 

Our approach to expanding existing markets and accessing new markets is multifaceted. We seek to optimize our geographic footprint, pursue strategic acquisitions and 
organic investments and cultivate relationships with our existing customer base. We work with our customers to develop innovative supply chain solutions that enable 
us to consistently deliver the high-quality products that our customers need when they need them. By being a consistent and reliable supplier, we are able to maintain 
and grow our sales with both new and existing customers. 

We maintain a diverse universe of suppliers that allows us to strategically partner with the largest manufacturers of the products we distribute while simultaneously 
providing our customers access to alternative sources of supply and high-quality products across the entire spectmm of their product needs. We continually broaden 
our product and service offerings and supplier base. Product expansion opportunities include aHoy, chrome, stainless products, gaskets, seals, products that prevent 
the unwanted emission of greenhouse gases, such as methane, and other industrial supply products. We remain focused on products and value-ttdded services such as 
valves, valve automation and modification, measurement and iustnunentation, as well as high alloy products that command higher margins. 

Although we have not been active with acquisitions in recent years, our acquisition strategy is focused on those businesses that: 

• can increase scale, especially with respect to purchasing and breadth of supply for our customers, 
• result in efftciencies in providing our products and services that can reduce the cost to serve our customers, 
• add services or technology that complement our product offerings, 
• optimize our geographic footprint to serve energy, industrial or gas utility intensive regions that provide accretive profit opportunities, 
• expand our product and service offerings, adding breadth and depth to our existing product offerings, such as valves, complementing our existing product 

offerings such as related measurement and instrumentation products or products that control the unwanted discharge of greenhouse gases like methane, or 
• expand our product and service offerings to new end use sectors. 

Generally, we grow through organic investment in the current markets we serve, but we may pursue available acquisition opportunities or consider expanding into 
markets that we do not currently serve to further diversify our ··evenue stream. 

We invest in information technology ("IT") systems and service center infrastmcture to achieve improved operational excellence and customer service. Our concept of 
operational exceJience leverages standardized business processes to deliver top tier safety perlonnance, a consistent customer experience and a lower overall cost to 
serve. Our digital transformation strategy is a key component of operational excellence and is designed to add furthe:r differentiation to our product and service offerings 
with an objective to maintain and grow our business with new and existing customers. We continue to develop our dig ital commerce platfonn, MRCGOT". From this 
single portal, our customers have the ability to shop for material, track and expedite orders, reseurch payment options, search for documents and receive support from 
MRC Global representatives. Through this platfom1 we are able to enhance the customer experience through a broad array of customized digital service.s while 
simultaneously lowering our cost to serve by centralizing customer service resources, expanding customer self-service capabilities and routing a greater volume of our 
business through the regional distribution center ("RDC") fulfillment model. Where practical and cost eiTective, we are delivering directly from our RDCs to the customer 
delivery location, supporting our efforts to consolidate inventory and increase working capital efficiency. Globally, over the last twelve months, 49% of our revenue was 
generated through digital channels. Additionally, over 50% of our customer orders were digital. We are also currently investing in a new cloud-based enterprise resource 
planning ("ERP") system lor our U.S. business, which is expected to be fully implemented by the end of 2025. We are implementing this new system to automate and 
streamline many of our existing processes and to improve the efficiency of numerous operational and support function processes. 

The foregoing paragraph contains a forward-looking statement within the meaning of Section 27 A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act indicated 
by the word "expected". Our expectation of the actual completion of the implementation of our new ERP system is only our expectation, and actual timing may differ 
depending on coding, debugging, data transfers, training, testing and other implementation activities being successful within the time frames that we have planned. 
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Operations 

O ur distribution network extends throughout the world with a p resence in all major oil and nat m al gas providing regions in the U.S., Europe, Asia, Australasia, and the 
Middle East. Many of these locations are also strategically located to service gas utilities and industrial customers. We service Africa, Central and South America and 
other regions on an export basis. Our business is segregated into rwo geographical operating segments: U.S. and lntemational. These segments represent our b usiness 
of providing PVF and other infrastmc111re products and services to the sectors that we serve. Financial info1mation regarding our reportable segments appears in " Item 7 
- Management's Dis~ussion and Analysis of Finan~ial Condition and Results of Operations" and in Note 16 of the Notes to the Consolida ted Finan~ial Statements 
included in hem 8 of this Form 10-K. 

Safety: In our business, safety is of paramount importance to us and to our customers. Unsafe conditions can cause Qr contribute to injuries, deaths, property damage 
and pollution that, i·n tum, can create significant liabilities for which insurance may not always be sufficient. We are subject to many safety regulatory standards such as 
those standards that the U.S. Occupational Health and Safety Administration ("OSHA"), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and the U.S. Department of 
Transportation or stale or foreign agencies of a similar nature may impose and enforce upon us. Failure to meet those standards can result in fines, penalties or agency 
actions that can impose additional costs upon our business. For all of these reasons, we and our customers demand high safety standards and practices to prevent the 
occurrence of unsafe conditions and any resulting harm. Our operations, therefore, focus on the safety of our employees and those with whom we do business. Our 
safety programs are designed to focus on the highest likely safety risks in our business and to build a culture of safe practices and continuous safety improvement for 
our employees, our customers and others with whom we do business or otherwise come into contact. 

Among other safety measures, we track our total recordable incident rate ("TRJR") and our lost ttime incident rate ("LTIR"), both per 200,000 hours worked. Including 
operations in Canada, our TRIR was 0.82 in 2024. This compares favorably to the 2023 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics ("BLS") average of 3.0 for wholesalers of metal 
products. Including operations in Canada, our L TIR was 0.27 in 2024. This also compares iliVorably to the BLS average of 0.9 for wholesalers of metal products . 

Producrs: We distriibute a complete line ofPVF products, primarily used in gas utilities, energy and industrial infrastmcture applications. The products we distribute arc 
used in the construction, maintenance, repair and overhaul of equipment used in extreme operating conditions such as high pressure, high/low temperatures and highly 
corrosive and abrasive environments. We are required to carry significant amounts of inventory to meet the rapid delivery, often same day, requirements of our 
customers. The breadth and depth of our product and service offerings and our extensive global presence allow us to provide high levels of service to our customers. 
Due to our broad inventory coverage, we are able to fulfill more orders faster, including those with lower volume and specialty items, than we would be able to if we 
operated on a smaller scale or only at a local or regional level. Key product types are described below: 

• Valves, Automarion, Modification, Measuremenr and Instrumentation. Our product offering includes ball, butterfly, gate, globe, check, diaphragm, needle and 
plug valves, which are manufactured from cast steel, s tainless/alloy steel, forged steel, carbon steel or cast and ductile iron. Valves are generally used in energy 
and industrial applications to control direction, velocity and pressure of fluids and gases within transmission networks. Other products include lined c-orrosion 
resistant piping systems, controli valves, valve automation and top work components used for regulating flow and on/ofT service, measurement products and a 
wide range of steam and instrumentation products . In addition, we offer a full range of valve modification services to meet customer requirements including 
valve control extensions, welding, hydro testing, painting, coating, x-raying and actuation assembly. 

• Carbon Steel Fillings and Flanges. Carbon steel fittings and flanges include carbon weld fittings, flanges and piping componcnls used primarily to com1ect 
piping and. valve systems for the transmission of various liquids and gases. Customers use these products across a li the industries in which we operate. 

• Stainless Steel and Alloy Fittings, Flanges and Pipe. Stainless steel and alloy pipe and fittings include stainless, alloy and corrosion resistant pipe, tubing, 
fittings and flanges. These are used most often in the chemical, refining and power generation industries but are used across all of the sectors in which we 
operate. Cu stomers principally use alloy products in high-pressure, high-temperature and high-corrosion applications typically seen in process piping 
applications. 

• Gas Products. Natural gas distri bution products include risers, meters, polyethylene pipe and fittings and various other components and industrial supplies 
used primarily in the distribution of natural gas to residential and commercial customers. 

• Line Pipe. Customers typically use carbon line pipe in high-yield, high-stress and abrasive applications such as the gathering and transmission of oil, natural 
gas and natural gas liquids. 

• General Products. General includes oilfield supplies a nd other industrial products such as mill, tool and safety and electrical supplies. We offer a 
comprehen sive range of oilfield and industrial supplies and completion equipment, including high density polyethylene pipe, fittings and rods. Additio nally, we 
can supply a wide range of specialized production equipment including tanks and separators used in our PTI sector. 

Services: We provide our customers with a comprehensive array of services which we believe result in deeply integrated customer relationships, such as the following: 

• product testing • inventory and zone store management and warehousing 
• manufacturer assessments • order consolidation 
• multiple daily deliveries • product tagging and system interfaces customized to customer 
• volume purchasing • supplier specifications for tracking and replenishing inventory 
• tmck stocking • engineering of control packages 
• technical support • valve inspection and repair 
• training • product expediting, tracking and tracing 
• just-in-time delivery • documentation services, including materia l test records, assembly drawings and data sheets 
• on-site commissioning • pressure testing 
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Our self-service portal and system interfaces facilitate digital transaction exchange between our customers' and our proprietary IT systems. This allows us to interface 
with our customers' IT systems with cross-referenced part numbers, customized pricing, customized business to business processes, streamlining the order to cash 
process making it easier and more efficient to purchase our products. Such services strengthen our position with customers as we become more integrated into ~heir 
supply chain, and we are able to market a "total transaction value" solution rather than individual products. 

We continue to invest in and expand our comprehensive IT systems. In the U.S., we operate an ERP system, enhanced with differentiating distribution and service 
functionality. Our International business is on a separate ERP platfonn. Thcse systems provide for customer and supplier digital integrations optimizing business to 
business processes, infonnation exchange and e-commerce applications, including our MRCGo·rM platfonn. n1ey fut"ther strengthen our ability to provide high levels of 
service to our customers. Our highly specialized implementation group focuses on the integration of our infonnation systems and implementation of improved business 
processes with customers during the initiation phase. By maintaining a specialized team, we are able to utilize best practices to implement our technology systems and 
processes, thereby providing solutions to customers in a more organized, efficient and effective manner. ·n1is approach is valuable to large, multi-location customers 
who have demanding service requirements. We have initiated a new project to replace and modernize our ER1' system in the U.S. We arc implementing this new E!U' 
system to provide new functionality allowing us to automate and streamline our processes and systems to improve reporting, forecasting and controls. We expect to be 
fully implemented on the new system by the end of2025 and estimate total capital spending for the system of approximately $50 million, of which 
approximately $25 million has already been invested to date. 

The preceding paragraph contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27 A of the Securities Act and Section21E of the Exchange Act. Forward­
looking statements include those preceded by, followed by or including the words "expect" and "estimate". Our expectation regarding the full implementation of our new 
ERP system is only our expectation regarding the timing of the implementation. n1e actual timing could be impacted by delays in coding, data transfers, training, testing 
or debugging software cons!i!u!ing the new ERP system or interfaces with other software, progress in structuring or transferring data or outages of IT systems. Our 
estimate of total capital spend for the ERP project are only our estimates. Implementation timin.g, unforeseen coding or interface issues, IT system outages or other 
unforeseen events could impact our actual capital expenditures for the project. 

As major gas utilities, along with integrated and large independent energy companies have implemented efficiency initiatives to focus on their core business, many of 
these companies have begun outsourcing certain of their procurement and inventory management requirements. In response to these initiatives and to satisfy customer 
service requirements, we offer integrated supply services to customers who wish to outsource all or a part of the administrative burden associated with sourcing and 
managing PVF and other products. ln integrated supply relationships, we offer electronic catalog service through MRCGOTh• and often have MRC Global team 
members on-site full-time at many customer locations. Our integrated supply group offers procurement-related services, physical warehousing services, product quality 
assurance and inventory ownership and analysis services. 

For years, in our va lve engineering centers, we have designed and constructed assemblies that combine actuators with the valves we sell. In addition, we have a valve 
engineering and modification center in La Porte, Texas that provides services. At this facility, we modify valves for customer requirements, weld segments of pipe to the 
intake/outtake open.ings of large pipeline valves, add extensions to the valve controls while installing actuators to the valve, hydrotcst the valves, paint or coat the 
valves, x-ray the welds and deliver complete valve/actuation assemblies to our customers for field installations. We have a FastTrackT" service that we provide 
customers, whereby we supply specified classes of actuated valves in short delivery windows. 

Suppliers: We source the products we distribute from a global network of over 7,100 suppliers in 46 countries. Our suppliers benefit from access to our large, diversified 
customer base and by consolidating customer orders allowing for manufacturing efficiencies. We benefit from stronger purchasing power and preferred vendor 
programs. Purchases from our 25 largest suppliers in 2024 approximated 46% of our total purchases, with our single largest supplier constituting approximately 5%. We 
are the largest customer for many of our suppliers, and we source the majority of the products we distribute directly from the manufacturer. The remainder of the 
products we distribute are sourced from manufacturer representatives, trading companies and, in some instances, other distributors. 

We believe our customers and suppliers recognize us as an industry leader in part due to the quality of products we supply and for the formal processes we use to 
evaluate vendor perfom1ance. This vendor assessment process is referred to as the MRC Global Supplier Registration Process, which involves employing individuals 
who specialize in conducting on-site assessments of our manufacturers and their processes as well as monitoring and evaluating the quality of goods produced. These 
assessments are aimed at product quality assurance, including all aspects of the manufacturing processes, steel, alloy and material quality, ethical sourcing, product 
safety and ethical labor practices. The result of this process is the MRC Global approved manu.lacturer's listing ("AML"). Products from the manufacturers on this list 
are supplied across many of the industries we support. Given that many of our largest customers, especially those in ou.r DIET sector, maintain their own fonnal AML 
listing, we are recognized as an important source of infom1ation sharing with our key customers regarding the results of our on-site assessment. For this reason, 
together with our commitment to promote high quality products that bring the best overall value to our customers, we often become the preferred provider of AML 
products to these customers. Many of our customers regularly collaborate with us regarding specific manufacturer perfonnance, our own experience with vendors' 
products and the results of our on-site ma nufacturer assessments. The emphasis that both our customers and suppliers place on the MRC Global AML helps secure our 
central and critical position in the global PVF supply chain. 

We utilize a variety of freight carriers in addition to our corporate truck fleet to ensure timely and efficient delivery of our products. With respect to deliveries of 
products from us to our customers, or ou•· outbound freight, we utilize both our corporate fleet and third-party transportation providers. With respect to shipments of 
products from suppliers to us, or our inbound freight, we principally use third-party carriers. 

Sales and Marketing: We distribute our products to a wide variety of end-users. Our broad inventory offering and distribution network allows us to serve large 
customers with consistent, high-quality service that is unrivaled in our industry. Local relationships, depth of inventory, responsive service and timely delivery are 
critical to the sales process in the PVF distribution industry. Our sales efforts are customer and product driven and provide a system that is more responsive to changing 
customer and product needs than a traditional, fully centralized structure. 
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Our sales model applies a two-pronged approach to address both regional and national customers. Regional sales teams arc based in our core geographic regions and 
are complemented by a global acconnts sales team organized b y sector or product expertise and focused on large reg ional, national or global customers. These s ales 
teams are then supported by groups with additional specific sen ,ice or product expertise, including integrated supply, valves, valve automation and modification, 
engineering, procurement and construction projects, corrosion resistant products, pipe, measure ment equipment and implementation. Our overall sales force is then 
intemally divided into outside and inside sales forces. 

Our over 180 account managers and extemal sales representatives develop relationships with prospective and existing customers in an efton to bener understand their 
needs and to increase the number of our products specified or approved by a given customer. Outside sales representatives may be service center-based outside sales 
representatives, who focus on customer relationships in specific geographies, or technical outside sales representatives, who focus on specific products and provide 
detailed technical support to customers. Internationally, for valve sales, the majority of our sales force is comprised of qualified engineers who are able to meet complex 
customer requirements, select optimal soUutions from a range of products to increase customers' efficiency and lower total product lifecycEe costs . 

Our inside sales force of over 600 customer service representat ives is responsible for processing orders that new and existing customers generate as well as by orders 
that our outside sales force obtain. The customer service representatives develop order packages based on specific customer needs, interface with manufacturers to 
detennine product availability, ensure on-time delivery and establish pricing of materials and services based on guidelines and predetermined metrics that management 
establishes. 

Seasonality: Our business nonnally experiences mild seasonal effects in the U.S. as demand for the products we distribute is generally higher during the months of 
August, September and October. Demand for the products we distribute during the months of November and December and early in the year generally tends to be lower 
due to a lower level of activity near the end of the calendar year in the industry sectors we serve and due to winter weather disruptions. In a ddition, certain exploration 
and production ("E&P") activities, typically experience a springtime reduction due to seasonal thaws and regulatory restrictions, limiting the ability of drilling rigs to 
operate effectively during these periods. 

Customers: Our principal customers are companies active in the Gas Utilities, DIET and PTI sectors. Due to the demanding operating conditions in these sectors, high 
costs and safety risks associated with equipment failure, customers prefer highly reliable products and vendors with established qualifications, reputation and 
experience. As our PVF products typically are mission critical and represent a fraction of the total cost of a given project, our customers often place a premium on 
service and high reliability given the high cost of maintenance or project delays. We strive to build long-tenn relationships with our customers by maintaining our 
reputation as a supplier of high-quality, reliable products and value-added services and solutions. 

We have a large customer base of over 8,300 customers. No single customer represents more than 10% of our revenue. For many of our largest customers, we are often 
their primary PVF provider by sector or geography, their largest or second largest supplier in aggregate or, in certain instances, the sole provider for their procurement 
needs. We believe that many customers for which we are not the exclusive or comprehensive sole source PVF provider will continue to reduce their number of s11ppliers 
in an efTort to reduce costs and administrative burdens and focus on their core operations. As such, we believe these customers will seck to select PVF distributors with 
the most extensive product and service offerings and ability to supply customer needs in the geographies where our customers operate. Furthennore, we believe our 
business will beneftt as companies in the energy industry continue to consolidate and the larger, resulting eompanie!> look to larger distributors such as MRC Global as 
their sole or primary source PVF provider_ 

Backlog: We determine backlog by the amount of unshipped customer orders, which the customer may revise or cancel in certain instances. The table below details our 
backlog by segment (in millions): 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

u.s. $ 304 $ 418 $ 539 
lntemational 254 245 158 

$ 558 $ 663 $ 697 

Our backlog as of December 31, 2024 decreased by $105 million, or 16%, when compared to Deoember 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily driven by lower project 
activity and delayed timing of project orders in our PTl and Gas Utilities sectors within the U.S. segment, and partially offset by an increase in backlog within the 
International segment primarily driven by projects in Norway. Backlog as of December 31, 2023 decreased by $34 mill ion, or 5%, when compared to December 31, 2022. 
This decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in the U.S. segment due to reduced projects as a result of destocking by our Gas Utilities sector, and partially offset by 
an increase within our International segment primarily driven by projects in Norway. There can be no assurance that the backlog amounts will ultimately be realized as 
revenue or that we will earn a profit on the backlog of orders, but we expect that substantially all of the sales in our backlog will be realized within 12 months. 

Competition: We are a leading global PVF distributor to the gas utility, energy and industrial end markets. The broad PVF distribution industry is fragmented and 
includes large, nationally recognized distributors, major regional distributors and many smaller local distributors. TI1e principal methods of competition include o ffering 
prompt local service, fulfillment capability, breadth of product and service offerings, price and total costs to the customer. Our competitors include, among others, large 
PVF distributors, several regional or product-specific competitors and many local, family-owned and privately held PVF distributors. In addition, most of our suppliers 
also sell directly to end users. 
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Human Capilli] 

Team Members. We are a global team in L5 countries dedicated to our customers, our conununities and each other. We refer to our employees as "team members". MRC 
Global team members strive to support each other in times of need, provide excellent service to our customers and uplift the conmmnities where they live and work. As 
of December 31,2024, we had over 2,600 team members. Approximately 73% of our team members are in the U.S., and 27% are in our lntemational segment. ln the U.S., 
Norway and Australia, as of December 31 , 2024, we had 74team members that belonged to a union and an additional 165 non-union team members that union negotiated 
agreements cover. We consider our relationships with our team m.:mb.:rs to be good. 

Compensalion. We believe that we provide our team members with a competitive compensation within our industry in the fonn of wage or salary, depending upon the 
position. In the U.S., we pay our hourly team members at least S I 8 per hour beginning in their first year of employment, and in other countries we pay prevailing wages 
for our industry. In the U.S., U.K. and Australia, we offer a defined contribution retirement plan, and in other countries, we offer similar plans or participate in local 
govenuncnt retirement schemes. Likewise in the U.S., we offer team members the oppormnity to participate in health, dental and vision benefit plans and in other 
countries our team members either participate in similar plans or in government provided healthcare schemes. For those positions where short-tenn incentives, such as 
annual or quarterly bonuses are applicable, we align our incent ives with overall financial results . For profit centers, financial incentives often include adjusted earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") as a metric that supports our overall financial objectives. For sales and business development 
personnel, incentives often include gross margin metrics for the team member's location or unit that also support our overall financial objectives. While we align overall 
incentive payout with financial results, many team members are also incentivized on non-financial perfonnanc·e objectives and safety or operational efficiency goals or 
project objectives. A team member's objectives are usually set at the beginning of each year with the team member's supervisor. 

Team Member Developmenl. MRC Global supports team member growth by offering educational tools and development opporhmities to enhance skills and talent. Our 
Learning & Leadership Development team creates content and training programs on various technical, functional and leadership topics, sourcing input from internal and 
external subject matter experts. Given our global presence in 15 countries, we maintain a robust web-based learning management system ("LMS"), which provides 
accessible training resources. These interactive courses arc designed to engage team members and align with job responsibilities through curated, role and goal-specific 
content. 

Team member development begins with our onboarding process, which accelerates understanding of MRC Global's business and culture. Regular check-ins focus on 
shaping high perfonnance and growth. Our team members must complete recurring training on anti-harassment, anti-discrimination, legal compliance, safety and 
cybersecurity, with automated reminders and manager escalations to encourage timely completion. Additional training covers company procedures, product knowledge, 
leadership, management, sales skills, Microsoft Office 365 and various IT areas. As part of our digital transformation, we are increasing opportunities for team 
members to engage with MRCGOTM and other internal digital platfom1s. 

Beyond the LMS, team members have access to targeted live training session that the Company, its suppliers, or customers produce, to deepen job and product 
knowledge. We track training activities and maintain individual records and development plans. High-potentialleaders receive six-month executive coaching, including 
360-degree feedback Additionally, we assess team member sat isfaction and engagement through company-wide surveys, which infonn action planning at the enterprise, 
regional and local levels. 

MRC Global also ofTers tuition reimbursement for U.S. team members with more than six months of service, supporting graduate and undergraduate courses aligned with 
career goals. We provide internships and apprentice programs in select regions, giving emerging talent hands-on experience and the opport\mity to apply external 
learning while developing technical skills lor current and future roles. 

Culture. We are proud of the role we play in providing safe, productive and fulfilling jobs to our team members. Our core values underpin our culture. They are: 

• Safety Leadership 
• Customer Delight 
• Business Ethics 
• Operational Excellence 

• Financial Performance 
• Teamwork 
• Team Member Development 
• Community/Charity Involvement 

All new hires are onboarded with training that covers our culture including mission, vision and core values. Adherence to the core values is also evaluated for every 
team member as part of our team member development process. We maintain an independent process for confidential reporting of workplace concerns through our toll­
fTee hotline and the ability to bypass management and directly contact the Legal or Human Resource Departments or the Company's Audit Committee regarding 
concerns. 

Inclusive Workforce. Our team members reflect our global and diverse customer base with a diversity of cultures, backgrounds and approaches in our business. We are 
conunitted to maintaining a harassment and discrimination-free workplace where every team member feels safe, valued and encouraged regardless of age, gender, race, 
religion, ethnicity, sexual orientation, veteran status, disabilities or backgrounds. We want every one of our team members to have the opportunity to grow his or her 
career. While we do not maintain specific diversity quotas, our Human Resources Department actively monitors our hiring and promotion processes, to promote 
inclusivity, provide the Company with a broad pool of talent and provide opportunities to those that have the skills to do the job and grow. In addition, as part of our 
succession planning process, we identify high potential team members, which include diverse candidates, that are considered for promotio ns and developmental 
assignments. 

Monitoring for Success. We monitor our workforce to detern1ine its overall effectiveness by reviewing metrics related to headcount, composition, voluntary and 
involuntary tumover , diversity, performance per team member (such as revenue per team member or adjusted EBITDA per team member) and selling, general and 
administrative expense as a percentage of sales. We have a human capital management system that is global in nature to help us manage our team member initiatives and 
development and continue to enhance the system with surveying, compensation and timekeeping functionality to better improve utility and team member and 
supervisor experiences. 
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Sustainability 

Our Sustainable Business Model. Our distribution capabilities can flex with the needs of customers and service new customers in new industries and uses. Although 
the primary customers for our PVF products are gas utility, energy and industrial companies, we also distribute PVF to other end users as well. For instance, in our DIET 
sector, we distribute PVF to companies engaged in metals and mining, fabrication, power generation, data centers, ch.emical production, carbon capture, geothermal, 
hydro, biofuels, offshore wind and other general industrial uses . Our distribution platfom1 can a lso supply new product lines to existing customers and new industries 
and uses. 

Market Opportunit;es. As a distributor of PVF, we sell products to existing and new customers that control the flow of liquids and gases in a sustainable manner. Most 
of the products we provide are used to prevent and minimize accidental leaks of hydrocarbons into the environment. In addition, integrated oil and other energy 
companies, many oif which are our customers, have requirements to reduce their methane and other emissions and consider these targets when designing, constructing, 
upgrading, maintaining and operating their facilities. In 2023, the EPA finalized a regulation to require the reduction of methane in oil and gas production and 
hydrocarbon pipelines. ln addition, the Inflation Reduction Act of2022 has provisions that further incentivize oil and gas producers to reduce methane emissions. We 
sell a number of products that reduce the emissions of gases, including methane. In particular, in 2024, 96% of our sales of valves were low-emission valves that. control 
methane and other emissions. Many of the other valves that we sold were sold into application s such as the transfer of water that do not emit greenhouse gases or 
enviromn entally da ngerous substances. 

MRC Global's Sustainability Initiatives. The primary way that we can reduce our emissions o f greenhouse gases in our operations is to create an efficient supply 
chain. An efficient supply chain reduces the carbon footprint of transportation for deliveries to our distribution centers and service centers and, ultimately, to our 
customers. Use of our distribution centers and hub and spoke delivery model allow us to aggregate product across multiple suppliers and customers, which, in tum, 
prevents each customer from separately creating duplicative supply chains that require fuel for deliveries and resources to manage. We work closely with customers to 
engage in early planning to reduce supply errors and unnecessary transportation associated wit.h return and replacement material. We increase efficiency through sales 
on our e-commerce platfonn (MRCGOT") allowing for direct shipment from our regional distribution centers and negating transportation to our service centers to fulfill 
orders. 

As a distributor, we are engaged in a relatively low amount of manufacturing and assembly, mostly through the actuation and valve modification services that we offer 
our customers. We do not utilize large amounts of water, and water used for hydrotesting is often recycled. Our energy inputs are primarily electricity for lighting, 
heating and office and warehouse equipment, natural gas for heating and gasoline for company sales and delivery vehicles. We are reviewing this usage and seeking 
efficiencies to redncc use of these resources and resulting emissions. We have recycling programs to minimize waste from used pallets, cardboard, o ffice paper a nd 
other recyclables. Most of our core products are made of steel. Onr carbon steel products are made from recycled steel to varying degrees. 

Environmental Matters 

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local, foreign and provincial enviromnental, health and safety laws, regulations and pennitting requirements (collectively, 
"enviromnental laws"), including those governing the following: 

• the dischuge of pollutants or hazardous substances into the air, soil or water ; 

• the generation, handling, use, management, storage and disposal of, or exposure to, hazardous substances and wastes; 

• the respons ibility to investigate, remediate, monitor and clean up contamination; and 

• occupation al health and safety. 

Historically, the costs to comply with environmental laws have not been material to our financia l position, results of operations or cash flows. We are not aware of any 
pending environmental compliance or remediation matters that, in the opinion of management, are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our business, financial 
position or results of operations or cash flows. 

Exchange Rate lnfot·mation 

In this report, unless otherwise indicated, foreign currency amounts are converted into U.S. dollar amounts at the exchange rates in effect on December 31, 2024 and 
2023 for balance sheet figures. Income statement figures are converted on a monthly basis, using each month's average conversion rate. 

Available Infot·matioo 

Our website is located at www.mrcglobal.com. We make available free of charge on or through our internet website our annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports 
on Form I 0-Q, current reports on Fom1 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file this material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The information contained on the websites 
referenced in this Fom1 10-K is not incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, tbe Company's references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual 
references only. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and infom1ation statements and other infom1ation regarding issuers that file 
electronically with th e SEC at www.sec.gov. 
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ffEM I.A. RJSK FACl ORS 

You should carefully consider the following risk factors as well as the other risks and uncertainties contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in our other 
SEC filings. The occurrence of one or more of these risks or uncertainties could materially and adversely affect om· business, financial condition and operating 
results. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context expressly requires a different reading, when we state that a factor could "adversely affect us," have a 
"material adverse effect," "adversely affect our business" and similar expressions, we mean that the factor could materially and adversely affect our business, 

financial condition, operating results and cash flows . Information contained in this section may be considered 'fonvard-looking statements. " See "Item ?­
Management 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations- Cautionmy Note Regarding Forward-Look;ng Statements" for a 
discussion of certain qualifications regm·dingforward looking statements. 

Risks Rela ted to O ul' Business 

Decreased capital and otlter expenditures in tlte industries tltat we serve wn adversely impact our customers' demand for our products and our revenue. 

A large portion of our revenue depends upon the level of capital and operating expenditures in the industries that we serve. For instance, demand for our products and 
services is sensitive to capital expenditures for the addition of distribution capacity and replacement of aging infrastructure in our Gas UtiUities business. In our PTI and 
the refining portion of our DIET sectors, demand for the prodtLCts we distribute and services we provide is particularly sensitive to the level of exploration, development, 
production, transportation and refining activity of, and the corresponding capital and operating expenditures by, oil and gas companies. Other industrial sectors have 
various drivers for their capital expenditures. If our customers' capital expenditures decline, our business wilJ suffer. 

General economic conditions nwy adverse~v affect our business. 

U.S. and global general economic conditions affect many aspects of our business, including demand for the products we distribute. If general economic conditions 
deteriorate and the business of our customers in one or more of our sectors is negatively impacted, our customers may curtail their capital expenditures and demand for 
our products may suiTer. General economic factors beyond our control that affect our business and customers include (among others) interest rates, recession, inflation, 
deflation, customer credit availability, consumer credit availability, consumer debt levels, perfonnance of housing markets, energy costs, tax rates and policy, 
unemployment rates and other economic matters that influence our customers' spending. 

Geopolitical e1>e11ts may adversely affect our business 

U.S. and global general geopolitical events and relations among countries affect many aspects of our business as well as general economic conditions. These events 
could include (among others) the commencement or escalation of war or hostilities, the threat or possibility of war, terrorism or other global or national unrest, political or 
financial instability or the restriction of the !low of goods, data, people or capital among variou s countries. Governments in the countries where we do business could 
impose new taxes, change tax policies, change lawst add protectio nist policies for their country, impose tariffs o r export quotas, impose en1bargos or restrict impQrts or 

exports or impose economic sanctions. These sorts of actions could adversely impact our suppliers, our prices, our customers' demand for our products and our ability 
to receive payments. 

Volatile oil and ga!i prices affect demand for our products. 

Prices for oil and natural gas are cyclical and subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, 
market uncertainty and a variety of other factors that are beyond our control. A decline in oil and gas prices impacts the capital spending of many of our customers, 
particularly in our production and transmission infrastructure a nd the refining portion of our downstream, industrial and energy transition businesses. Any sustained 
decrease in capital expenditures in the oil and natural gas industry could have a material adverse effect on us. 

We may experience unexpectetl supply shortages. 

We distribute products from a wide variety of manufacturers and suppliers. Nevertheless, in the future we may have difficulty obtaining the products we need from 
suppliers and manufacturers as a result of unexpected demand, production difficulties that might extend lead times o·r a supplier's decision to sell its products through 
other distributors. Our inability to obtain products from suppliers and manufacturers in sufficient quantities to meet customer demand, or at all, could adversely affect 
our product and service offerings and our business. 

The loss of third-party transportation providers, or conditions negatiw ly affectillg the transportntio11 inti us try, C011Itl increase our costs or cause 111lisruption in our 

operations. 

We depend upon third-party transportation providers for delivery of products to our customers. Strikes, slowdowns, transportation dismptions or other condit ions in 
the transportation industry, including, among others, shortages of tmck drivers or dock workers, disruptions in rail service, increases in fuel prices, hostilities in. sea 
shipping lanes and adverse weather conditions, could increase our costs and dismpt our operations and our ability to service our customen on a timely basis. We 
cannot predict whether or to what extent increases or anticipated increases in fuel prices may impact our costs or cause a disruption in our operations going forward. 

We may experience cost increases from suppliers (lnd tmnsportflfion providers, which we mtty be 111111ble to pass 011 to our customers. 

Highly inflationary environments may adversely impact our business. We may face supply cos1 increases due to, among other things, unexpected increases in demand 
for supplies, decreases in production of supplies, increases in the cost of raw materials, transportation shortages, changes in exchange rates or the imposition of import 
taxes or tariff on imported products. Any inability to pass supp'ly price increases on to our customers could have a material adverse effect on us. For example, we may be 
unable to pass increased supply costs on to our customers because significant amounts of our s ales are derived from stocking program arrangements, contracts and 
maintenance and repair arrangements, which provide our customers time limited price protection. In addition, if supply costs increase, our customers may elect to 
purchase smaller amounts of products or may purchase produc1s from other distributors. While we may be able to work with our customers to reduce the effects of 
unforeseen price increases, we may not be able to reduce the effects of the cost increases. 
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If steel prices rise, we may be unable to pass along the cost i11Creases to our customers. 

We maintain invent-ories of steel products to accommodate the lead time requirements of our customers. Accordingly, we purchase steel products in an effort to maintain 
our inventory at levels that we believe to be appropriate to satisfY the anticipated needs of our customers based upotl historic buying practices, contracts with 
customets and forecasts of customer demands. Our conunitments to purchase steel products are generally at prevailing market prices in effect at the time we place our 
orders. If steel prices increase between the time we order steel products and the time of delivery of the products to us, our suppliers may impose surcharges that require 
us to pay for increases in steel prices during the period. Demand for the products we distribute. the actions of our competitors and other factors will influence w hether 
we will be able to pass on steel cost increases and surcharges to our customers, and we may be unsuccessfi.•l in doing so. 

We do 110t have contracts with most of Ollr suppliers. The loss of t1 signijictmt supplier wouhl require us to rely more heavi~v on our other existi11g suppliers or to 
develop relationships with new suppliers,. Such a loss may have an adverse eff ect on our product and sen>ice offerings am/ our business. 

Given the nature of our business, and consistent with industry practice, we do not have contracts with most of our suppliers. We generally make our purchases through 
purchase orders. Therefore, most of our suppliers have the ability to terminate their relationships with us at any time. Approximately 46% of our total purchases during 
the year ended December 31,2024 were from our 25 largest suppliers. Although we believe there are numerous manufacturers with the capacity to supply the products 
we distribute, the loss of one or more of our major suppliers could have an adverse effect on our product and service offerings and our business. 

Price reductions by suppliers of products that we sell could cause the value of our inventory Jo decline. Also, these price reductions could cause our custom.ers to 
demand lower sale$ prices for these products, possibly decreasing our margins and profiwbility on sales to the extefll that we purchased our inventory oft/use 

products at the higher prices prior to supplier price reductions. 

The value of our inventory could decline as a result of manufacturer price reductions with respect to products that we sell . Such a decline could have an adverse effect. 
Also, decreases in the market prices of products that we sell could cause customers to demand lower sales prices from us. These price reductions could reduce our 
margins and profitability on sales with respect to the lower-priced products. Reductions in our margins and profitability on sales could have a material adverse effect on 
us . 

A substtmtia/ decret1Se in the price of steel could signijictmtly lower our gross profit or cush flow. 

We distribute many products manufactured from steel. As a result, the price and supply of steel can affect our business and, in particular, our carbon steel line pipe 
product category. When steel prices are lower, the prices that we charge customers for products may decline, which affects our gross profit and cash flow. At times 
pricing and availabi lity of steel can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control, including general domestic and international eeonomic conditions, labor 
costs, sales levels, competition, consolidation of steel producers, fluctuations in and the costs of raw materials necessary to produce steel, steel manufacturers' plant 
utilization levels and capacities, import duties and tariffs and currency exchange rates. Increases in manufactur ing capacity for the carbon steel line pipe products could 
put pressure on the prices we receive for our carbon steel line pipe products. When steel prices decline, customer demands for lower prices and our competitors ' 
responses to those demands could result in lower sales prices and, consequently, lower gross profit and cash flow. 

If tariffs, quotas mul duties 011 imports i11t0 the U.S. of certai11 of the products thtlf we sell are imposed, we could pay higher prices for the products that we sell; tmd 
conversely, if tariffs, quotas or duties are lifted, we could have too many of these products in inventory competi11g agai11st/ess expe11sive imports. Dramatic changes 
in tariffs, quotas and duties could have rm adverse effect 011 our business. 

U.S. law cutTently imposes tariffs and duties on imports from certain foreign countries of line pipe and cettain other products that we sell. In addition, the U.S. President 
has signed executive orders to impose tariffs on steel imported into the U.S., and a significant portion of the products that we sell are made from steel. i f these tari!Ts are 
fully implemented and we are unable to pass on the costs of these tariffs to our customers, our gross profits will be reduced. In addition, if our customers' capital costs 
are increased, our customers may choose to delay or cancel projects and other purchases that include the products that we sell to them. 

If tari ffs, duties or quotas are lifted or if the level of imported products otherwise increases, and our U.S. customers a ccept these imported products, we could be 
adversely affected t·O the extent that we would then have higher-cost products in our inventory or experience lower prices and margins due to increased supplies of 
these products that could drive down prices and margins. If prices of these products were to decrease significantly, we might not be able to profitably sell these 
products, and the value of our inventory would decline. In addition, significant price decreases could result in a significantly longer holding period for some of our 
inventory. 

We may be adversely impacted by ltoldilrg more inventory than can be sold in a commercial time frame. 

A fundamental aspect of our business is to have inventory available for customers when they need it. If we over-estimate the amount of inventory that can be sold in a 
conunercial time frame or if market demand for a product drops unexpectedly, we may be forced to sell the product at substantially lower p.-ices, scrap the product or 
write down its carrying value. This can adversely impact our business. 

A transition to alternative forms of energy could adversely impact our customers, result in lower sales and adversely impact our results tmd financial condition. 

If through legislation, treaty or consumer preference, demand for oil and gas is substantially reduced through the use of alternative forn>s of energy and sales of our 
products to alternat ive energy producers are less than sales of our products to existing customers that produce, transport and use hydrocarbons as feedstock as well as 
sales to other customers, we could experience a reductio11 in sa.les, which could adversely impact our results and financial condition. Likewise, to the extetlt that 
governments limit the use of oil or gas in various applications, such as in prohibiting natural gas connections to newly constructed homes or buildings, we could also 
experience a reduction in sales, which could adversely impact our results and financial condition. 
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Adverse weather events or natural disasters could negatil•ely affect our local economies or tfisrupl our operations. 

Certain areas in which we operate have been susceptible to more frequent and more severe weather events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes and floods. Our operations 
may also be subject to natural disasters such as earthquakes, fires, volcanic eruptions and coronal mass ejections (sometimes referred to as solar flares). Weather 
events, in particular, may be increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change. These events can disrupt our operations, result in damage to our properties and 
negatively affect the local economies in which we operate. Additionally, we may experienc-e communication disruptions with our customers, vendors and team members. 
These events can cause physical damage to our service centers and require us to close service <Jenters. Additionally, our sales order backlog and shipments can 
experience a temporary decline immediately following these events. 

These adverse even.ts could result in disruption of our purchas ing or distribution capabilities, i.nterruption of our business that exceeds our insurance coverage, our 
inability to collect from customers and increased operating costs. Our business or results of operations may be adveTSely affected by these and other negative effects of 
these events. 

We are subject to strict environmental, ltealth and saf ety laws rmd regulations that may lear/to significant liabilities and negatively impact/he demand for our 

products. 

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local, foreign and provincial environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and permitting •-equirements (collecti vely, 
"environmental laws"), including those governing the following: 

• the discharge of pollutants or hazardous substances into the air, soil or water; 

• the generation, handling, use, management, storage and disposal of, or exposure to, hazardous substances and wastes; 

• the respons ibility to investigate, remediate, monitor and clean up contamination; and 

• occupational health and safety. 

O ur failure to comp[y with applicable environmental laws could result in fines, pennlties, enforcement net ions, team member, neighbor or other third-pnrty claims for 
property damage and personal injury, requirements to clean up property or to pay for the costs of cleanup or reg11latory or judicial orders requiring corrective measures, 
including the installat ion of pollution control equipment or remedial actions. 

Environmental laws applicable to our business and the business of our customers, including environmental laws regulating the energy industry, and the interpretation or 
enforcement of these environmental laws, are constantly evolving; it is impossible to predict accurately the effect that changes in these environmental laws, or their 
interpretat ion or enforcement, may have upon our business, financial condition or results of operations. Should envir-onmental laws, or their interpretation or 
enforcement, become more stringent, our costs, or the costs of our customers, could increase, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. 

Changes in our customer and product mix could cause our gross profit percentage to fluctuate. 

From time to time, we may experience changes in our customer mix or in our product mix. We must provide the products that our customers need when they need them 
and provide an appropriate level of service to gain and re.tain CIHi:tomers. Tf our customers• expe~rience is negative o r our customers require 1110re lower-margin product<; 

from us and fewer higher-margin products, our business, results of operations and financial condition may suffer. 

Demand for the products we distribute could decrease if the manufacturers of those products were to sell a substrmtia/ amount of goods directly to end users in the 
sectors we serve. 

Historically, users ofPVF and related products have purchased certain amounts of these products through distributors and not directly from manufacturers. If 
customers were to purchase the products ·that we sell directly from manufacturers, or if manufacturers sought to increase their efforts to sell directly to end users, we 
could experience a significant decrease in profitability. These or other developments that remove us from, or limit our role in, the distribution chain, may ham1 our 
competitive position in the marketplace, •·educe our sales and earnings and adversely affect our business. 

Failure to opeMte our business in an efficient or optimized manner can adversely impact our business. 

To make a profit, we must control selling, general and administrative expense. This requires our distribution network structure, our wareho use operations and the cost to 
serve customers to be diligently controlle d for our Company to earn a profit after deducting the cost of goods sold from the price of the products that we sell. We are 
constantly working to create a more efficient operation and wil l often review where our service centers and regional distribution centers are located, the transportation 
patterns and other operations among those centers and the needs and costs to opernte our business. Failure to operate our business in an efficient or optimized manner 
can adversely impact our business. 

We may be unable to compete successfully with other companies in our industry. 

We sell products and services in very competitive markets . In some cases, we compete with large companies with substantial resources. In other cases, we compete with 
smaller regional players that may increasingly be willing to provide similar products and services at lower prices. Competitive actions, such as price reductions, 
consolidation in the industry, improved delivery and other actions could adversely affect our revenue and earnings. Competition could also cause us to lower our prices, 
which could reduce our margins and profitability. Furthennore , consolidation of our customers'' businesses could heig hten the impacts of the competition on our 
business. Our results of operations could also be impacted, particularly if consolidation results in competitors with stronger financial and strategic resources and greater 
scale in inventory and purchasing power. We must maintain an appropriate level of inventory and provide a service quality to adequately compete . Our failure to 
successfully compete and maintain a competitive strategy can adversely affect our business. 
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We do 1101 ltave lo11g-tam collfracts or ngreemellfs witlt mtmyof our customers. Tlte co11tracts all(/ ngreemellfs tit at we do ltave ge11erally do 1101 commit ou,. 

customers to a11y minimum purchase volume. Tlte loss of a sig11ijicant customer may have a material adverse effect on us. 

Given the nature of our business, and consistent with industry practice, we do not have long-term contracts with many of our customers. In addition, our contracts, 
including our maintenance, repair and operations ("MRO") contracts, generally do not commit our customers to any minimum purchase volume. Therefore, a sig nificant 
number of our customers, including our MRO customers, may terminate their relationships with us or reduce their purchasing volume at any time. Furthermore, the 
customer contracts that we do have are generally terminable without cause on short notice. Our 25 largest customers represented approximately 60% of our sales for the 
year ended December 31 , 2024. The products that we may sell to any particular customer depend in large part on the s ize of that customer's capital expenditure budget in 
a particular year and on the results of competitive bids for major projects. Consequently, a customer that accounts for a significant portion of our sales in one fiscal year 
may represent au immaterial portion of our sales in subsequent fiscal years. The Joss of a significant customer, or a substantial decrease in a significant customer's 
orders, may have an adverse effect on our sales and revenue. In addition, we are subject to customer audit clauses in many of our multi-year contracts. If we are not able 
to provide the proper documentation or support for invoices per the contract tem1s, we may be subject to negotiated settlements with our major customers. 

If ll'e are unable to attract and retttill our team members or if we lose our key personnel, we may be unable to effectively operate and ma11age our business or 
contin11e bur g rowtl1. 

Our future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of ou~ team members and management team and our ability to attract, hire, 
train and retain team members for our workforce and qualified managerial, sales and marketing personnel. If job openings for qualified personnel exceed the available 
qualified labor pool in a particular location, we may experience difficulty in attracting and retaitting our workforce. We may also need to increase our offered 
compensation and, thus, increase our costs to attract and retain qualified team members. 

We rely on our sales and marketing teams to create itmovative ways to generate demand for the products we distribute. The loss or lltlavailability to us of any member 
of our management team or a key sales or marketing team member could have an adverse effect on us to the extent we are unable to timely find adequate replace;rnents. 
We face competition for these professionals from our competitors, our customers and other companies operating in our industry. We may be unsuccessful in attracting, 
hiring, training and retaining qualified personnel. 

Adverse /tea/tit e••ents, suclt as a pandemic, co11ld ad••ersely impact o11r b11Si11ess. 

From time to time, various diseases have spread across the globe such as COVID-19, SARS and the avian flu. If a disease spreads sufficiently to cause an epidemic or a 
pandemic, the ability to operate our business or the businesses of our suppliers, contractors or customers could be reduced due to illness of team members or local 
restrictions to combat the disease. In addition, our supply chain that spans 46 countries could be negatively impacted if our suppliers are unable to operate their 
business. Such au adverse health event could adversely impact our business. 

lnterrllptions in the proper ft~nctioning of 011r informmion systems C011ld dismpt opemtions a mi ca11Se increases in costs or decreases in re1•em1e. 

The proper functioning of our infom1ation systems is critical to the successful opertlliou of our business. However, our information systems are vulnerable to natural 
disasters, power losses, telecommunicatio n failures, cyber incidents and other problems. Most of our systems utilize software as a service or operate on third party 
"cloud" servers. Likewise, Company data is often stored on these servers. If critical infom1ation systems, whether operated by the Company or a contracted third party, 
fail or are otherwise unavailable, our ability to operate our business could be adversely affected. Our ability to iuteg.rate our systems with our customers' system s would 
also be significantly affected. We maintain infonnation systems controls designed to protect against, among other things, unauthorized program changes and 
unauthorized access to data on our information systems. If our infom1ation systems controls do not ftmction properly, we face increased risks of unexpected errors and 
unreliable financial data or theft of proprietary Company information. 

We are constantly upgrading and modifying our iufonnation systems and the related software and hardware. We are also implementing new systems and teclmology, 
including a new ERJ> system in the U.S., to support and g.tow our business and increase efficiencies. Finally, we must maintain a number of aging information systems for 
our Company to operate. A failure to properly upgrade, modify, implement or maintain these systems and technology can have an adverse effect on our Company. 

Tlte occurrence of cyber incide11ts, or a deficiency in our cybersecurity, could negatil•ely impact our business by e<msing a disruption to our operatio11s, a 

compromise or corr11ption of o11r conjitfemial information or damage to o11r Company's image or rep11tation, all of which could flegatively impact o11r fina·ncial 
results. 

A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of om information resources. More specifically , a cyber 
incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event that can include gaining unauthorized access to systems to dismpt operations, corrupt data or steal 
confidential information. As our reliance· on technology has increased, so have the risks posed. to our systems, both intemal and those we· have outsourced. Ou.r three 
primary risks that could directly result from the occurrence of a cyber incident include operational iutem1ption, damage to our Company' s reputation and image and 
private data exposure. We have implemented hardware and software solutions, processes, training and procedures to help mitigate this risk, but these measures, as well 
as our organization•s increased awareness of our risk of a cyber incident, may fail and do not g~uarantee that our financial results and operations will not be negatively 
impacted by such an incident. While we a lso have some insurance to protect against the financial damage that a cyber incident could cause, the insurance may not be 
adequate for every type of incident to protect against the financial damages that could occur. In some incidents, the Company may be required to shut off its computer 
systems, reboot them and reestablish its information from back up sources. In other incidents, the Company may be required under various laws to notify any third 
parties whose data lhas been compromised. These incidents can adversely affect us. 

Cyber incidents could include (among others) the following: 

• Computer v irus software that infects our computer systems to either allow third parties unauthorized access to private, confidential data or denies the Company 
access from its own information, often for the attacker's financial gain by demanding a ransom. 

• Theft of private information. An unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential supplier, customer or Company information or team member information 
could cause a theft or unwanted disclosure of data. 
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• E-mail or other forms of spooling or "phishing" whereby third parties attempt to trick or induce team members to provide private infom1ation, such as 
passwords, social security numbers or other identifying infonnation, to allow the third party to fraudulently attempt to invoice the Company, tricking team 
members into making a payment to an unauthorized p·arty or gain access to the Company's computer systems. 

• Intrusion into payment systems. The Company does not generally accept credit cards for payment as most of its customers are in dustrial and energy 
companies who provide payment through invoicing processes. Even so, a portion of our payment methods also subject us to potential fraud and theft by 
criminals, who are becoming increasingly more sophisticated, seeki ng to obtain unauthorized access to or exploit weaknesses that may exist in the payment 
systems . 

• Supplier or customer cyber incidents. Our suppliers and customers also rely upon computer information systems to operate their respective businesses. If any 
of them experience a cyber incident, this could adversely impact their operations. Suppliers could delay providing product to us for our distribution to our 
c ustomers. Customers, especially those who do business with us through electronic data interchanges, could be negatively impacted by cyber incidents 
applicable to them, which, could slow order processing from them or payments to us. 

• Cyber incidents applicable to out sourced information systems. We outsource the operations of a significant portion of our computer infom1ation systems to 
third party service providers, which store our information on hosted or cloud systems. Althougl1 we review their security precautions with them and auempt to 
hold them contractually respons ible for cyber incidents applicable to our information on their systems these vendors may not maintain adequate security to 
stop an incident, info1m us of an incident in a timely manner or perfonn as required in their agreements. 

e Supply chain attacks. These attacks occur when software that the Company utilizes is compromised without the Company's knowledge. Attackers may use this 
software to access our systems without the Company's knowledge or pennission to obtain data or impede Company operations. 

Customer credit risks could result i11 losses. 

Concentration of our customers in our vuious industry sectors may impact our overall exposure to credit risk as customers in a sector may be similarly affected by 
prolonged changes in economic and industry conditions. Further, laws in some jurisdictions in which we operate could make collection difficult or time consuming. In 
times when commodity prices are low, particularly in our PTI sector, our customers with higher debt levels may not have the ability to pay their debts. Other cus~omers 
may have specific issues regarding their ability to pay their indebtedness. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and do not generally require 
collateral in support of our trade receivables. While we maintain reserves for expected credit losses, these reserves may not be suflicient to meet write-offs of 
uncollectible receivables or that our losses from such receivables will be consistent with our expectations. 

We may be unable lo successfully execute or effectively i11tegrate mergers a11d acquisition s. 

From time to time, we may selectively pursue acquisitions, including large scale mergers and acquisitions, to continue to grow and increase profitability. However, 
mergers and acquisitions, particularly of a significant scale, involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including intense competition for suitable merger and acquisition 
targets, the potentia l unavailability of financial resources necessary to consummate mergers and acquisitions in the future, increased leverage due to additional debt 
fimmcing th<H m<~y b~ r~'luir~d 111 wmpl~t~" m~rg~r vr <tcqui~i tivn, dilutivn vf vur ~twkhvld~rs' n~t curr~nl bvvk Y<tlue p~r ~h<1r~ if we i~~~~e <tddilivn<~l li\lllity ~ti:lillritie~ 
to finance a merger or acquisition, difficulties in identifying suitable merger or acquisition targets or in completing any transactions identified on sufficiently favorable 
terms, assumption of undisclosed or unknown liabilities and the need to obtain regulatory or other govenunental approvals that may be necessary to complete mergers 
or acquisitions. In addition, any future mergers or acquisitions may entail significant transaction costs and risks associated with entry into new markets. 

Even when mergers or acquisitions are completed, integration of merged or acquired entities can involve significant difficulties, suoh as: 

• failure to achieve cost savings o•· other financial or operating objectives with respect to a merger or acquisition; 

• strain on the operational and managerial controls and procedures of our business, and the need to modify systems or to add management resources; 

• difficulties in the integration and retention of customers, suppliers or personnel and the integration and effective deployment of operations or technologies; 

• amortization of acquired assets, which would reduce future reported earnings; 

• possible adverse sh011-term effects on our cash flows or operating results; 

• diversion o f management's attention from the ongoing operations of our business; 

• integrating personnel with diverse backgrounds and organizational cultures; 

• coordinating sales and marketing functions; 

• failure to obtain and retain key p ersonnel of an acqui•·ed business; and 

• assumption of known or unknown material liabilities or regulatory non-compliance issues. 

Failure to manage these merger and acquisition risks could have an adverse effect on us. 

We lra11e a substantial amount of goodwill and other i11ta11gible assets recorded on our balatrce sheet, partly beca11se of mergers and acquisitions. Tire amortization 
of llcquired inta11gib/e assets will reduce our future reported earnings. Furthermore, if our goodwill or other inumgible assets become impaired, we mlly be 

required to recognize non-coslt cltorges tit at would reduce our income. 

As of December 31, 2024, we had $407 million of goodwill and other intangible assets recorded on our consolidated balance sheet. A substantial portion of these 
intangible assets results from prior transactions . The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets is assigned to 
goodwill. The amortization expense associated with our identifiable intangible assets will have a negative effect on our future reported earnings. Many other companies, 
including many of o ur competitors, may not have the significant acquired intangible assets that we have because they may not have participated in mergers or 
acquisitions similar to ours. Thus, the amortization of identifiable intangible assets may not negatively affect their reported earnings to the same degree as ours . 

Additionally, under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, goodwill and certain other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but must be rev iewed 
for possible impairment annually, or more often in certain circumstances where events indicate that the asset values are not recoverable. These reviews could result in an 
earnings charge for impairment, which would reduce our net income even though there would be no impact on our underlying cash n ow. 
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We face risks associated with conducti11g busi11ess i11 markets outside of North America. 

We currently conduct substantial business in countries outside of North America, and we are subject to geopolitical events and risks related to international 
instability. We could be materially and adversely affected by economic, legal, political and regulatory developments in the countries in which we do business in the 
future or in which we expand our business, particularly those countries which have historically experienced a high degree of political or economic instability. Examples of 
risks inherent in such non-North American activities include: 

• changes in the political and economic conditions in the countries in which we operate, including civil uprisings, terrorist acts, wars, civil insurrections and 
armed uprisings; 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; 

changes in tariffs and duties; 

the adoption of foreign or domestic laws limiting exports to or imports from certain foreign countries; 

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the value of the U.S. dollar; 

restrictions on repatriation of eamings; 

expropriation of property without fair compensation; 

governmental actions that result in the deprivation of contract or proprietary rights; and 

the acceptance of business practices which are not consistent with or are antithetical to prevailing business practices we are accustomed to in North America 
including export compliance and anti-bribery practices and govemmental sanctions. 

If we begin doing business in a foreign country in which we do not presently operate, we may also face difficulties in operations and diversion of management time in 
connection with establishing our business there. 

Risks Related to Ou r Capital Structure 

Our indebtedness may affect our ttbility .to operate our busi11ess, a11d tit is could ltave a material adverse effect on us. 

We have now and will likely continue to have indebtedness. As ofDec,ntber3 1, 2024, we had total debt outstanding of$387 miUion and excess availability of$460 
million under our credit facilities. We may incur significant additional indebtedness in the futtme. If new indebtedness is added to our current indebtedness, the r isks 
described below could increase. Our significant level of indebtedness could have important consequences, such as: 

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund our working capital, acquisitions, expenditures, debt service requirements or other general corporate 
purposes; 

• limiting our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business because we must dedicate a su.bstantial portion of these funds to service debt; 

• limiting our ability to compete with other companies who are not as highly leveraged; 

• subjecting us to restrictive financial and operating covenants in the agreements governing our and our subsidiaries' long-term indebtedness; 

• exposing u s to potential events of default (if not cured or waived) under financial and operating covenants contained in our or our subsidiaries' debt 
instruments that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition; 

• increasing our vulnerability to a downtum in general economic conditions or in pricing of our products; and 

• limiting our ability to react to changing market condit·ions in our industry and in our cu stomers' industries. 

O ur ability to make scheduled debt payments, to refinance our obligations with respect to our indebtedness and to fund capital and non-capital expenditures necessary 
to maintain the condition of our operating assets, properties and systems software, as well as to provide capacity for the growth of our business, depends on our 
financial and operating performance. Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, and future borrowings may not be available to us under our 
credit faci lities in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may seek to sell assets to fund our liquidity needs 
but may not be able to do so. We may also need to refinance an or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We may not be able to refinance any of our 
indebtedness on cotmnercially reasonable ternts or at all. 

In addition, we are and will be subject to covenants contained in agreements governing our present and future indebtedness. These covenants include and will likely 
include restrictions o n operations, business and capital flexibility. 

Any delimits under our credit facilities, including our global asset-based lending facility ("Global ABL Facility"), our senior secured term loan B ("Tern1 Loan") or our 
other debt could trigger cross defaults under other or future credit agreements and may permit acceleration of our other indebtedness. If our indebtedness is accelerated, 
we catmot be certain that we will have suilicient funds available to pay the accelertlled indebtedness or that we will have the ability to refinance the accelerated 
indebtedness on terms favorable to us or at all. For a description of our credit facilities and indebtedness, sec " Item 7- Management 's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations- Liquidity and Capital Resources" . 

We are a Ito/ding compa11y a11d depend upo11 our subsidiaries far our casll flow. 

We are a holding company. Our subsidia~ies conduct all of our operations and own substantially all of our assets. Consequently, our parent company's cash flow and its 
ability to meet its obligations or to pay dividends or make other distributions in the fttture will depend upon the cash flow of our subsidiaries and our subsidiaries' 
payment of funds to MRC Global lnc. in the fonn of dividends, tax sharing payments or otherwise. 
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The ability of our subsidiaries to make any payments to us will depend on their earnings, the terms of their current and future indebtedness, tax considerations and legal 
and contractual restrictions on the ability to make distributions. In particular, our subsidiaries' credit facilities currently impose limitations on the ability of our 
subsidiaries to make distributions to us and consequently our ability to pay dividends to our sto ckholders. Subject to limitations in our credit facilities, our subs idiaries 
may also enter into additional agreements that contain covenants prohibiting them from distributing or advancing funds or transferring assets to us under certain 
circumstances, including to pay dividends. 

Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities. Any rig ht that we have to receive any assets of or distributio ns from any of our subsidiaries upon the 
bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization, or to real ize proceeds from the sale of the ir assets, will be junior to the claims of that subsidiary' s creditors, 
including trade creditors and holders of debt that the subsidiary issued. 

Changes in our credit profile may affect our relationship with our suppliers, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity. 

Changes in our credit profile may affect the way our suppliers view our ability to make payments and may induce them to shorten the payment terms of their invoices if 
they perceive our indebtedness to be high. Given the large dollar amounts and volume of our purchases from suppliers, a change in payment terms may have a material 
adverse effect on our liquidity and our ability to make payments to our suppliers and, consequently, may have a material adverse effect on us. 

We may need additional capital in tltefuture, and it may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. 

We may require more capital in the future to: 

• fund our operations; 

• finance investments in equipment and infrastructure needed to maintain and expand our distribution capabi~ities; 

• enhance and expand the range of products we offer; a nd 

• respond to potential strategic opportunities, such as investments, acquisitions and international expansion. 

Additional financing may not be available· on terms favorable to us, or at all. The terms of available financing may place limits on our financial and operating flexi-bility. If 
adequate funds arc not available on acceptable temts, we may be forced to reduce our operations or delay, limit or ab andon expansion opporttmities. Moreover, even if 
we are able to continue our operations, the failure to obtain additional financing could reduce our competitiveness. 

Our business and op erations could be negotil•ely offected by sht~reholder (ICtivism, which C01tld cause us to incur signijicmrt expenses, hinder execution of oar 
business strategy and impact our share price. 

We value constructive input from investors and resularly ensase in dialos ue with our shareholders resardins stratesy and perfonnance. ln recent years, shareholder 
activism involving corporate governance, fiduciary duties of directors and officers, strategic direction and operations has become increasingly prevalent. 

In the event of such shareholder activism -particularly with respect to matters that our Board, in exercising its fiduciary duties, disagrees with, or has determined not to 
pursue- our business could be adversely affected because responding to activist shareholders actions can be costly and time-consuming, disruptive to our operations 
and divert the attention of management, our Hoard :md our team memher.s. Our ahility ro execute our ~trategic plan could al~o he impaired af'; a result. Such an activist 

campaign could require us to incur substantial legal, public relations and other advisory fees and proxy solicitation expenses. Further, we may become subject to, or we 
may initiate, litigation as a result of proposals by activist shareholders or matters relating thereto, which could be a further distraction to our Board and management and 
could require us to incur significant additional costs. In additio n, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction, strategy or leadership created as a consequence of 
activist shareholders may result in the loss of potential business opportunities, hann our ability to attract new or retain existing investors, lienders, customers, directors, 
team members, collaborators or other partners, and the market price of our ordinary shares could also experience periods of increased volatility as a result. 

Legal and Liability Risks 

We may not /rave adequate insurance for potential liabilities, including liabilities arising from litigation. 

In the ordinary course of business, we have, and in the future, may become the subject of various claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings seeking damages or 
other remedies conceming our commercial operations, the products we distribute, team members and other matters, including potential claims by individuals alleging 
exposure to hazardous materials as a result of the products we distribute or our operations. The products we distribute are sold primarily for use in the energy, industrial 
and gas utility sectors, which arc subject to inherent risks that could result in death, personal injury, property damage, pollution, release of hazardous substances or loss 
o f production. In addition, defects in the products we distribute could result in death, personal injury, property damage, pollution, release o f hazardous substances or 
damage to equipment and facilities. Actual or claimed defects in the products we distribute may give rise to claims against us for losses and expose us to claims for 
damages. 

We maintain insura·nce to cover certain o f our potential losses, and we are subject to various self-insured retentions, deductibles and caps under our insurance. It is 
possible, however, that judgments could be rendered against u s in cases in which we would be uninsured and beyond the amounts of insurance we have or beyond the 
amounts that we currently have reserved or anticipate incurring for these matters. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of significant size, could have a 
material adverse effect on us. Furthem1ore, we may not be able to continue to obtain insurance on commercially reasonable terms in the future, and we may incur losses 
from interruption of our business that exceed our insurance coverage. Even in cases where we maintain insurance coverage, our insurers may raise various objections 
and exceptions to coverage that could make uncertain the timing and amount of any possible insurance recovery. Finally, while we may have insurance coverage, we 
cannot guarantee that the insurance carrier will have the financ1al wherewithal to pay a claim otherwise covered by insurance, and as a result we may be responsible for 
any such claims. 
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/)ue to our position as a distributor, we are subject to persmwl injury, product liability and em•iromnental claims im•olving allegedly defecti••e products. 

O ur customers use certain of the products we distribute in potentially hazardous applications that can result in personal injury, product liability and environmental 
claims. A catastrophic occurrence at a location where end users use the products we distribute may result in us being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting 
potentially large claims, even though we did not manufacture the products . Applicable law may render us liable for damages without regard to negligence or fault. In 
particular, certain envirorunental laws provide for joint and several and strict liability for remediation of spills and releases of hazardous su"bstances. Certain of these 
risks are reduced by the fact that we are a distributor of products that third-party manufacturers produce, and, thus, ir1 certain circumstances, we may have third-party 
warranty or other claims against the manufacturer of products alleged to have been defective. However, there is no assurance that these claims could fully protect us or 
that the manufacturer would be able financially to provide protection. There is no assurance that our insurance coverage will cover or be adequate to cover the 
underlying claims. Our insurance does not provide coverage for all liabilities (including, among others, liability for certain events involving pollution or other 
environmental claims). Our insurance does not cover damages from breach of contract by us or based on alleged fraud or deceptive trade practices. 

We are a defetldant in asbestos-related lawsuits. Exposure to these and any future lawsuits cmtld have a material ad1•erse effect on us. 

We arc a defendant in lawsuits involving approximately 1,060 claims, arising from exposure to ~osbestos-containing materials included in products that we arc alleged to 
have distributed. Each claim involves allegations of exposure to asbestos-containing materials by a single individual, his or her spouse or family members. The 
complaints in these lawsuits typically name many other defendants. In the majority of these lawsuits, little or no information is known regarding the nature of the 
plaintiffs' alleged injuries or their connection with the products we distributed. The potential liability associated with asbestos claims is subject to many uncertainties, 
including negative trends with respect to settlement payments, dismissal rates and the types of medical conditions alleged in pending or future claims, negative 
developments in the claims pending against us, the current or f11ture insolvency of co-defendants, adverse changes in relevant laws or the interpretation of those laws 
and the extent to which insurance will be available to pay for defense costs, judgments or settle ments. In addition, applicable insurance policies are subject to overall 
caps on limits, which coverage may exhaust the amount available from insurers under those litnits. In those cases, the Company is seeking indemnity payments from 
responsive excess insurance policies, but other insurers may not be solvent or may not make payments under the policies without contesting their liability. Further, while 
we anticipate that additional claims will be filed against us in the f11ture, we are unable to predict with any certainty the number, timing and magnitude of future c.laims. 
Therefore, pending or future asbestos litigation may ultimately have a material adverse effect on us. See "Item 7- Managcmcnt's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Resu Its of Operations-Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies- Legal Proceedings" and " Item 3- Legal Proceedings" for more 
infonnation. 

We are subject to U.S. and other anti-co.rruption laws, trade controls, economic sanctions, and similar laws and regulations, including those in the jurisdictions 
where we operate. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could subject u s to ci••il, criminal and administrative penalties and harm our reputation. 

Doing business on a worldwide basis requires us to comply wi th the laws and regulations of the U.S. government and various foreign jurisdictions. These laws and 
regulations place restrictions on our operations, trade practices, partners and investment decisions. In particular, our operations are subject to U.S. and foreign a nti­
~vrmptivn, ~nli-bribc;ry ~ml tntdc; wnlrvl htw~ ilnd r<:guhllivn~. ~u~h "~the; Fvrc;ign Cvrrupt Pmcti~c;~ A~t ('"FCPA"), expvrt wntrvl~ ilnd c;cvnvmi~ ~•m~tivn~ pr<.~gr<tm~, 
including those administered by the U.S. Treasury Department' s Office of Foreign Assets ContJ·ol ("OFAC"). As a result of doing business in foreign countries and with 
foreign partners, we are exposed to a heightened risk of violating anti-corruption, anti -bribery and trade control Jaws and sanctions regulations. 

The FCPA prohibits us from providing anything of value to foreign officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business or securing any improper business 
advantage. It also requires us to keep books nnd records that accurately and fairly reflect the Company's transactions. As part of our business, we may den! with state­
owned business enterprises, the team members of which are considered foreign officials for purposes of the FCPA. In addition, the provisio ns of the United Kingdom 
Bribery Act and other Jaws extend beyond bribery of foreign public officials and also apply to transactions with individuals that a government does not employ. 

Economic sanctions programs restrict our business dealings with certain sanctioned countries, persons and entities. In addition, because we act as a distributor, we face 
the risk that our cus-tomers might further distribute our products to a sanctioned person or entity, or an ultimate end-user in a sanctioned country, which might subject 
us to an investigation concerning compliance with OFAC or other sanctions regulations. 

Violations of anti-comtption and trade control laws and sanctions regulations are punishable by civil penalties, including fines, denial of export privileges, injunctions, 
asset seizures, debarment from government contracts and revocations or restrictions of licenses, as well as criminal fines and imprisonment. Such a violation could have 
a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, various state and municipal governments, universities 
and other investors maintain prohibitions or restrictions on investments in companies that do business with sanctioned countries, persons and entities, which could 
adversely affect the market for our conunon stock and other securities. 

We are exposed to risks relating to evahwtions of controls required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (tlte "Sarbanes-·Oxley Acf'), tmd we have 
identified a materia l weakness in tlte operating effectil•eness of our intenwl control over financial reporting relllted to inventory that, if not remediated, could 
cause us to suffer ll loss of confidence i" our financial reporting, wlticlt could harm our business <md result in a decline in the price of.our common stock. 

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to annually evaluate our internal controls systems over financial reporting. This is not a static process as we may 
change our processes each year or acquire new companies that have different controls than our existing controls. Upon completion of this process each year, we may 
identifY control deficiencies of varying degrees of severity under applicable U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") rules and regulations that remain 
unremediated. We are required to report, among other things, control deficiencies that constitute a "material weakness" or changes in internal controls that, or that are 
reasonably likely to, materially affect internal controls over financial reporting. A "material weakness" is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in 
mtcmal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the ammal or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

We have identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting with respect to the operating effectiveness of the Company's inventory cycle 
count control of our North American inventory for the year ended December 3 I, 2024. The material weakness did not result in any material misstatements to the 
Company's consolidated financial statements, and we are remediating the material weakness. See "Item 9A- Controls and Procedures" and "Management's Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting." 

A failure to maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting or to remediate any deficiencies in those controls, including the material weakness described 
above, could cause 11s to sufl'er a Joss ofeonfidence in the relia"bility of our financial statements. Any loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements or 
other negative reaction to our failure to develop timely or adeq[Uate disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting could result in a 
decline in the price of our common stock. In addition, if we fail to maintain adequate controls or remedy any material weakness, our financial statements may be 
inaccurate, we may be required to restate our financial statements for prior periods, we may be unable to timely deliver accurate financial statements to our lenders under 
our Term Loan and asset-based lending facilities, which could resnlt in an event of default, and we may face restricted access to the capitaE markets. 

15 



Table of Contents 

Compliance with fmd changes in laws a11d regulations in the countries in which we operate could have a significant financial impact and affect how and where we 
conduct our operations. 

Excluding Canada, we have operations in the U.S. and in 14 other countries. Expected and unexpected changes in the business and legal environments in the countries 
in which we operate can impact us. Compliance with and changes in laws, regulations and other legal and business issues could impact our ability to manage our costs 
and to meet our eamings goals. Compliance related matters could also limit our ability to do business in certain countries. Changes tbat could have a significant cost to 
us include new legislation, new regulations, or a differing interpretation of existing laws and regulations, changes in tax law or tax rates, the unfavorable resolution of tax 
assessments or audits by various taxing authorities, changes in trade and other treaties that lead to differing tariffs and trade rules, the exp ansion of currency exchange 
controls, export controls or additional restrictions on doing business in countries subject to sanctions in which we operate or intend to operate. 

ITEM lB. UJ\'RESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

Not applicable. 

ITEM IC. CYBERSECURrrv 

Risk management and strategy 

MRC Global develops, implements and maintains cybersecurity measures to safeguard our data and IT systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability 
of our data. 

Managing Material Risks & Integrated Overall Risk Management 
We have integrated cybersecurity risk management into our broader risk management framework to promote a company-wide culture of cybersecurity risk 
management. This integration incorporates cybersecurity considerations as an integral part of o ur decision-making processes at every level within our Company. In 
addition, our Company has a cross-functional approach to addressing cybersecurity risk, with operations, legal, risk, finance, IT, human resources and corporate audit 
functions engaged ill various aspects of the management of cybersecurity risks. Our cybersecurity risk management is global, with technical operations coverage and 
visibility across our worldwide operations. In 2023, we leveraged the National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST") standard to update our IT policies. In 
2024, we achieved our goal to be aligned with NIST 800.53 (Revision 5). We have established 1L Cybersecuriry Committee which is tasked with understanding and 
mitigating information security risks by completing regular reviews and approvals of our infonnation security program and addressing any cybersecurity risks in 
alignment with our ibusiness objectives and operational needs. The Cybersecurity Committee meets periodically as needed and includes ou.r chief executive officer 
("CEO"), chief information security officer ("CISO"), chief information officer ("CIO"), chief financial officer ("CFO") and our general counsel, who has earned a CERT 
certificate in cybersecurity from Carnegie Mellon and began his career as a computer programmer/analyst. All of the Cybersecurity Committee members are also members 
of our Risk Management Committee. 

Engage Third Parries on Risk Management 
Recognizing the complexity and evolving nature of cybersecuri ty threats, we engage with a range of external experts, including cybcrsecurity assessors, consultants and 
auditors in evaluatiog and testing our risk management systems. These relationships enable us to leverage specialized knowledge and insights, allowing us to update 
our cybersecurity strategies and processes as new technologies, threats and environments evolve. Our collaboration with these third parties includes regular audits, 
threat assessments and consultation on security enhancements. 

Oversight of Third Parry Risk 
Because we are aware of the risks associated with third-party service providers, we have processes to monitor or oversee our third-party providers as they manage these 
risks. We conduct thorough security assessments of all third-party providers before engagement and maintain ongoing monitoring to determine whether our third-party 
providers continue to meet our cybersecurity standards and risk profile. Our Company has a team of information security team members and vendors who monitor and 
maintain oversight of third parties, which includes quarterly assessments by our head of information security. This approach is designed to mitigate risks related to data 
breaches or other security incidents originating from third parties. 

Risks ji-om Cybersecurity Threats 
MRC Global faces risks from cybersecurity threats that could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or 
reputation. MRC Global has experienced, and will continue to experience, cyber incidents in the nom1al course of its business. However, prior cybersecurity incidents 
have not had a material adverse effect on MRC Global's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. See "Risk Factors- The occurrence of cyber incidents, or 
a deficiency in our cybersecurity, could negatively impact our business by causing a dismption to our operations, a compromise or com1ption of our confidential 
information or damage to onr Company's image or reputation, all of which could negatively impact our financial results." 

Governance 

Board of Directors Oversight 
As part of our board of director's (our "Board's") role as independent oversight of the key risks facing our Company, the Board devotes regular and thorough auention 
to our data, IT systems and their continuing development (including the Company's e-conunerce strategy and its implementation) and protection of our data and IT 
system•. This oversight includes reviews of business resilience. compliance, cybersecurity and information security risk. Our Board is acutely aware of the critical nature 
of managing risks associated with cybersecurity threats. Our Board has established oversight mechanisms to provide governance in managing risks associated with 
cybersecurity threats bec.ause we recognize the significance of these threats to our operational integrity and stakeholder confidence. 

The Board oversees the Company's approach to cybersecurity staffing, policies, processes and practices to gauge and address the risks associated with our data and IT 
systems' protection. Our Board has tasked its Governance & Sustainability Committee with leading and assisting the full Board in its oversight of the Company's efforts 
to protect its data and IT systems. Our Chair of the Governance & Sustainability Committee has extensive public company leadership experience in the refining and 
pipeline transportation industries. He also has served on other company boards, providing him with deep governance experience. Our Board and Governance & 
Sustainabiliry Conunittee each receive reg ular quarterly presentations and reports throughout the year from members of the Cybersecurity Committee on our 
cybersecurity threats, audits and exercises to detern1ine the sufficiency of defenses against cybersecurity threats, training and resilience and metrics. The presentations 
and reports also include regulatory developments, policies and practices and information on security resources and organization. 
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Managemenr's Role Managing Risk 
Our CISO and CIO p lay a pivotal role in infonning and providing comprehensive briefings on cybersecurity risks to the Governance & Sustainability Commit1ee_ Each 
quarter, the Governance & Sustainability Committee receives a ,-eport from a member of the Cybersecurity Conmtittee. including reports from our head of inforntation 
security, providing infomtation on a broad range of topics, including: 

• Current cybersecurity and information security landscape and emerging threats 

• Status of ongoing cybersecurity initiatives and strateg ies including protective measures and controls 

• Table top exercises results 

• Penetration testing and phishing test results 

• Incident reports and learnings from any cybersecurity events 

• Compliance wi th regulatory requirements and industry standards 
• Key metrics for both device security and data security 

In addition to our scheduled meetings, the Governance & Sustainability Committee and Cybersecurity Committee members maintain an ongoing dialogue regarding 
emerging or potential cybersecurity risks_ Together, they receive updates on any significant developments in the cybersecurity domain and report the same to our Board 
to allow its oversight to be proactive and responsive. The Governance & Sustainability Committee's active involvement allows cybersecurity considerations to be 
integrated into the broader strategic objectives of MRC Global. The Governance & Sustainability Committee conducts periodic reviews of the 
Company's cybersecurity posture and the effectiveness of its risk management strategies. This review helps in identifying areas for improvement and ensuring fhe 
alignment of cybersecurity efforts with the overall risk management framework. 

Risk Management Personnel 
Primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing our cybersecurity risks rests with our CJSO, who reports to our CJO, who in turn reports to our CFO. All 
three are members o fthe Cybersecurity Committee. With over 15 years of experience in the tleld of cybersecurity, our CJSO provides the Company with expertise in this 
role. His background includes extensive experience as a prior enterprise head of infonnation security for a large institution. His in-depth knowledge and experien ce are 
instrumental in developing and executing our cybersecurity strategies. Our CISO oversees our cybersecurity governance programs, phishing and penetration tests and 
tabletop exercises, our compliance with standards, remediates known risks, responds to cyber threats and attempted attacks and leads our team member training 
program. 

Moni/or Cybersecuriry Jncidenrs 
Our CISO is continually informed about the latest developments in cybersecurity, including potential threats and evolving risk management techniques. This ongoing 
knowledge acquisition is crucial for the effective prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. Our CJSO implements and oversees 
processes for the regular monitoring of our infomu1tion systems. This includes the deployment of advanced security measures and regular system audits to identify 
potential vulnerabilities_ In the event of a cybersecurity incident, the head of infonnation securi1y is equipped with a well-defined incident response plan. This plan 
includes immediate actions to mitigate the impact and long-temt strategies for remediation and prevention of future incidents. 

Reporting ro Board of Directors 
Our CJSO regularly infomts our CFO, general counsel and CEO of all aspects related to cybersecurity risks and incid ents. Through these reports, the highest levels of 
management are kept abreast of the cybersecurity posture and potential risks facing the Company. Furthermore, material cybersecurity incidents, 
significant cybersecuriry matters and strategic risk management decisions are escalated to our Board and its Governance & Sustainability and Audit Conunittees to allow 
them to have oversight and provide g11idance on critical cybersecurity issues. 

ITEM2. PROPERTIES 

The Company operates a hub and spoke model that includes six distribution centers in the U.S., 78 service center locations, which have inventory and 11 valve 
engineering centers, which are housed in distribution or service centers. We own less than 3% of our service center locations as we primarily lease these facilities . All of 
our distribution centers are leased. 

Outside the U.S. and excluding Canada, we operate through a network of25 service center loca1ions located throughout Europe, Asia, Australasia and the Middle East, 
and seven distribution centers in the United Kingdom, Norway , Singapore, the Netherlands, the United Arab Emirates and Australia. Fifteen valve engineering centers 
are housed within our distribution centers and service center locations_ We own our Brussels location, and the remait1der o f our locations are leased. 

O ur Company maintains its principal executive office at 130 I McKinney Street, Suite 2300, Houston, Texas, 770 I 0 and also maintains corporate offices in Char leston, 
West Virginia and La Porte, Texas. TI1ese locations have corporate functions such as executive management, accounting, human resources, legal, marketing, supply 
chain management, business development and information technology. 

ITEMJ. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time, we have been subject -to various claims and involved in legal proceedings incidental to the nature of our businesses. We maintain insurance coverage 
to reduce financial dsk associated with certain of these claims a nd proceedings. It is not possible to predict the outcome of these claims an.d proceedings. However, in 
our opinion, there a·re no pending legal proceedings that upon resolution are likely to have a material effect on our bu siness, financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows_ 

Also, from time to t ime, in the ordinary course of our business, our customers may claim that the products that we distribute are either defective or require repair or 
replacement under warranties that either we or the manufacru.rer may provide to the customer. ' l11ese proceedings are, in the opinion of management, ordinary and 
routine matters incidental to our norn1al business. Our purchase orders with our suppliers generally require the manufacturer to indemnify us against any product 
liability claims, leaving the manufacrurer ultimately responsible for these claims. In many cases, state, provincial or foreign law provides protection to distributors for 
these sorts of claims, shifting the responsibility to the manufac1Urer. In some cases, we could be required to repair or replace the products for the benefit of our customer 
and seek our recovery from the manufac1Urer for our expense. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these claims and proceedings are not expected 
to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows_ 

For information regarding asbestos cases in which we are a defendant and other claims and proceedings, sec " Item 7- Managcment 's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies-Legal Proceedings" and " Note IS-Commitments a nd 
Contingencies" to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. 
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ITEM4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 

EXECUTIVEOFFICERSOFlHEREGISTRAJ'\'T 

The name, age, period of service and the t itle of each of our executive officers as of March 14, 2025, are listed below. 

Robert J. Sa/riel, Jr., age 62, has served as our president and CEO and a member of our board of directors since March 202 I. Prior to this, he served as president and 
CEO of Key Energy Services from 2018 to 2019 and of Atwood Oceanics from 2009 to 2017. Mr. Sa !tiel held positions of increasing leadership in strategy, operations and 
marketing at Transocean from 2003 to 2009. Mr. Salticl' s prior experience includes positions at Nabors Industries, Enron Corp., McKinsey & Co. and ExxonMobil. Mr. 
Sa !tiel received a B.S. in chemical engineering from Princeton University in 1985 (magna cum laude) and an MBA from Northwestern University in 1990. 

Kelly Youngblood, age 59, has served as our executive vice president and chief financial officer since March 2020 and executive vice president since November 2019. 
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Youngblood served as execut ive vice president and chief financial officer of BJ Services from December 2017 to November 20 I 9 and 
prior to that was the senior vice president and chief financial officer at Diamond Offshore Drilling, Inc. from 2016 to 2017. He has also held a variety of finance and 
accounting positions of increasing responsibility at Halliburton, including vice president of investor relations. Mr. Youngblood is a Certified Public Accounta nt and 
received a B.A. in Accounting from Cameron University. 

Daniel J. Churay, age 62, has served as o ur executive vice president - corporate affairs, general counsel, and corporate secretary since Ma.y 2012. In his current role, 
Mr. Churay manages the Company's legal, risk and compliance, external and government affairs and certain shared services functions. He also acts as corporate 
secretary to the Board. Mr. Churay joined the Company in August 20 ll as executive vice president and general counsel, and he served as our chief human resources 
officer from 2012 until 2021. Mr. Churay's prior experience includes positions at Rex Energy, Yellow Corporation, Baker Hughes and Norton Rose Fulbright. Mr. Churay 
received a bachelor's degree in economics from the University of Texas and a juris doctorate from the University of Houston Law Center. 

Grant Bales, age 53, is our senior vice president of North America operations and e-commerce since July 2021. Befot·e that he served as senior vice president of strategy, 
corporate development and e-commerce since April 2020. Prior to that he served as senior vice president of operations, International and Canada, and operation al 
excellence. Prior to January 2019, Mr. Bates was our senior vice president and chief infonnation officer since April 2016. Mr. Bates previously led our Canada region 
since March 2014 and prior to that served in various roles with the Company and one of its predecessors. Mr. Bates h.olds a B. E. in mechanical engineering from the 
University of Newcastle, a graduate diploma in management and a Master of Business Administration from Deakin University. 

Shwe/a Kurvey-Mishra, age 45, serves as our senior vice president and chief human resources ollicer since January 2023. Prior to joining M RC Global, Ms. Kurvey­
Mishra was the vice president - organization and talent development from 2020 until2022 and senior people director from 2019 to 2020 at Waste Management, 
an environmental services company. Prior to this she served as vice president of human resources of Silver Eagle Distributors from 2017 to 2019. Ms. Kurvey-Mishra 
previously held various senior manageme nt positions including director of diversity and inclusion at Illinois Tool Works. She holds a bachelor's degree in Commerce 
(Business) from the University ofMumbai in India and earned her Masters in Organizational Communication and Masters in Human Resources and Labor Relations from 
Michigan State University. 

Jack McCarthy, age 59, has served as our senior vice president of supply chain management, quality and technical sales since July 2020. l-Ie leads an international team 
of product experts, supply chain professionals and inventory specialists, and is responsible for the management of the global PVF supply chain. Jack has held a variety 
of leadership roles in his career at MRC Global including vario us supply chain vice president positions focused on carbon steel, pipe fittings and flanges and valves 
from 2011 until 2020. Prior to joining MRC Global with its acquisition of LaBarge Pipe and Steel, he held roles in business development, saEes and sales management in 
the industrial distribution industry. Mr. M!cCarthy is a graduate of the University of Illinois at U rbana-Champaign and is a former vice president and board member of the 
National Association of Steel Pipe Distributors. 

Emily Shields, age 49, has served as our senior vice president of sustainability and assistant general counsel since June 2022. She served as vice president -
ESG, assistant general counsel and compliance officer from 202 1 until 2022, as assistant general counsel and compliance officer from 2020 until 2022 and as senior 
counsel from 2013 until 2020. Prior to joining MRC Global in 2013, Ms. Shields practiced litigation at the law finn of Morgan Lewis & Bockius L.L.P. She holds a 
bachelor's degree in speech communication from Texas A&M University and received her juris doctorate from South Texas College ofUnv. 

Sreve Smirh, age 57, has served as our senior vice president of international operations since January 2022. Prior to that he served as vice president of Europe, Middle 
East and Africa from 2018 until 2022 and has held multiple sales and operations leadership roles at MRC Global and one of its predecessors, Transmark. 

Gillian Anderson, age 39, has served as our vice president and chief accounting officer since Ju ly 202 1. Prior to that role, she held various positions with Emst & Young 
LLP, including audit senior manager, from 2007 until 2021. Ms. Anderson is a Certified Public Accmmtant and a cha~tered accountant through the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Scotland. She holds a Master in Arts in accountancy and finance (with honors) from the University of Aberdeen (Scotland). 
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PARHI 

ITEMS. MARKEr FOR THE REGISTRAI'IIT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA1ED STOCKHOW ER MAT1ERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURI11ES 

As of March 7, 2025, there were 101 holders of record of the Company's common stock. 

The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "MRC". 

Our Board has not declared any dividends on common stock during 2024 or 2023 and currently has no intention to declare any dividends on common stock. 

The Company's Global ABL Facility and Tenn Loan restrict our ability to declare cash dividends under certain circumstances. Any future dividends declared would be at 
the discretion of our Board and would depend on our financial condition, results of operations, cash nows, contractual obligations, the terms of our financing 
agreements at the time a dividend is considered, and other rele-vant factors . 

Issuer Purchases <>f Securities 

In January 2025, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a new $125 million share repurchase program, which expires on January 2, 2028. Under the repurchase 
program, the Company may purchase its outstanding common shares through various means, including open market transactions, block purchases, privately negotiated 
transactions or othenvise in accordance w1th applicable federal securities laws, including Rule IOb-18 and Rule I0b5- l of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. The prog~am may be modified, discontinued or suspended at any time without prior notice. 

PERFOR!VIA!\ICE GRAPH 

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock to the S&P 500 Index and the VanEck Oil Services Exchange-Traded Fu.nd 
("OIH"). The total shareholder return assumes $100 invested on December 31,2019, in MRC Global Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the VanEck Oil Services Exchange-Traded 
Fund. It also assumes reinvestment o f all dividends. The result s shown in the graph below are not necessarily indicative of future perfom1ance. 
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This information shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be " filed" with the SEC or S\lbject to Regulation 14A (17-CFR 240.14a-l-240.14a-104), other than as 
provided in Item 20 l (e) of Regulation S-K, or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act {15 U.S. C. 78r). 

ITEM6. SELECIED FINANCIAL DATA 

Reserved. 
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND Al'IJALYSIS OF FINAI'IJCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

You should read !he following discussion and analysis of ourfinancial condilion and resulls of opera/ions in conjllnclion wilh ourfinancial s/a/emems and rela1ed 
noles included elsewhere in I his reporl. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements !hat involve risks, uncerlainlies and assumplions. Our 
actual results may differ materially fi'om !hose amicipared in rhesefonvard-looking statements as a result of a number offaclors, including, bul nor limited to, those 
set forth under "Caurion01y Note Regarding F01ward-Looking S/a/ements" and "llem fA- Risk Fac/ors" and elsewhere in !his reporl. 

C autionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking S tatements 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (as well as other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K) contain 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27 A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21 E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). forward-looking statements include those preceded by, followed by or including the words "will", "expect", 
uintended,, '~anticipated", "believe", "projectn, Hforecast", "propose", "plan'', ''estilnate'', "enable", and similar expressions, including, for example, statements about 
our business strategy, our industry, our future profitability, growth in the industry sectors we serve, our expectations, beliefs, plans, strategies, objectives, prospects 
and assumptions, and estimates and projections of future activity and trends in the energy, indu strial and gas utilities industry. These forward-looking statements are 
not guarantees of fu ture perfonnance. These statements are ba:sed on management 's expectations that involve a number of business risks and uncertainties, any of 
which could cause a ctual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, most of which arc difficult to predict and many of which arc beyond our control, including the factors described under 
" Item I A. Risk Factors," that may cause our actual results and perfonnance to be materially different from any n1ture results or perfonnance expressed or implied by 
these forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties. include, among other things: 

• decreases in capital and other expenditure levels in the industries that we serve; 
• U .S. and international general economic conditions; 
• global geopolitical events; 
• decreases in oil and natural gas prices; 
• unexpected supply shortages; 
• loss of third-party transportation providers; 
• cost increases by our suppliers and transportation providers; 
• increases io steel prices, which we may be unable to pass along to our customers which could significantly lower our profit; 
• our lack of long-term contracts w ith most of our suppliers; 
• suppliers' price reductions of products that we sell, which could cause the value of ourr inventory to decline; 
• decreases in steel prices, which could significantly lower our profit; 
• an increase in the price of goods sold if tariffs are imposed or a decline in demand for certain of the products we distribute if tarifls and duties on these products 

are lifted; 
• holding more inventory than ean be sold in a eonm1ereial time frame; 
• significant substitution of renewables and low-carbon fuels for oil and gas, impacting demand for our products; 
• risks related to adverse weather events or natural disasters; 
• environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and the interpretation or implem entation thereof; 
• changes in our customer and product mix; 
• the risk that manufacturers of the products we distribute will sell a substantial amount of goods directly to end users in the industry sectors we serve; 
• failure to operate our business in an efficient or optimized manner; 
• our ability to compete successfuuty with other companies in our industry 
• our lack of long-term contracts w ith many of our customers and our lack of contracts with customers that require minimum purcha.se volumes; 
• inability to attract and retain our team members or the potential loss of key personnel; 
• adverse health events, such as a pandemic; 
• in tenuption in the proper functioning of our infonnation systems; 
• the occurrence of cybersecurity incidents; 
• risks related to our customers' creditworthiness; 
• the success of our acquisition strategies; 
• the potential adverse effects associated with integrating acquisitions into our business and whether these acquisitions will yield their intended bendits; 
• impairment of our goodwill or other intangible assets; 
• adverse changes in political or economic conditions in the countries in which we operate; 
• our significant indebtedness; 
• the dependence on our subsidiaries for cash to meet our parent company's obligations; 
• changes in our credit profile; 
• potential inability to obtain necessary capital; 
• the potential share price volatility and costs incurred in response to any shareholder activism campaigns; 
• the sufficiency of our insurance policies to cover losses, including liabilities arising from litigation; 
• product liability claims against u:s; 
• pending or future asbestos-related claims against us; 
• exposure to U.S. and international laws and regulations, regulating cormption, limiting imports or exports or imposing economic sanctions; 
• risks relating to ongoing evaluations of internal controls required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and a material weakness related to our inventory 

cycle count control if it remains unremediated; and 
• risks related to changing laws and regulations including trade policies and tariffs. 
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Undue reliance should not be placed on our forward-looking statements. Although forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, reliance should no~ be 
placed on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause o ur actual results, performance 
or achievements to d iffer materially from anticipated future results, perfom1ancc or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. We 
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or 
otherwise, except to the extent law requires. 

Oven1ew 

We are the leading global distributor of pipe, valves, fittings (" PVF") and other infrastructure products and services to diversified energy, industrial and gas utility 
sectors. We provide innovative snpply chain solutions, technical product expertise and a robust digital platform to customers globally through our leading position 
across each of our diversified end-markets including the following sectors: 

• Gas Utilities: gas utilities (storage and distribution of nantral gas) 
• DIE T: downstream, industrial and energy transition (crude oil refining, petrochemical and chemical processing, general industrials and energy transition projects) 
• PTI: production and transmission infrastructure (exploration, production, extraction, gathering, processing and transmission of oil and gas) 

We offer approximately 200,000 SKUs, including an extensive array of PVF, oilfield supply, valve automation and modification, measureme·nt, instrumentation and other 
general and specialty products from our global network of over 7, I 00 suppliers. With over I 00 years of history, our over 2,600 team members serve over 8,300 Ctlstomers 
through 197 service locations including regional distribution centers, service centers, corporate offices and third-party pipe yards, where we often deploy pipe near 
customer locations. 

Our customers use the PVF and other inti·astructure products that we supply in mission critical process applications that require us to provide a high degree of·product 
knowledge, technical expertise and comprehensive value-added services to our customers. We seek to provide best- in-class service and a one-stop shop for cus tomers 
by satisfying the most complex, multi- site needs of many of the largest companies in the energy, industrial and gas utilities sectors as their primary PVF supplier. We 
believe the critical role we play in our cus tomers' supply chain, together with our extensive product and service offerings, broad global pre:sence, customer-linked 
scalable infonnation systems and efficient distribution capabilities, serve to solidify our long-standing customer relationships and drive our growth . As a result, we have 
an average relationship of approximately 35 years with our 25 largest customers. 

Key Ol'ivers of Our Business 

We derive our revenue predominantly from the sale of PVF and other supplies to gas utility, energy, and industrial customers globally. Ou.r business is dependent upon 
both the current conditions and future prospects in these industries and, in particular, our customers' maintenance and expansionary operating and capital expenditures. 
The outlook for PVF spending is influenced by numerous factors, including the following: 

• Gas V Ii lily and Energy In.fras/ruc/ure lnlegrily and Modemizalion. Ongoing maintenance and upgrading of existing energy facilities, pipelines and ol.her 
infrastntcture equipment is a meaningful driver for business across the sectors we serve. This is particularly true for the Gas Utilities sector. Activity w:ith 
customers in this sector is driven by upgrades and replacement of existing infrastn•cture as well as new residential and conm1ercial development. Continual 
maintenance of an aging network of pipelines and local distribution networks is a critical requirement for these customers irrespective of broader economic 
conditions. As a result , this business tends to be more stable over time than our traditional oilfield-dependent businesses and moves independently of 
commodity prices. 

• Oil and Nawral Gas Demand and Prices. Sales of PVF and infrastructure products to the oil and natural gas industry constitute a significant portion of our 
sales. As a result, we depend upon the maintenance and capital expendintres of oil and natural gas companies to explore for, produce and process oil, natural 
gas and refined products. Demand for oil and nantral gas, current and projected commodity prices and the costs necessary to produce oil and gas impact 
customer capital spending, additions to and maintenance of pipelines, refinery utilization and petrochemical processing activity. Additionally, as these 
participants rebalance their capital investment away from traditional, carbon-based energy toward alternative sources, we expect to continue to supply them 
and enhance our product and service offerings to support their changing requirements, including in areas such as carbon capntre utilization and storage, 
biofuels, offshore wind and hydrogen processing. 

• Economic Conditions. Changes in the general economy or in the energy sector (domestically or internationally) can cause demand for fuels, feedstocks and 
petroleum-derived products to vary, thereby causing demand for the products we distribute to materially change. 

• Manufacturer and Distributor lnve111o1y Levels of PVF and Related Products. Manufacturer and distributor inventory levels of PVF and related products can 
change significantly from period to period. Increased inventory levels by manufacturers or other distributors can cause an oversupply of PVF and related 
products in the industry sectors we serve and reduce the prices that we are able to charge for the produc ts we distribute. Reduced prices, in tum, would likely 
reduce our profitability. Conversely, decreased manufact11rer inventory levels may ultimately lead to increased demand for our products and often result in 
increased revenue, higher PVF pricing and improved profitability. 

• Steel Prices, Availability and Supply and Demand. Fluctuations in steel prices can lead to volatility in the pricing of the products we distribute, especially 
carbon steel line pipe products, which can influence the buying patterns of our customers. A majority o f the products we distribute contain various types of 
steel. The worldwide supply and demand for these products and other steel products that we do not supply, impact the pricing and availability of our products 
and, ultimately, our sales and operating profitability . Additionally, supply chain disruptions with key manufacntrers or in markets in which we source products 
can impact the availability of inventory we require to support our customers. Furthermore, logistical challenges, including inflation and availability of freight 
providers and containers for shipping can also significantly impact our profitability and inventory lead-times. These constraints can also present an 
opportunity, as our supply chain expertise allows us to meet customer expectations when the competition may not. 
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MRC Global Sale o>f Canada Business 

On March 14, 2025, the Company completed its sale of its Canadian operations to EMCO Corporation, and we plan to use the proceeds for reduction of debt. As a result 
of the expected sale, a pre-tax, non-cash loss on discontinued operations of approximately S22 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of2024. The historical •x:sults of 
the Canada segment have been reflected as discontinued opera tions in our audited consolidated financial statements for all periods prior to the definitive agreement. 
Assets and liabilities associated with the Canada segment are classified as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations in our audited Consolidated Balance Sheets 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Addil ional disclosures regarding the sale of our Canada operations are provided in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

Recent Trends and Outlook 

ln January 2025, a new U.S. President took office for the second time, and a new U.S. Congress: was seated. The new President bas executed a number of executive 
orders that tern1inate U.S. participation in the Paris Climate Agreement and purport to support U.S. oil and gas producers, reduce U.S. focus on alternative energy 
sources and lessen the reg11latory burden. on businesses. The President and his party have also announced an aggressive policy agenda to raise tariffs on imported 
goods, maintain and enhance expiring tax code changes that are due to expire in 2025, including a series of reduced tax rates, modify the relationships between the U.S. 
and other countries, cancel or modify trade treaties and remake relationships with other countries. Until speciti c laws are passed, executive· actions are taken, or federal 
reg11latory action is enacted, it is unclear what impact these pol icies will have on our business. While at first impression these policies could decrease the regula tory and 
tax burden on our business and the businesses of our U.S. customers, increase oil and gas production in the U.S. and, as a result, increase our U.S. business act ivity 
and the sales of products from our U.S. suppliers, it is not clear that all impacts will be positive. Oil and gas producers have generally remained disciplined in their capital 
expenditures and have generally not increased production beyond their ability to fund their expenditures from prudent borrowings and cash flow from operations. In 
addition, it is unclear how potential U.S. government actions will impact financial support for ct1rbon capture and utilization projects that many companies, including oil 
and gas pi'Oducers, participate or how tariffs may impact the cost of our new purchases of inventory for our customers. The President has imposed significant tariffs on 
steel products, which have taken effect in mid-March 2025. A significant portion of the products that we sell are made from steel. In addition, the President has 
announced significant tariffs on products from China, Canada a nd Mexico. A portion of the products that we sell are sourced from China, including certain valve sub­
assemblies that are finished in the U.S. The tariffs on products from Canada and Mexico have a lesser direct impact on our business as they do not represent a 
significant portion o f the products that we purchase from those countries for resale to our customers. The short-term impacts of tariffs on our business depends upon 
whether we can pass price increases to cover the tariffs to our customers. Longer-tenn, if tariffs significantly raise the price of infrastmcn1re buildouts to our customers, 
our customers may .delay or cancel projects, depressing demand for our products. Even so, a significant portion of our U.S. inventory and products are domestically 
made but some products, such as valves, often have a significant portion of non-U.S. components, and we do import some valve and other products. However, in the 
absence of specifics on some policies and the rapidly changing tari ff landscape and given the government's generally supportive stance for the oil and gas industry, we 
are cautiously optimistic that these policies wi ll be supportive of our business. 

We continue to support our customers in the gas utilities sector and traditional energy markets t1long with other industrial end markets and the rapidly evolving energy 
transition. For the year ended 2024, 69% of our revenue was derived from our Gas Utilities and DIET sectors, with the remainder in the PTI sector. 

Gas Utilities 

Gas Utilities contin1.1es to be our largest sector, making up 37% of our total Company revenue, with an 8% decrease in revenue compared to 2023. Although the long­
ternl growth fundamentals of this sector remain intact, several key gas utilities customers have been focused on redu cing their own product inventory levels due to more 
certainty in the supply chain and associated lead times. Higher interest rates and inflation in construction costs have also caused customers to delay project activity. 
Although we have experienced lower sales activity in this sector compared to prior year, the long-tenn market drivers remain positive due to distribution integrity 
upgrade programs as well as new home construction in certain U.S. states. The majority of the work we perform with our gas utility customers are multi-year programs 
where they continually evaluate, monitor and implement measures to improve their pipeline distribution networks, ensuring the safety and the integrity of their system. 
As of2023, which is the most recently available information, the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration ("PHMSA") estimates approximately 35% of 
the gas distribution main and service line miles are over 40 years old or of unknown origin. This infrastmcn•re requires continuous replace·ment and maintenance as 
these gas distribution networks continue to age. We supply many of the replacement products including valves, line pipe, smart meters, ri.sers and other gas products. A 
large percentage of the line pipe we sell is sold to our gas utilities customers for line replacemen t and new sections of their distribution network. As our gas utili ty 
customers connect tlew homes and businesses to their gas dist ribution network, the growth in the housing market c~eates new revenue opportunities for our business 
to supply the related infrastmcture products. While new housing market starts have declined with interest rate increases, we do not anticipate this to have a significant 
impact as customers will generally reallocate their budgets toward integrity upgrade projects. Some of our customers in this sector support both gas and electric 
distribution, and certain customers have announced allocating a higher proportion of their capital budget to electric d istribution. However, based on market 
fundamentals, the need for natural gas to fuel new electric generation facilities and new market share opportunities, we expect the Gas Uti! ities sector to continue to have 
steady growth in the coming years. Additionally, due to its reduced dependency on energy demand and commodity prices this sector is le·ss volatile than the others. 

Downstream, Industrial and Energy Transition (DI£ 1) 

DIET generated 32% of our total Company revenue for 2024 and decreased 7% from 2023. We expect this sector to deliver strong growth in the coming years dr iven by 
increased customer activity levels related to maintenance, repair and operations ("MRO") activities, project turnaround activity in refineries and chemical plants and new 
energy transition rdated projects. This sector has a significant amount of project activity, which can create substantial variability between quarters. 
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The energy transition portion of our business is a small portion of our DIET business today, but it is expected to have meaningful growth in the coming years. The 
outlook for energy t ransition projects is supported by government incentives and policies such as those in the Inflation Reduction Act of2022; however, the impact 
of the new presiden·tial administration on these incentives and policies is unclear. Many of our customers have made commitments to net >.:ero emissions to address 
climate change. Our customer base represents many of the primary leaders in the energy transition movement, and they are positioned to lead the effort to decarbonize 
through nearer-term efforts such as renewable or biodiesel refineries and offshore wind power generation as well as longer-term efforts such as carbon capture and 
storage and hydrogen. However, as U.S. government support may wane for these projects, we are monitoring our customers plans for and the pace of development of 
these proj ects. 

Production and Transmission infrastructure (P11) 

The PTI sector of our business, which consists of the traditional upstream and midstream oil and gas markets, is the most cyclical, and in 2024 
this sector represented 3 I% of our company revenues. The PT I sector revenue decreased 9% in 2024 compared to 2023. During 2024, Brent cntde oil price 
averaged $80.52 per barrel and West Texas Intem1ediate ("WTI") oil prices averaged $76.63 per barrel. Although, oil prices have recently declined from earlier highs seen 
in the last few years, OPEC+ production cuts have maintained prices at levels that support continued growth in drilling and completion activity by our 
customers. Natural gas prices also drive customer activity, and ·have experienced recent volatility and declines, and if prices remain low, it could negatively impact our 
business. 

Recent industry reports have signaled potential risk in oil prices and projected lower customer spending levels in 2025, due to current supply and demand projections. 
However, larger public exploration and production companies are expected to drive a higher percentage of the activity in 2024, which bodes well for our Company as 
our revenue for these sectors is driven primarily from this customer base. We also expect our larger public customers will remain disciplined and consistent with their 
commitments to their budgets, maintaining returns to their shareholders and operating within their cash flow requirements. Additionally, we believe the recent 
announcements by several of our large customers related to acquisitions of smaller peers could bode well for us in the coming years due to our current relationships 
with the acquiring companies. 

To the extent completion activity and related production increase, this could have the impact of improving our revenue opportunities in our PTI sector. New well 
completions and hig her production levels drive the need for additional surface equipment and gathering and processing infrastructure, benefitting this sector's revenue. 
The majority of the revenue in this sector is driven by large independents and major exploration and productions companies, which are expected to strongly influence 
the increase in capital spending in the coming years for this sector. This group of customers make up the majority of our sales within the PTI sector. 

Supply Chain and Labor-

Inflation lor the majority of our products bas cased during 2024. If the U.S. imposes wide-spread tariffs on our products, prices lor products will likely increase, and we 
would seck to pass these increases on to o ur customers. Wide-spread tariffs could also re-ignite inflation. To the extent further pricing fluctuations impact our products, 
the effect on our revenue and cost of soods sold, which is detennined usins the last-in first-out ("LIFO") inventory costins methodolosy, remains subject to uncertainty 
and volatility. However, our supply chain expertise, relationships with our key suppliers and inventory position has a llowed us to manage the supply chain for both 
inflationary and deflationary pressures. In addition, our contracts with customers generally allow us to pass price increases along to customers within a reasona.ble time 
a fter they occur. 

Many cu~tomers, es:pecially in our Gas Utilities sector, are focused on reducing the ir own product inventory levels due to more certainty in the supply c hain and 
associated lead times. We have also been able to reduce our inventory levels due to this nonnalization in supply chain. We expect that these customers will beg in to 
nom1alize their purchasing patterns in 2025. 

There has been little impact to our supply chain directly from the conflict in Ukraine. However, geopolitical conflicts could have the potential to further constrain the 
global supply chain and impact the availa.bility of component parts, particularly valves and meters. 

Occasionally, the United States imposes tariffs on imports of some products that we distribute . Although these actions generally cause the price we pay for products to 
increase, we are generally able to leverage long-standing relationships with our suppliers and the volume of our purchases to receive market competitive pricing . In 
addition, our contracts with customers generally allow us to react quickly to price increases through mechanisms that enable us to pass those increases along to 
customers as they occur. These issues are dynamic and continue to evolve. To the extent our products are further impacted by pricing fluct11ations caused by tariffs and 
quotas, the ultimate impact on our revenue and cost of sales, which is determined using the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") inventory costing methodology, remains s ubject to 
uncertainty and volatility. 

Although improving, we are being impacted by labor constraints as lower unemployment rates have created increased competition among companies to attract and 
retain personnel, wbich has increased our selling, general and administrative expense. We have experienced some easing in labor market co mpetition, but competition 
has remained. We proactively monitor market trends in the areas where we have operations and, due to our efficient sourcing practices, have experienced little to no 
dismption supporting our customers. 

Longer- Temt Out/Qok 

We play a critical role in supporting our customers and the energy industry during the energy transition and throughout the cycles. The U. S. Energy Information 
Administration's ("EIA") Reference Case published in its "International Energy Outlook 2023" that world energy consumption will increase by nearly 34% between 
2022 and 2050. Additionally, the EIA proj ects that between 2022 and 2050 renewable energy consumption will grow by 118%, natural gas consumption will grow by 29%, 
and hydrocarbon-based liquids consumption will grow by 23%. 

In 2023, the EIA published a Rclim:nce Case for the U.S. in its "Ammal Energy Outlook 2023". In this reference case, the EIA projects that U.S. annual production of oil 
will grow by 11% from 2022 to 2050 and U.S. natural gas annual production will grow by almost 24% in the same period. The EIA also projects in its Reference Case that 
th~ U.S. will becum~ a n~t ~xport~r ofthes~ products over this period. This prujected increas~ in oil and gas to meet the ris~ in int~mation>~l en~rgy demand continues to 
provide a robust market for our existing goods and services. Additionally, we expect our longer·-tern> growth to be heavily influenced by the rising demand for energy 
transition projects. Our existing traditiona l energy customer base is expected to reallocate increasing amounts of their future capital expenditures to fund many of these 
projects. We are well positioned for this f11ture growth given our strong customer relationships and previous energy transition proj ect experience. 

23 



Table of Contents 

Backlog 

We determine backlog by the amount of unshipped customer orders, which the customer may revise or cancel in certain instances. Tl1e table below details our backlog 
by segment (in millions): 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
u.s. $ 304 $ 418 $ 539 
International 254 245 158 

$ 558 $ 663 $ 697 

Our backlog as of December 3 1, 2024 decreased by $105 million, or 16%, when compared to December 31 , 2023. This decrease was primarily driven by lower project 
activity and delayed timing of project orders in our PTI and Ga:s Utilities sectors within the U.S. segment, and partially offset by an increase in backlog within the 
International segment primarily driven by projects in Norway. Backlog as of December 31, 2023 decreased by $34 million, or 5%, when compared to December 31, 2022. 
This decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in the U.S. segment due to reduced projects as a result of destocking by our Gas Utilities sector, and partially offset by 
an increase within our International segment primarily driven by projects in Norway. There can be no assurance that the backlog amounts will ultimately be realized as 
revenue or that we will earn a profit on the backlog of orders, but we expect that substantially all of the sales in our backlog will be realized within 12 months. 

Key Industry Indicators 

The following table sets forth key industry indicators for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 

2024 
Average Rig Count (1): 
United States 599 
International 948 

Total Worldwide 1,547 

Average Commodity Prices (2): 
WTI crude oil (per barrel) $ 76.63 
Brent crude oil (per barrel) $ 80.52 
Henry Hub natural gas ($/MMBtu) $ 2.19 

U.S. Wells Completed (2) 11,659 
3:2: I Crack Spread (3) $ 22.77 

( I ) Source-Baker Hughes (.www.bakerlmghes.coml (Total rig count includes oil, natural gas and other rigs.) 
(2) Source-Department of Energy, EIA (www.eia.gov) (As revised) 
(3) Source-Bioomberg 

Results ofOpe1-ations for the Years Ended December 31,2024,2023 and 2022 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 

687 723 
948 851 

1.,635 1,574 

$ 77.58 $ 94.90 
$ 82.49 s 100.93 
$ 2.53 $ 6.45 

12,810 13,088 
$ 31.52 $ 36.79 

MRC Global's fiscal years are the same as calendar years. When used in this Management 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 
a reference to a year means the year ended December 3 1 of the specified year. 

The breakdown of our sales by sector for 2024, 2023 and 2022 was as follows (in millions): 

Year Ended Dt'Cember 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Gas Utilities $ 1,098 37% $ 1, 193 36% s 1,248 39% 
DIET 970 32% 1,040 32% 984 31% 

PTI 943 3 1% 1,033 32% 965 30% 
$ 3,1llll 100% $ 3,266 100% $ 3,197 100% 

24 



Table of Contents 

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to tlte Year Ended December 31, 2023 

For 2024 and 2023, the following table summarizes our results of operations (in millions): 

Sales: 
u.s. 
International 
Consolidated 

Opemting income (loss): 
u.s. 
International 
Corporate and other (I) 
Consolidated 

Interest expense 
Other, net 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 

Income tax expense 
Net income from c~ntinuing operations 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Net income 
Series A preferred stock dividends 

Loss on repurchase and retirement of preferred stock 

Net income attributable to common stockholders 

Gross Profit 

Adjusted Gross Profit (2) 

Adjusted EBITDA (2) 

s 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended Oecem be·r 31, 

2024 2 023 

2,530 $ 

481 
3,011 $ 

108 $ 
31 
(4) 

135 $ 

(26) 
(4) 

105 
(27) 

78 
(23) 

55 
20 

9 
26 $ 

620 $ 

659 s 
202 $ 

$ Cbanj!e % Cbanj!e 

2,845 $ (315) (I I)% 
421 60 14% 

3,266 s (255) (8)% 

174 $ (66) (38)% 
21 lO 48% 
(7) 3 (43)% 

188 $ (53) (28)% 

(32) 6 (19)% 
(2) (2) N/M 

154 (49) (32)% 
(39) 12 (31)% 
115 (37) (32)% 
(I) (22) N/M 

114 (59) (52)% 
24 (4) (17)% 

9 N/M 
90 $ (64) (71)% 

670 $ (50) (7)% 

712 s (53) (7)% 

251 $ (49) (20)% 

(I) The balances included in corporate and other represent the operating activity previously identified in our Canada segment that do not meet the criteria for 
discontinued operations. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of certain assets and assumed liabilities within our Canada operations are provided in Note 2 of 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Fom1 10-K. 

(2) Adjusted Gross: Profit and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. For a reconciliation of these measures to an equivalent GAAP measure, see pages 
26-27 herein. 

Soles. Sales reflect consideration we are entitled to for goods and services when control of those goods and services: is transferred to our customers. Our sales 

were $3,011 million for 2024, as compared to $3,266 million for 2023, a decrease of$255 million, or 8%. The decrease included an unfavorable impact of less than $1 million 
from the weakening of foreign currencies in areas where we operate relative to the U.S. dollar. 

U.S. Segment- Our U.S. sales decreased to $2,530 million for 2024 from $2,845 million for 2023. This $315 million, or 1 L %, decrease was driven by a $ 135 million decrease 
in the PTI sector, a S93 million decrease in the Gas Utilities sector, and an $87 million decrease in DIET sector sales. 

lntemational Segment- Our International sales increased $60 million to $481 million for 2024 from $421 million for 2023. The 14% increase is driven by the PTI and 
DIET sectors. 

Gross Profit. Our gross profit was $620 million (20.6% of sales) for 2024, as compared to $670 million (20.5% of sales) lor 2023. The $50 million decrease was primarily 
allributable to reduced sales. As compared to average cost, our last-in first-out ("LIFO") inventory costing methodology decreased cost of sales by $2 million in 2024 
compared to a $2 million increase in cost of sales in 2023. 

Adjusted Gross Profit. Adjusted Gross Profit decreased to $659 million (21.9"/o of sales) for 2024 from S712 million (21.8% of sales) for 2023, a decrease of$53 million. 
The decrease was primarily due to reduced sales. Adjusted Gross Profit is a non-GAAP financial measure. We define Adjusted Gross Profit as sales, less cost of sale.s, 
plus depreciation and amortization, plus amortization of intangibles, plus inventory-related charges incremental to normal operations, plus transaction costs associated 
with acquisitions and plus or minus the impact of our LIFO inventory costing methodology. We present Adjusted Gross Profit because we believe it is a useful indicator 
of our operating perfom1ance without regard to items, such as amortization of intangibles that can vary substantially from company to company depending upon the 
nat11re and extent of acquisitions. Similarly, the impact of the LIFO inventory costing method can cause results to vary substantially !Tom company to company 
depending upon whether they elect to utilize LIFO and depending upon which method they may elect. We use Adjusted Gross Profit as a key performance indicator in 
managing our business. We believe that gross profit is the finaJtcial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
that is most directly comparable to Adjusted Gross Profit. 
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The following table reconciles gross profut, as derived from our consolidated financial statements, with Adjusted Gross Profit, a non-GAAP financial measure (in 
millions): 

Yeal' Ended Deccmbcl' 31, 
J>e•·centage J)ercen.tage 

2024 of Revenue* 2023 of Revenue 

Gross profit, as reported 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of intangibles 
(Decrease) increase in LIFO reserve 
Transaction costs 

Adjusted Gross Profit 
*Does not foot due to rounding 

$ 

$ 

620 
21 
19 
(2) 

659 

20.6% :s 670 20.5% 
0.7% 19 0.6% 
0.6% 21 0.6% 

(0.1)% 2 0.1% 
0.0% 0.0% 

21.9% $ 712 21.8% 

Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A '')Expenses. Costs such as salaries, wages, employee benefits, rent, utilities, communications, insurance, fuel and taxes 
(other than state and federal income taxes) that are necessary to operate our service center and corporate operations are included in SG&A_ Our SG&A expenses were 
$485 million (16.1% -of sales) for 2024, as compared to $482 million ( 14.8% of sales) for 2023. The $3 million increase in SG&A was primarily driven by higher legal and 
consulting costs associated with shareho lder activism response. 

Operating Income. Operating income was $135 million for 2024, as compared to $188 million income for 2023, a decrease of$53 million due to the decrease in revenues 
and the increase in SG&A expenses. 

U.S. Segmenr- Our U.S. segment had operating income of$108 million for 2024 as compared to operating income of$174 million for 2023. The S66 million decrease was 
primarily attributable to lower sales across all sectors. 

lmernoliona/ Segmenr- Our lntemational segment had operating income of$31 million for 2024 as compared to ope~ating income of$21 million in 2023. TI1e $10 
million increase in operating income was primarily attributable to higher revenues. 

C01porare and orhe1~We had an opernting loss of$4 million for 2024 as compared to an operating loss of$7 million in 2023. TI1e $3 million decrease in opernting 
loss was primarily attributable to lower corporate overhead allocation expenses. 

Interest Expense. Our interest expense was $26 million for 2024, as compared to $32 million expense for 2023. The decrease of $6 million was primarily due to lower 
interest expense as a result of paying off a prior term loan in the second quarter of 2024. 

Other, net. Our other expense was $4 million for 2024, as compared to other expense of $2 million for 2023. Other expense primarily related to foreign exchange losses. 

Income Tax Expense. Our income tax expense was $27 million for 2024, as compared to an expense of$39 million for 2023. Our effective tax rates were 26% and 25% for 
2024 and 2023, respectively. Our rates generally differ from the U.S. federal statutory rates of2 U% as a result of state income taxes, non-deductible expenses and differing 
foreign income tnx rntes. The effective tax rate for 2024 was unfavorably impacted by foreign currency gains. 

Net Income from Continuing Operations. Our net income from continuing operations was $78 million for 2024, as compared to net income from continuing operations 

of $115 mill.ion for 2023, a decrease of $37 million due to lower revenues. 

Loss on Repurchase and Retirement of Preferred Stock In 20Q4, we repurchased the Series A Preferred Stock for a total payment of $361 million resulting in a total loss 
of $9 million related to the repurchase and retirement of the Preferred Stock on the consolidated statement of operations . 

Loss from Discontillued Operations, net of tax. Our loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $23 million for 2024 as compared to a loss of$1 million for 2023. 

The increase in loss. of $22 million was primarily attributable to the loss recognized on the discontinued operation being classified as held for sale of approximately $22 
million. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of certain assets and liabilities within our Canada operations are pwvided in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consol idated 
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 
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Adjustetl EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, was $202 million for 2024, as compared to $251 million for 2023. Our Adjusted 
EBITDA decreased $49 million over that period primarily due to decreased revenue. 

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income from continuing operations plus interest, income taxes, depreciation and a mortization, amortization of intangibles and certain 
other expenses, including non-cash expenses such as equity-based compensation, severance and restmcturing, changes in the fair value of derivative instmments, 
long-lived asset impainnents (including goodwill and intangible assets), inventory-related charges incremental to nonnal operations and plus or minus the impact of our 
LIFO inventory costing methodology. 

We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides investors a helpful measure for comparing our operating perfonnance w ith th e perfonnance of other companies that may have 
different financing and capital stmctures or tax rates. We believe it is a usef11l indicator of our operating performance without regard to items, such as amortization of 
intangibles, which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon the nature and extent of acquisitions. Similarly, the impact of the LIFO inventory 
costing method can cause results to vary substantially from company to company depending upon whether they elect to utilize LlFO and depending upon which 
method they may elect. We use Adjusted EBITDA as a key performance indicator in managing our business. We believe that net income is the financial measure 
calculated and presented in accordance w ith U.S. generally accepted accounting principles that is most directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA. 

The following table reconciles net income from continuing operations, as derived &om our consolidated financial statements , with Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP 
financial measure (in millions): 

Net income 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Net income &om continuing operations 
Income lax expense 
Interest expense 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of intangibles 
Transaction costs 
Facility closures 
Severance and restructuring 
Non-recurring IT re lated professional fees 
(Decrease) increase in LIFO reserve 
Equity-based compensation expense 
Non-recurring other legal and consulting costs 
Activism response legal and consulting costs 
Write off of debt issuance costs 
Customer settlement 
Asset disposal 
Foreign currency losses 

Adjusted EBITDA 

$ 

$ 

27 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 

55 
23 
78 
27 
26 
21 

19 

2 
I 

(2) 
16 

4 
1 

2023 

$ 114 

l 
115 
39 
32 
19 

21 

2 
14 

3 
I 

5 3 

202 $ 251 -------
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Year Ended December .U, 2023 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

For 2023 and 2022, the following table summarizes our results of operations (in millions): 

Sales: 
u.s. 
International 

Consolidated 

Operating income (loss): 
u.s. 
International 

Corporate and other ( I) 

Consolidated 

Interest expense 

Other, net 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 
Income tax expense 
Net income from continuing operations 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Net income 
Series A preferred s tock dividends 

Net income attributable to common stockholders 

Gross Profit 

Adjusted Gross Profit (2) 

Adjusted EBIIDA (2) 

s 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 

2,845 s 
421 

3,266 s 

174 $ 
21 
(7) 

188 $ 

(32) 
(2) 

154 
(39) 

115 
(1) 

114 
24 

90 s 

670 $ 

712 s 
251 $ 

$Change %Change 

2,823 s 22 1% 
374 47 13% 

3,197 $ 69 2% 

127 $ 47 37% 
14 7 50% 
(6) ( I) 17% 

135 $ 53 39% 

(24) (8) 33% 
(6) 4 (67)% 

105 49 47% 
(35) (4) II% 

70 45 64% 
5 (6) NIM 

75 39 52% 
24 NIM 
51 $ 39 76% 

584 s 86 15% 

689 s 23 3% 

255 $ (4) (2)% 

(I) The balances included in corporate and other represent the operating activity previously identified in our Canada segment that do not meet the criteria for 
discontinued opt;rations. Additiomtl <Jisdosurl:li r~:g;mling the s~l~: of c~:rt<tin iiSSI:ts ;mil <tssumcll li<tbiliti~:s within our C;m;td~ opt;nttiuns ar~: provi\lt;\1 in N<.~tc 2 of 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Fonn 10-K. 
Adjusted Gross: Profit and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financ.ial measures. For a reconciliation of these measures to an equivalent GAAP measure, see pages 

(2) 29-30 herein. 

Sales. Our soles were $3,266 million for 2023, ns compared to $3,197 million for 2022, nn increase of $69 million, or 2%. The increase included nn unfnvornble impact of$7 
million from the weakening of foreign currencies in areas where we operate relative to the U.S. dollar. 

U.S. Segment- Our U.S. sales increased to $2,845 million for 2023 from $2,823 million for 2022. This $22 million, or 1%, increase was driven by a S47 million and a $32 
million increase in PTI and DIET sector sales, respectively, partially offset by a $57 million decline in the Gas Utilities sector. 

International Segment- Our International sales increased $47 million to $421 million for 2023 from $374 million for 2022. The 13% increase is primarily driven by the 
DIET and PTI sectors. 

Gross Profit. Our gross profit was $670 million (20.5% of sales) for 2023, as compared to $584 million (18.3% of sales) for 2022. The S86 million increase was primarily 

attributable to our LIFO inventory costing methodology. As compared to average cost, our LlFO inventory costing methodology resulted in a $2 million increase in cost 
of sales in 2023 compared to a $66 million increase in cost of sales in 2022. Additionally, the increase in gross profit was driven by improved margins on gas products 
and valves, automation, measurement and instrumentation sales, along with specific high-margin line pipe sales. 

Adjust elf Gross Profit. Adjusted Gross Profit increased to $712 million (21.8% of sales) for 2023 from $689 million (21.6% of sales) for 2022, an increase ofS23 million. 

The increase was primarily due to improved margins on gas products and valves, automation, measurement and instrumentation sales, along with specific high-margin 
line pipe sales. Adjusted Gross Profit is a non-GAAP financial measure. We define Adjusted Gross Profit as sales, less cost of sales, plus d.epreciation and amort ization, 
plus amortization of intangibles, plus inventory-related charges incremental to nonnal operations, plus transaction costs associated with acquisitions and plus or minus 
the impact of our LIFO inventory costing methodology. We present Adjusted Gross Profit because we believe it is a useful indicator of our operating perforn1ance 
without regard to items, such as amortization of intangibles that can vary substantially from company to company depending upon the nature and extent of acquisitions. 
Similarly, the impact of the LIFO inventory costing method can cause results to vary substantially from company to company depending upon whether they elect to 
utilize LIFO and depending upon which method they may elect . We usc Adjusted Gross Profit tiS a key perfonnance indicator in managing our business. We bel ieve that 
gross profit is the financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles that is most directly comparable to 
Adjusied Gross Pro.fii. 
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The following table reconciles gross profut, as derived from our consolidated financial statements, with Adjusted Gross Profit, a non-GAAP financial measure (in 
millions): 

Year Ended December 31, 
Percentage J)ercen.tage 

2023 of Revenue 2022 of Revenue* 

Gross profit, as reported 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of intangibles 

Increase in LIFO reserve 

Adjusted Gross Profit 
• Does not foot due to rounding 

$ 670 
19 
21 

2 
712 

20.5% 584 
0.6% 18 
0.6% 21 

O.I% 66 
21.8% 689 

SG&A Expenses. Our SG&A expenses were $482 m.illion( l4.8% of sales) for 2023, as compared to S449 million (14.00/o of sales) for 2022. The $33 million increase in 

SG&A was driven by higher emp1oyee-re lated costs. 

Opemting Income. Operating income was $188 million for 2023, as compared to $135 million inc•ome for 2022, an incre ase of $53 million due to higher revenues. 

18.3% 
0.6% 
0.7% 

2.I% 
21.6% 

U.S. Segment- Our U.S. segment had operating income of$174 million for 2023 as compared to operating income of$127 million for 2022. The $47 million increase was 
attributable to higher revenues and improved gross profit perce ntage due to product mix. 

International Segment- Our International segment had operating income of$21 million in 2023 as compared to operating income of$14 million in 2022. 
The $7 million increase in operating income was primarily attributable to higher revenues. 

Co1porate and other- We bad an operating loss of $7 million for 2023 as compared to an opera-ting loss of$6 million in 2022 related to corporate and other activity. The 
$1 million increase in operating loss was t>rimarily attributable to higher corporate overhead allocation expenses. 

Interest Expense. Our interest expense was S32 million for 2023, as compared to $24 million expense for 2022. The increase of $8 million was primarily due to higher 
benchmark interest rates. 

Other, net. Our other expense was $2 million for 2023, as compared to other expense of$6 million for 2022. llte decrease in other expense was primarily related to foreign 
exchange rate impacts following the completion of an intercompany debt restructuring project. 

lm:vme Tu,,. Expem;e. Our inwmc t<JX ~:;,;pen~~: vf S39 millivn fvr 2023, m; wmp<~rl:dtv "" cxpcn:.e vf $3.5 millivn fvr 2022. Our effc;cliw '""' ntle~ were 2.5% ilml 33% fvr 
2023 and 2022, respectively. Our rates generally differ from the U.S. federal statutory rates of2n% as a result of state income taxes, non-deductible expenses and differing 
foreign income tax rates. The effective tax rate for 2023 was favorably impacted by a net reduction in valuation allowance provision. 

Net Income from Contin11ing Operations. Our net income from continuing operations was $115 million for 2023, as compared to net income from continuing operations 
of $70 million for 2022, an increase of $45 million due to higher revenues and improved 1nargins. 

(Loss) income from Discontin11ed Opera.tions, net of tax. Our .loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was Sl million for 2023, as compared to income of $5 

million for 2022. The decrease of $6 million was primarily attributable to decreased revenues. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of certain assets and liabilities 
within our Canada operations are provided in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

At/jllstetl EBI TDA. Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, was $251 million for 2023, as compared to $255 million for 2022. Our Adjusted 
EBITDA decreased $4 million over that period primarily due to increased SG&A expenses. 

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income from continuing operations plus interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, amortization of intangibles and certain 
other expenses, including non-cash expenses such as equity-based compensation, severance amd restructuring, changes in the fair value of derivat ive instruments, 
long-lived asset impairments (including goodwill and intangible assets}, inventory-related charges incremental to normal operations and plus or minus the impact of our 
LIFO inventory cos ting methodology. 

We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides investors a helpfiJl measure for comparing our operating performance with the performance of other companies that may have 
different financing and capital structures or tax rates. We believe it is a useful indicator of our operating performance without regard to items, such as amortization of 
intangibles, which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon the nature and extent of acquisitions. Similarly, the impact of the LIFO inventory 
costing method can cause results to vary substantially from company to company depending upon whether they elect to utilize LIFO and depending upon which 
method they may elect. We use Adjusted EBITDA as a key performance indicator in managing our business. We believe that net income is the financial measure 
c-alculated and presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles that is most directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA. 
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The following table reconciles net income from continuing operations, as derived from our consolidated financial statements, with Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP 
financial measure (in millions): 

Net income 

Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Net income from continuing operations 
Income tax expense 
Interest expense 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of intangibles 
Severance and restructuring 
Non-recurring IT related professional fees 
Increase in LIFO reserve 
Equity-based compensation expense 
Activism response [ega! and consulting costs 
C ustomer settlement 
Asset disposal 
Foreign currency losses 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Financial Condition and Cash Flows 

Cash Flows 

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated below (in millions): 

Net cash provided by (used in): 
Operating activities from continuing operations 

Operating activities from discontinued operations 
Operating activities 

Investing activities from continuing operations 
Investing activities from discontinued operations 
Investing activities 

Financing activities from continuing operations 
Financing activities from discontinued operations 

Financing activities 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Operating Activities 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 
114 $ 

l 

115 
39 
32 
19 
21 

l 
2 

14 
I 
3 
I 
3 

251 s 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

268 s 
8 

l76 

(27) 

(27) 

(314) 

(314) 

(65) $ 

75 

(5) 

70 
35 
24 
18 
21 

66 
13 

7 
255 

177 
4 

181 

(13) 
(I) 

(14) 

(67) 

(67) 

100 

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $268 million in 2024 compared to $177 million provided by operating activities from continuing 
operations in 2023. Net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations was $8 million in 2024 compared to $4 million provided by operating activities 
from discontinued operations in 2023. Net cash provided by operating activities was $276 million in 2024 compared to $181 million provided by operating activities in 
2023. Tile change in operating cash flows was primarily the resu lt of a more efficient use of our working capital as we reduced inventory purchasing, improved 
collections on our receivables and managed our payables. 

lm•esting Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was $27 million in 2024 compared to S l3 million used in 2023. Net cash used in investing activiti es from 
discontinued operations was less than $1 million in 2024 and 2023. Net cash used in investing activities was $27 million in 2024 compared to $ 14 million used in 2023. 
Purchases of property, plant and equipme·nt utilized cash of $28 million in 2024, primarily related to the replacement of our U .S. enterprise resource planning system, 
compared to :Sl4 million in 2023. 

Financing Activities 

Net cash used in financing activities was S314 million in 2024, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $67 million in 2023. In 2024, net cash used in financing 
activities from continuing operations is pL-imarily due to the repurchase of the Company's preferred stock of $365 million, payments on debt obligations related to the a 
prior term loan of$295 million and $23 million to fund dividends on our preferred stock. These payments were offset by net proceeds from a new term loan of $348 million 
and from revolving credit t:•cilities of $35 million. In 2023, net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations of $67 million was primarily due to $24 million 
to fund dividends on our preferred stock and a mandatory principal payment on our prior tenn loan of $3 million, ofl'set by net borrowings under our Global ABL Facility 
to taling $35 million. 

30 



Table of Contents 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

O ur primary credit facilities consist of a $750 million global asset-based lending facility ("Global ABL Facility") and a senior secured term loan "B" facility ("Tem1 Loan") 
maturing in October 2031 with an original principal amount of$350 million. 

Global ABL Facility 

In November 2024, t he Company amended and renewed our Global ABL Facility. The Global ABL Facility now matures in November 2029. TI1e Global ABL Facility is 
comprised of$705 million in revolver commitments in the United States, which includes a $30 mil lion sub-limit for Canada, $12 million in Norway, $ 10 million in Australia, 
$ 10.5 million in the Netherlands, $7.5 million in the United Kingdom and $5 million in Belgium. The Global ABL Facility contains an accordion feature that allows us to 
increase the principal amount of the facility by up to $250 million, subject to securing additional lender commitments. 

Under the Global ABL Facility, U.S. borrowings bear interest at Tenn SOFR plus a margin varying between 1.25% and 1.75% based on our fixed charge coverage ratio. 
Canadian borrowings under the facili ty bear interest at the Canadian Dollar Bankers' Acceptances Rate ("BA Rate") p lus a margin varying !between 1.25% and I. 75% 
based on our fixed charge coverage ratio. Borrowings under our foreign borrower subsidiaries bear interest at a benchmark rate, which varies based on the currency in 
which such borrowings arc made, plus a margin varying between 1.25% and 1. 75% based on our fixed charge coverage ratio. Availability is dependent on a borrowing 
base comprised of a. percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory values, which is subject to redetem1ination from time to time. As of December 31, 2024, we 
had $43 million borrowings outstanding and $460 million of Excess Availability (as defined under our Global ABL Facility). 

Prior Term Loan 

The Company had a. prior senior secured term loan "B" (the "Prior Tcnn Loan"), which was set to mature in September 2024 with an originall principal amount of $400 
million. hl May 2024, the Company repaid the Prior Tenn Loan in its entirety. The outstanding principal balance on the Prior Term Loan at the date of repayment was $292 
million. The Company used $216 million of borrowings from our Global ABL Facility and $76 million cash to repay the Prior Term Loan prior to its maturity. 

New Term L oan am/ Preferred Stock Repurchase 

In October 2024 , the Company entered into a new $350 million term loan "B" (the "Term Loan") w ith a term of seven years. The proceeds from the new Tenn Loan, cash 
on hand and borrowings from the Company's Global ABL Facil ity were used to repurchase all 363,000 shares of the Company's 6.50% Series A Convertible Perpetual 
Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock") fi·om Mario Investments , LLC, the sole holder of the Preferred Stock. On October 29, 2024, the Company repurchased the 
Preferred Stock for a total payment of $361 million, representing approximately 99.5% of the liquidation preference of the preferred stock, and paid the holder accmed 
dividends of$4 million. We recognized a total loss of$9million related to the repurchase and retirement of the Preferred Stock on the consolidated statement of 
operations for the year ended December 3 1, 2024. The Preferred Stock was then retired. Additional disclosures regarding the Term Loan and the repurchase of Preferred 
Stock are provided in Note 10 and Note 13, respectively, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Fo•m 10-K. 

Our primary sources of liquidity consist of cash generated from our operating activities, existing cash balances and borrowings under our existing Global ABL Facility. 
On December 31, 2024, our total liquidity, consisting of cash on hand and amounts available under our Global ABL Facility, was $523 million. Our ability to generate 
sufficient c.ash flows from our operating activities is primarily dependent on our sales of products to our customers at profits sufficient to cover our fixed and variable 
expenses. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $63 million and $13 1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $63 
miUion and $43 million of our cash and cash equivalents were maintained in the accounts of our various foreign subsidiaries and, if those amounts were transferred 
among countries or repatriated to the U.S., those amounts may be subject to additional tax liabilities, which would be recognized in our financial statements in the period 
during which the transfer decision was made. During 2024, we did not have any cash repatriated from our subsidiaries. 

O ur credit ratings are below " investment grade" and, as such, could impact both our ability to raise new funds as well as the interest rates on our future borrowings. On 
October 15, 2024, Moody's upgraded the Company's corporate family rating to 'B I' from 'B2' with a stable outlook. Moody's based its ratings upgrade, in part, on the 
Company's moderate leverage and ample interest coverage, modest capital spending requirements and solid operating performance. Moody's affim1ed the outlook as 
'stable' based on their view that the Company's perfonnance will remain strong and continue to generate positive free cash flow, and the Company's credit metrics will 
remain robust. In addition, S&P affim1cd 1he Company's issuer-credit rating of 'B' with a stable outlook. Our exi sting obligations restrict our ability to incur additional 
debt under certain c ircumstances. We we•·e in compliance with the covenants contained in our v arious credit facilities as of and during the year ended December 31, 
2024 and, based on our current forecasts, we expect to remain in compliance. 
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We believe our sources of liquidity will be sufficient to satisfy the anticipated cash requirements associated with our existing operations for the foreseeable future. 
However, our future cash requirements could be higher than we currently expect as a result of various factors. Additionally, our ability to generate sufficient cash from 
our operating activit ies depends on our future performance, which is subject to general economic, political, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. 
We may, from time to time, seek to raise additional debt or equity financing or re-price or refinance existing debt in the public or private markets, based on market 
conditions. Any such capital markets activities would be subject to market conditions, reaching final agreement with lenders or investors, and other factors, and there 
can be no assurance that we would successfully consummate a ny such transactions. 

Cont•·acrual Obligations, Commitments :and Contingencies 

Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes our minimum payment obligations as of December 31, 2024 relating to debt, interest payments, operating leases, finance leases, purchase 
obligations and other long-term liabilities for the periods indicated (in millions): 

Mo1-eThan 

Debt obligations (I) 
Interest payments (2) 
Operating leases 
Finance leases 
Purchase obligations (3) 
Other long-tenn liabilities 

Total 

Total 

$ 

$ 

(I) Debt is based on contractual maturiti es outsumding at December 31,2024. 

387 $ 
175 
266 

11 
497 
20 

1,356 $ 

2025 2026-2027 

3 $ 8 
30 56 
42 66 

2 4 
497 

574 $ 134 

(2) Interest payments are based on interest rates in effect at Oecember31, 2024 and assume contractual amortization payments. 

2028-2029 5 Years 

$ 50 $ 
51 
45 
4 

$ 150 $ 

(3) Purchase obligations reflect our commitments to purchase PVF products in the ordinary course of business. While our vendors often allow us to cancel these 
purchase orders without penalty, in certain cases cancellations may subject us to cancellation fees or penalties, depending on the terms of the contract. 

We expect to fund a ny future acquisitions primarily from (i) borrowings, either the unused portion of our facilities or new debt issuances, (ii) cash provided by 
operations or (iii) the issuance of additional equity in connection with the acquisitions. 

Other Commitments 

326 
38 

113 

20 

498 

In the normal course of business with customers, vendors and others, we are contingently liable for performance under standby tellers of credit and bid, perfom1ance 
and surety bonds. We were contingently liable for approximately $30 million of standby letters of credit, trade g1mrantees that banks issue and bid, and perfonnance and 
surety bonds at December 31, 2024. Management does not expect any material amounts to be drawn on these instmments. 

Legal Proceedi11gs 

Asbestos Claims. We are one of many ddendants in lawsuits that plaintiffs have brought seeking damages for person al injuries that exposure to asbestos allegedly 
caused. Plaintiffs and their family members have brought these lawsuits against a large volume of defendant entities as a result of the various defendants' manu facture, 
distribution, supply or other involvement with asbestos, asbestos-containing products or equipment or activities thai allegedly caused plaintiffs to be exposed to 
asbestos. These plaintiffs typically assert exposure to asbestos as a consequence of third-party manufactured products that the Company's subsidiary, MRC G lobal 
(US) Inc., purportedly distributed. As of December 3 1, 2024, we are a named defendant in approximately 495lawsuits involving approximately 1,060 claims. No asbestos 
lawsuit has resulted. in a j udgment against us to date, with the majority being sell led, dismissed or otherwise resolved. Applicable third-pa.rty insurance has 
substantially covered these claims, and insurance should contin ue to cover a substantial majority of existing and anticipated future claims. Accordingly, we have 
recorded a liability for our estimate of the most likely settlement of asserted claims and a related receivable from insurers for our estimated recovery, to the extent we 
believe that the amounts of recovery are probable. 

We annually conduct analyses of our asbestos-related litigation to estimate the adequacy of the reserve for pending and probable asbestos-related claims. Given these 
estimated reserves and existing insurance coverage that has been available to cover substantial portions of these claims, we believe that our current accmals and 
associated estimates relating to pending and probable asbestos-related litigation likely to be asserted over the next 15 years are currently adequate. This belief, however, 
relies on a number of assumptions, including: 

• That our future settlement payments, disease mix and dismissal rates will be materially consistent with histo~ic experience; 

• n 1at future incidences of asbestos-related diseases in the U.S. will be materially consistent w ith current pub lic health estimates; 

• That the rates at which ti.tture asbestos-related mesothelioma incidences result in compensable claims filings against us will be materially consistent wi th its 
historic experience; 

• n1at insurance recoveries for set tlement payments and defense costs will be materially consistent with historic experience; 

• That legal standards (and the interpretation of these standards) applicable to asbestos litigation will not cha nge in material respects; 

• That there are no materially negative developments in the claims pending against us; and 

• That key co-defendants in current and future claims remain soh,enl. 
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If any of these assumptions prove to be materially different in t·ight of future developments, liabilities related to asbestos-related litigation may be materially different 
than amounts accmed or estimated. Further, white we anticipate that additional claims will be filed in the future, we are unable to predict wi th any certainty the number, 
timing and magnilt1de of such future claims. In addition, applicable insurance policies are subje<::t lo overall caps on limits, which coverage may exhaust the amount 
available from insurers under those limits. In those cases, the Company is seeking indemnity payments from responsive excess insurance policies, but other insurers 
may not be solvent or may not make payments under the policies without contesting their liability. In our opinion, there are no pending legal proceedings that are likely 
to have a material adverse eliect on our consolidated financial statements. 

Orher Legal Claims and Proceedings. From time to time, we have been subject to various c laims and involved in legal proceedings incidental to the nahne of our 
businesses. We maintain insurance coverage to reduce financial risk associated with certain of these claims and proceedings. It is not possible to predict the outcome of 
these claims and proceedings. However, in our opinion, there are no pending legal proceedings that are likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
financial statements. Sec also "Note IS- Commitments and Contingencies" to the audited consolidated financial statements as of Deccmb,,- 31, 2024. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We do not have any material "off-balance sheet arrangements" as SEC rules and regulations define that tenn. 

C ritical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. To apply these princip les, management must make 
j udgments and assumptions and develop estimates based on the best available infomtation at the time. Actual results may differ based on the accuracy of the 
information utilized and subsequent events. The notes to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this report describe our accounting policies. These 
critical accounting policies could materially affect the amounts recorded in our financial statements. We believe the following describes significant judgments and 
estimates used in th e preparation of our consolidated financial statements: 

lnvenrories: Our U.S. inventories, totaling $335 million and $411 million at December 31, 2024 an.d 2023, respectively, were valued at the lower of cost (principally using 
the LIFO method) or market. We record an estimate each quarter, if necessary, for the expected annual effect of inflation (using period to date inflation rates) and 
estimated year-end inventory balances. These estimates are adj usted to actual results determined at year-end. Our inventories that are held outside of the U.S., 
totaling $80 million and $100 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were valued at the lower of weighted-average cost or net reali:zable value. 

Under the LIFO inventory valuation method, changes in the cost of inventory are recognized in cost of sales in the current period even though these costs may have 
been incurred at sig11ificantly different values. Because the Company values most of its inventory using the LIFO inventory costing methodology, a rise in inventory 
costs has a negative effect on operating results, while, conversely, a fall in inventory costs results in a benefit to operating results. 

We determine reserves for inventory based on historical usag.- of inventory on-hand, assumptions about future demand and market conditions. Customers rely on the 
company to stock specialized items for certain projects and other needs. Therefore, the estimated carrying value of inventory depends upon demand driven by oil and 
gas spending activity, which in tum depends on oil and gas prices, the general outlook for economic growth worldwide, political stability in major oil and gas producing 
areas, and the potential obsolescence of various inventory items we sell. 

Income Toxes: We account for our income taxes under the liabi lity method using currently enacted tax laws and rates. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recorded for differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the tax rate expected to be in effect when the taxes will 
actually be paid, or refunds received. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the 
enactment date. A valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets is established when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will 
not be realized. 

In determining the need for valuation allowances and our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, we consider and make judgments regarding all the available positive 
and negative eviden.ce, including the timing of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, estimated future taxable income, ongoing, prudent and feasible tax planning 
strategies and recent financial results of operations. The amount of valuation allowances, however, could be adjusted in the f11ture if objective negative evidence in the 
fomt of cumulative losses is no longer present in certain jurisdictions and additional weight may be given to subjecti ve evidence such as o ur projections for growth. 

Our tax provision is based upon our expected taxable income and stat11tory rates in effect in each country in which we operate. We are subj ect to the jurisdiction of 
numerous domestic and foreign tax authorities, as well as to tax agreements and trenties among these govemments. Determination of taxable income in any juris-diction 
requires the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and the use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future events such as the amount, 
timing and character of deductions, permissible revenue recognition methods under the tax law and the sources and character of income and tax credits. Changes in tax 
laws, regulations, agreements and treaties, foreign currency exchange restrictions or our level of operations or profitability in each taxing j urisdiction could have an 
impact on the amount of income taxes we provide during any given year. 

A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including any related 
appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits. We adj ust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new 
infonnation not previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, 'the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different 
from our c urrent est imate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which the new 
infonnation is available. 
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ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE Al\'D QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUI MARKET RISK 

Interest Rate Risk 

As of December 31, 2024, all of our outstanding debt was at floating rates. These facilities prescrribe the percentage point spreads from U.S. prime, Tenn SOFR, Canadian 
prime and EURIBOR Our facilities generally allow us to fix the interest rate, at our option, for a period of 30 to 180 days. 

As of December 31, 2024, a I% increase in the Tenn SOFR rate would result in an increase in our interest expense of $4 million per year if the amounts outstanding under 
our Tenn Loan and Global ABL Facility remained the same for an entire year. 

Foreig11 Curre11cy Exchange Rates 

O ur operations outside of the U.S. expose us to foreign currency exchange rate risk, as these transactions are primari.ly denominated in currencies other than the 
U.S. dollar, our functional currency. Our exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates is managed primarily through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts . 
These contracts increase or decrease in value as foreign exchange rates change, protecting the value of the underlying transactions denominated in foreign currencies. 
All currency contracts are entered into for the sole purpose of hedging existing or anticipated c urrency exposure; we do not use foreign currency contracts for trading 
or speculative purposes. The terms of these contracts generally do not exceed one year. We reco rd all changes in the fair market value of forward foreign exchange 
contracts in income. Gains and losses incurred in the years ended December 3 I , 2024 and 2023 were not material. 

Steel Pl'ices 

Our business is sens itive to steel prices, which can impact our product pricing, with carbon steel line pipe prices generally having the highest degree of sensitivity. 
While we cannot predict steel prices, we manage this risk by managing our inventory levels, inc luding maintaining sufficient quantity on hand to meet demand, while 
reducing the risk of overstocking. 
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ff£..1\19. CHAt-..GES IN AND DISAGR EEMENTS WlTH ACCOUNT ANTS ON ACCOUNT ING At'ID FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As required by the Exchange Act, we maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide assurance that information we are :required to disclose in reports 
that we file or submit under the Exchange· Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and fonns. O·ur 
disclosure conrrols and procedures include (among other things) controls and procedures desig ned to provide assurance that the infom1at ion that we are required to 
disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer (our 
"CEO") and principal financial officer (our "CFO"), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our managemen.t, with the participation of our 
CEO and CFO, has evaluated our disclosme controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024 a nd has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective as of December 31,2024, solely due to the material weakness regarding our internal control over financial reporting regarding our inventory cycle count control 
identified on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided certain certifications to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission. These certifications are included herein as Exhibits 3 1.1 and 3 1.2. 

Management's Report on lntemal Control Over Financial Reponing 

The Company's management report on internal control over financial reporting is set forth on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein 
by reference. 

A/testation Report of our Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Company' s reg.istered public accounting fim1' s attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting is set forth on page F-2 of this Annual Report on 
Fonn I 0-K and is incorporated herein by 1·efercnce. 

Changes in lnrernal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes, other than the changes regarding the ongoing remediation efforts set forth on page F-1 of thi s Fonn 10-K, which is hereby incorporated by 
reference, in our intemal control over financial reporting with r espect to our inventory cycle count control that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that 
have materially all"ected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting. 

ITEM9B. OTIIERINFORMA TION 

On March 12, 2025, we granted the named executive officers named in the table below perfonn:mce stock units pursuant to our Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended, in 
addition to certain time-vested restricted s tock units reported on Fom1s 4. Each recipient ofperfom1ance stock units can earn shares of Company conunon stock between 
0% and 200% of the target number of units based on relative total shareholder rennn performance (compared to the companies in the VanEck Oilfield Services ETF 
("OIH"), DNOW Inc. and certain distribution companies plus the Russell 2000 ("Total Return") Index, taken as a whole rather than the individual companies in the index) 
in four perfom1ance periods (2025, 2026, 2027 and 2025 through 2027, collectively, the "Perfonntmce Periods") each equally weighted by 25%. 

The perlomtance stock units vest at the end of 2027 so long as the recipient remains employed with the Company when the perfomtance against the criteria is m easured. 

Below is the number of target perfom1ance stock units that the Company granted to each named executive ofilcer: 

~ 
Saltiel, Robert J., Jr. 
Youngblood, Kelly 
Churay, Daniel J. 
Bates, Grant R. 
McCarthy, John P. 

President & Chief Executive Officer 
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Office r 
Executive Vice President - Corporate Affairs, General Counsel, Corporate Secretary 
Senior Vice President - North American Operations & E-Commerce 
Senior Vice President - Supply Chain Management, Quality :and Technical Sales 

# of Performance Stock Units 
141,840 
50,608 
29,250 
17,425 
14,181 

The above-described performance stock units were granted pursuant to that certain form of Perfonnance Share Unit A ward Agreement (att.1ched hereto as Exhibit 
10.6.3). 
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PARTffi 

ITEMlO. DJRECWRS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNAi'IICE 

The information regarding our directors and nominees for director required by Item 40 I of Regulation S-K will be presented under the heading "PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION 
OF DIRECTORS" in our Proxy Statement prepared for the solicitation of proxies in connection with our annual Meeting of Stockholders to he held in 2024 ("Proxy 
Statement"), which infom1ation is incorporated by reference he-rein. 

Information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K to the extent required, will be included, if applicable, under the heading "Delinquent Section I6(a) Reports" in our 
Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated by reference herein. 

Information regarding our executive officers required by Item 40 I (b) of Regulation S-K is presented at the end of Part I herein and captioned "Executive Officers of the 
Registrant" as permitted by General Instmction G(3) to Fom1 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item40l(b) of Regulation S-K. 

Information required by paragraphs (c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of Item 407 of Regulation S-K will be included under the heading "QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT 
THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING" and "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS" in our Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated by reference 
herein. 

We have adopted a Securities Trading and Disclosure Policy governing the purchase, sale or other dispositions of the Company's securities by our directors, officers, 
employees and the Company on its own behalf, which the Company believes is reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and 
regulations, and any listing standards appl icable to the Company. A copy of the Company's Securities Trading and Disclosure Policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Form 
10-K. 

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial Officers ("Code of Ethics for Senior Officers") that applies to our Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief financial Oflicer, Chief Accounting Oflicer, and Controller, or persons perfonning similar functions. The Code of Ethics for Senior Officers, together with our 
Corporate Governance Guidelines, the charters for each of our board committees, and our Code of Ethics applicable to all team members are available on our l.ntemet 
website at www.mrcglobal.com. We will provide, free of charge, a copy of our Code of Ethics or any of our other corporate documents listed above upon written request 
to our Corporate Secretary at 130 I McKinney Street, Suite 2300, Houston, Texas, 77010. We intend to disclose any amendments to or waivers of the Code of Ethics for 
Senior Officers on IJ.ehalf of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and Controller, and persons perfonning similar functions on our 
I ntemet website at www.mrcglobal.com under the Investor Relations page, promptly following the date of any such amendment or waiver. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTWE COlVU'ENSATlON 

The information required by Item 402 and paragraphs (e)(4) and (e)(5) of ltem407 of Regulations S-K regarding executive compensation will be presented under the 
headings "COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS," "Employment and Other Agreements," "Summary Compensation Table for 2024," "Grants of Plan-Based 
Awards in Fiscal Year 2024," "Outstanding Equity Awards at 2024 Fiscal Year-End," "Option Ex;ercises and Stock Vesied During 2024," "Potential Payments upon 
Tem1ination or Change in Control," "Non-Employee Director Compensation Table," "Compensation and Human Capital Committee Report ," and "Compensation and 
Human Capital Committee Interlocks and lnsider Participation" in our Proxy Statement, which infom1ation is incorporated by reference herein. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the information provided under the heading "Compensation and Human Capital Committee Report" in our Proxy Statement is furnished and shall not be 
deemed to be filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act is not subject to the liabilities of that section and is not deemed incorporated by reference in any 
filing under the Secmities Act. 

ITEM 12. SECUROY OWNERSHIP OF CERfAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MAl' 'AGEMLYf AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MKrfERS 

The information regarding the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K w i:U be presented under the 
headings "SECURITY OWNERSHIP - Directors and Exe.cutive Owners" and "SECURITY OWNERSHIP - Certain Beneficial Owners" in our Proxy Statement, which 
infonnation is incorporated by reference herein. 

The following table sununarizes infom1ation, as of December 31,2024, relating to our equity compensation plans pursuant to which grants of options, restricted s tock, or 
certain other rights to acquire our shares may be granted from time to time. 

Plan Category 
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders: 
Stock options, restrncted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, and 
performance share unit awards 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 

Total 

(a) 

Number of securit ies to 
be issued upon 

exercise of outstanding 
options, warrants and 

rights 

2,890,790 $ 

(b) 

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

None N/A 
2,890,790 

(c) 

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 
equity compensation 

plans (excluding 
securitie.s reflected in 

colunm (a)) 

3,111,429 

None 
3,111,429 

(I) Performance share unit awards are included at target. If overachievement of the performance criteria is achieved, the grantees ofperfonnance share unit awards 
could receive up to 200% of target. This would increase the number of securities in column (a) by 732,791, assuming maximum payout for unearned perfomulmce 
share unit awards as of0ecember31,2024. 

(
2
) The weighted average exercise price is only for the unexercised options included in column (a) as restricted stock units and perfom1ance share units do not have an 

exercise price. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no unexercised stock options. 
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ITEM13. CERT AlN RELATIONSHIPS Al\'D RELATED TRANSACTIONS, Al\'D DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information regarding certain relationships and related transactions required by Item 404 and Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be presented under the headings 
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions", "Related Party Transaction Policy", "PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS- 'Knowledge, Skills and Experience 
of Nominees Plus our Designated Directo•·' and 'Certain lnfonnat ion Regarding Nominees" and "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MA TIERS - 'Director Independence" in 
our Proxy Statement, which information is incotporated by reference herein. 

ITEM 14. PRJJ'I'CIJ>AL ACCOUNTAl~T FEE:S ANI) SERVlCE:S 

The infonnation regarding our principal accounting fees and services required by Item 9(e) of Schedule 14A will be presented under the headings "Principal Accounting 
Fees and Services" and "Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors" in our Proxy Statement, which 
information is incorporated by reference herein. 
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PART IV 

ITEM IS. EXHWrrs AND F(NANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) Documents F iled as Part of this Annual Report: 

I. Financial Statements. 

See "Item 8- Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." 

2. Financial Statement Schedules. 

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto. 

3. List of Exhibits. 

Exhibit Number 

3.1.1 

3.1.2 

3.2 

4.1* 

10.1 

10.2 

10.2.1 

10.2.2 

10.2.3 

10.2.4 

10.3t 

I0.4t 

Description 

Amended and Restated Certificate oflncomoration ofMRC Global Inc dated Aoril I I 2012 Oncomorated by reference to Exhibit 3 I to the 
Current Report on Fonn 8-K filed with the SEC on April 17 2012 File No. 001-35479). 

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of lncorooration of MRC Globallne. dated May 13, 2024 Oncomorated by 
reference to Exh ibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Amended and Restated Bvlaws of MRC Global Inc. dated November 3 2023. ()ncomorated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Form 10-0 for the 
quarter ended September 30.2023. filed with the SEC on November 8. 2023. File No. 00!-35479). 

Description of Securities of Registrant. 

Fifth Amended and Restated Loan Security and Guarantee Agreement dated as of November 12 2024 among MRC Global (US) Inc. MRC 
Global Manaoement Company and MRC Global Services Company LLC as U.S. Borrowers and Guarantors MRC Global Inc. and MRC Global 
Canada Holdings (US) Inc. as guarantors MRC Global Australia Pty Ltd. as Australian Borrower MRC Global (Belgium) NV as Beloian 
Borrower MRC Global (Canada) ULC as Canadian Borrower MRC Global <Netherlands) B.V. as Dutch Borrower MRC Global Norwav AS as 
Norwegian Borrower MRC Global (UK) Limited, as UK Borrower. the other borrowers from time to time partv thereto, certain financial 
institutions as lenders and Bank of America N.A. as Administrative Agent Secmity Trustee and Collateral Agent and BOFA Securities Inc. as 
Lead Arranger and Book Manager. ()ncoroorated bv reference to Exhibit I 0. I to the Current Report on Fonn 8-K filed with the SEC on 

Novcmb''f 12,2024, File No. 001-35479). 

Term Loan Credit Aoreement dated as of October 29 2024 among MRC Global CUS) Inc. as the Borrower MRC Global Inc. MRC Global 
Management Company. MRC Global Services Company LLC and MRC Global Cannda Holdings (US) Inc .. collect ivclv, as the Guarantors, 
certain financial institutions party the·reto as lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank N .A. as Administrative Agent and Collateral 

Agent. Qncomoratcd by reference to Exhibit 10.1 the Cll!Tent Report on Fom18-K filed with the SEC on October 30 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Tenn Loan Guarantee dated as of October ?9 2024 among each of the signatories listed on the signature pages thereto and each of the o ther 
entities that becomes a party thereto. collectively, as Guarantors, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A .. as Administrative Agent. Oncomorated bv 

reference to Exhibit 10.2 the Current Rcoort on Fonn8-K filed with the SEC on October 30 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Security Agreement. dated as of October 29,2024, among MRC Global Inc .. MRC Global (US) Inc .. and the Term Loan Agent MRC Global 

Management Company MRC Global Services Company LLC and MRC Global Canada Holdings CUS) Inc. collectively as Grantors and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as Collateral Agent. Oncomorated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 the Current Report Oil Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC 
on Octob''f 30.2024, File No. 001-35479). 

Tenn Loan Pledge Aoreement dated as of October 29 ?0?4 amono MRC Global lne. MRC G lobal CUS) Inc. and the Tem1 Loan Agent MRC 
Global Management Company, MRC Global Services Company l.I .C and MRC Global Canada Holdings (US) Inc., collectivelv, as !lledgors. and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent. Oncomornted by reference to Exhibit 10.4 the Current Report Oil Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC 
on October 30 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Intercreditor Agt·eemcnt. dated as of October 29, 2024, among MRC Global Inc., MRC Global (US) Inc .. and the Term Loan Agent MRC Global 
Management Company MRC Global Services Companv LLC and MRC Global Canada lloldings (US) Inc. collectivelv the ABL Agent in its 
capacity as Revolving Credit Collateral AQent and the Tenn Loan Agent in its capacity as Tenn Colla tern! Agent . Oncornorated by reference 

to Exhibit 10.6 the Current Rcoort on Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC on October 30 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement. dated as of August 4, 2023, between MRC Global Inc. and Robert James Saltiel, Jr. 

Cincoroorated by reference to Exhibit J 0.1 of the Fom1 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 2023 filed with the SEC on August 8 2023 File No. 
001-35479). 

Amended and Restated Emplovment Agreement dated as of Auoust 4 20?3 between MRC Global Inc. and Kelly Youngblood (Jncomorated 

by reference to Exhibit I 0.2 oft he Form 10-0 ior the quarter ended June 30 2023 Jiled with the SEC on August 8 2023 File No. 001-354 79). 
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Exhibit Numbe•· 

10.5t 

10.6*1 

10.6It 

10.6.2t 

10.6.3*t 

I064t 

10.6St 

10.6.6*t 

10.7f 

I07.It 

I0.8*f 

10.91 

10.10 

19.1 * 

2 1.1 * 

23.1 * 

3 1.1* 

3 1.2* 

32** 

Oesc•·iption 

Executive Separation Policy dated August 4 2023 Oncomoratcd by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 
2023 filed with the SEC on August& 2023 File No. 001 -35479). 

Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan. 

Form of Perfonnance Share Unit Award Agreement (for grants in 2023> Clncomorated by reference to Exhibit I 0. 1 to Fonn 8-K filed with the SEC 
on Februarv 9 2023. File No. 00 1-35479) 

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement (for grants in 2024) Clncomorated by reference to Exhibit I 0. 1 to Fonn 8-K filed with the SEC 
on February 13 2024 File No. 001 -35479). 

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement (for grants in 2025). 

Fonn of Restricted Stock Unit Award Aoreement (for grants in 20?3) Oncomorated by reference to foxhibit 10.6.11 to Fonn 10-K ofMRC Global 
Inc. for the year ended December 31 2022 filed with the SEC on Febntary 14 2023 File No. 001-35479). 

Fonn of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for grants in 20?4) (lncomorated by refere11ce to Exhibit 10.6.13 to Fonn I 0-K for the vear 
ended December 31 2023 filed with the SEC on Fcbm,ry 16 2024 File No. 001-35479). 

Fo1m ofRestrietcd Stock Unit Award Agreement (for grants in 2025). 

Director Compensation Plan Oncomorated bv reference to Exhibit I 0.11 to Form I 0-K for the year ended December 31 ?0 17 filed with the SEC 
on Fehmary 16 2018 File No. 001-35479). 

Exhibit A to the Director Compensation Plan Oncomorated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Fonn 8-K filed with the SEC on 
May 10 2023 File No. 001-35479). 

Fonn of Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement. 

Executive Compensation Clawback Policy dated as of November I 2023. Oncornorated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Fonn 10-0 for the 
quarter ended September 30 2023 filed with the SEC on November 8 ?0?3 File No. 001-35479). 

Fo1m oflndemnification Agreement between MRC Global Inc. and Officers Directors and Certain Employees <Incornorated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K for the vearended December 31 2014 filed with the SEC on Febmary 20 2015 File No. 001-35479). 

Securities Trading and Disclosure Policy. 

List of Subsidiaries ofMRC Global Inc. 

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

Certification oft he Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934 as amended. and Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K. as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxl.ey Act of2002. 

Certification of the Chief f inancial Olliccr pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d- 14(a) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934. as amended. and Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K. as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002. 

Certification of I he Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Ofllcer pnrsuant to 18 U .S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of2002. 
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Exhibit Numbe•· 

100* 

101* 

IOI.SCH* 

lOI.CAL* 

IOI.DEF* 

lOI.LAB* 

IOI.PRE* 

104 

Oesc•·iption 

The loUowing financial information from MRC Global Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31,2024, formatted in 
Jnline Extensible Business Reporting Language ("IXBRL"): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, 
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the twelve-month periods ended December 31,2024,2023 and 2022, (iii) the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the twelve-month periods ended December 31,2024, 2023 and 2022, (iv) the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows for the twelve-month periods ended December 31,2024,2023 and 2022, (v) the Consolidated Statements of 
Stockholders' Equity for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements . 

Interactive data file. 

lnline XBRL Lnstance Document. 

Lnline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema. 

lnline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase. 

lnline X BRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase. 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase. 

lnline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase. 

The cover page from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 ,2024 fonnatted in lnline XBRL and 
contained in Exhibit 101. 

t Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be posted as an exhibit to this report. 
*Filed herewith. 
**Furnished herewith. 

ITEM16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

None. 
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S IGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized. 

MRC GLOBAL lNC. 

By: l si RoBERT J. SALTIEL, JR. 

Robert J. Saltiel, Jr. 
P•·esident and Chief Executive Officer 

Date : March 14, 2025 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the 
capacity and on the dates indicated. 

Signature 

l si ROBERT J. SAl. TIEL, JR. 

Rober t J . Saltiel, Jr·. 

l si J<ELLYYOUNGBLOOD 

Kelly Youngblood 

l si GLLIAN ANDERSON 

G illia n Anderson 

l si DEBORAH G. ADAMS 

Deborah G. Adams 

l si LEONARD M. ~'iTHONY 

Leonard M. Anthony 

Is! HENRY CORNELL 

Henry Cornell 

l si GEORGE J. DAM~RJS 
George J . Damiris 

Is/ DAVID A. HAGER 

David A. Hager 

f sl RONALD L. JADIN 

Ronald L. Jadin 

lsi Dr. Anne McEntee 

Dr. Anne McEntee 

/sf DANIEl SILVERS 

Daniel Silver s 

Title 

f>resident and Chief Executive Officer 
(principal executive officer) 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(principal financial officer) 

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer 
(principal accounting ofllccr) 

Chairman 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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Date 

Ma·rch 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

Ma·I'Ch 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

Ma·rch 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 

March 14, 2025 
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MAi'IAGE)MENT'S REPORT ON IN1ERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

MRC Global Inc.'s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such tennis defined in Rules 13a-
15(1) and 15d-15(1) under the Exchange Act, as amended. The Company's intemal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in ac-cordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Intemal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. lntemal 
control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human 
failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of these limitations, there is a risk 
that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis by intemal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent 
limitations are known features of the financ.ial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. 

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled "Intemal Control- Integrate d Framework" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
("COSO") of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company' s intemal corllrol over financial repot1ing. Based on this 
assessment, management has identified a material weakness regarding the operating effectiveness of the Company' s inventory cycle count control of our North 
American inventory for the year ended December 31, 2024. Specifically, the Company fai led to consistently reflect counted quantities from the cycle counts into the 
inventory perpetual system which resulted in the failure to record identified cycle count adjustments. The material weakness did not result in any material misstatements 
to the Company's consolidated financial s tatements. As a result of this material weakness, management detennined tlhat our intemal control over financial reporting was 
not effective as of December 31,2024. 

Because of this material weakness, to confim1 the existence of the Company' s inventory balance on its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company perfonned physical inventory counts at certain locations subsequent to December 31, 2024 and reconciled its inventory balances back to the year ended 
December 31, 2024 inventory balances. 

Rcmcdintion Plan for the Material \Veakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

To address the material weakness, management of the Company has planned the following remediation program to enhance the operating effectiveness of its inventory 
cycle count control: 

• 
The Company will hire additional resources with expertise to oversee inventory management and develop improved monitoring capabilities related to the cycle 
count process; 

• 
• 

The Company will engage a cousulting fim1 with supply chain expertise to review and provide reconm1endations to improve our process; 

The Company will enhance its training program for operational leaders and warehouse staff on our cycle count process; 

• 
The Company also expects to implement a new modem cloud-based ERP system by the end of2025, that is expected to provide additional controls and 
improved monitoring capabilities compared to our current mainframe ERP system. 

The Company nntic ipntes the notions described nbove nnd resulting improvements in the operating effectiveness of the cycle count control will strengthen the 
Company's processes and procedures and will address the related material weakness described above. However, the material weakness cam10t be considered fully 
remediated until the remediation processes have been in operat ion for a period of time and successfully tested. 

Emst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting finn that audited the Company's consolidated financial statements included in this Fom1 10-K, has 
issued an attestation report on the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Em st & Young LLP's attestallon report on the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting is included in this Form 10-K. 

/ s/ RoBERT J. SAL TIEL, JR. 

Robert J . Saltiel, Jr·. 
J>resident and C hief Executive Officer 

/ s/ l<ELLY Y OUNGBLOOD 

Kelly Youngblood 
Executive Vice Pr·esident and Chief Finamrcial Officer 

Houston, Texas 
March 14,2025 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBUC ACCOUNTING FlRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of MRC Global Inc. 

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

We have audited MRC Global Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, because of the 
effect of the material weakness described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, MRC Global Inc. (the Company) has not maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria. 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal cQntrol over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness bas been 
identified and included in management' s assessment. Management has identified a material weakness regarding the operating effectiveness of the Company's inventory 
cycle count control of its North American inventory for the year ended December 3 1, 2024. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), tbe consolidated balance sheets 
of the Company as of December 31, 2024 a nd 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period e·nded December 31, 2024, and the related notes. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing and 
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2024 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 14, 2025, which expressed 
an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financia l reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company' s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U .S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exch ange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether effec-rive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in a11 material respects. 

O ur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluMing the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and perform;ng such other proced.ures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We ibelieve !hal our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company' s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that ( 1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fai rly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial sta tements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financ ial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of a ny evaluation of effectiveness 
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. 

Is/ Emst & Young LLP 

Houston, Texas 
March 14,2025 
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REI>QRT OF INDEI>ENDENT REGISfEREO PUBLIC ACCOUNU NG FlRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors ofMRC Global Inc. 

O pinion on the Fioundal Stutcmcots 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofMRC Global Tnc. (the Company) as of December :3 1,2024 and 2023, the related consolidated 
statements of operalions, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Dec~·mber 31, 2024, and the 
related notes (collectively referred to as tbe "consolidated financial statements")_ In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and i·ts cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control 
over financial repor1ing as of December 31,2024, based on criteria established in Internal Contro l- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated March 14, 2025,expressed an adverse opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial state ments are the responsibility of the Company's management Our responsibi lity is to express an opinion on the Company' s financial statements 
based on our audits. We are a public accounting fim1 registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the 
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable mles and regulations o f the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included perfonning procedures to assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Su.ch procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regat·ding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting princ iples 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentat ion of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis foe our opinion. 

Ct•itical Audit Matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be 
communicated to the audit committee and that: ( I) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially 
challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

LIFO in ventory wlluation 

Description of the Matter At December 31, 2024, the Company's inventory balance was £415 million, of which $335 million was held in the U.S. As discussed in Notes I 
and 5 to the con solidated financial statements, the Company's U.S. inventories are stated at the lower of cost, us in g the last-in, first-ou t (LIFO) 
method, or market. The Company maintains its inventory accounting records on a weighted-average cost basis a.nd adjusts U.S. inven.tory and 
cost of goods sold from weighted-average cost to LIFO at period end. 

Auditing the adj ustment of U.S. inventory and cost of goods sold from weighted-average cost to Ll f'O was complex due to the use of multiple 
inllation indices across various product categories within the Company U.S. inventory balance .. 

How We Addressed the We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company' s controls over its process to 
Matter in Our Audit adjust U.S. inventory and cost of goods sold from weighted-average cost to LIFO. 

/s/ Emst & Young LLP 

To test the Llf'O inventory balance, we perfonned audit procedures that included, among others, assessing methodologies and testing the 
underlying data used to adjust the weighted-average cost inventory balances to UFO. We a lso tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
Company' s calculations. 

We have served as the Company' s auditor since 2007. 

Houston, Texas 
March 14, 2025 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
MRC GLOBAL INC. 
(in millions, except shares) 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash 
Accoun ts receivable, net 

Inventories, net 
Other current ass.ets 
Current assets of discontinued operations 

Total current assets 

Long-term assets : 
Operating lease assets 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Other assets 
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations 

Intangible assets : 
Goodwill, net 

Other intangible assets, net 

Total assets 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Current liabilities: 

Trade accounts payable 
Accmed expenses and other current liabilities 
Operating lease liabilities 
Current portion of debt obligations 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 

Total current liabilities 

Long-term obligations: 
Long-term debt 
Operating lease liabilities 
Deferred income !axes 
Other liabilities 
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations 

Commitments and contingencies 

6.5% Series A Convertible Perpetual Prefe rred Stock, $0.0 I par value; authorized no and 363,000 shares, respectively; no 
and 363,000 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 

Stockholders' equity: 
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share: 500 million shares authorized, I 09,460,293 and I 08,531,564 issued, 
respectively 
Additional paid-in capital 
Retained deficit 
Treasury stock at cost: 24,216,330 shares 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 
Total stockholders' equity 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 

See notes to consolidatedfinoncial staremenrs. 
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2024 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 

63 $ 
378 
415 

29 
36 

921 

170 
89 
37 

2023 

131 
410 
511 
34 
69 

1,155 

196 
77 
21 
10 

264 264 
143 163 

1,624 .;.s _____ I.;.;.,ss.;.;.6 

329 $ 340 
124 100 

31 32 
3 292 

21 19 
508 783 

384 9 
153 179 
35 45 
28 20 

7 

355 

I 

1,779 1,768 
(652) (678) 
(375) (375) 
(237) (228) 
516 488 

1,624 $ 1,886 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
MRC GLOBAL INC. 
(in millions, except per share amounts) 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Sales $ 3,011 $ 3,266 $ 3,197 
Cost of sales 2,391 2,596 2,613 
Gross profit 620 670 584 

Selling, general and. administrative expenses 485 482 449 
Operating income 135 188 135 

Other (expense) income: 
Interest expense (26) (32) (24) 

Other, net (4) (2) (6) 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 105 154 105 
Income tax expense from continuing operations 27 39 35 
Net income from continuing operations 78 115 70 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (23) (I) 5 
Net income 55 114 75 
Series A preferred stock dividends 20 24 24 
Loss on repurchase and retirement of preferred stock 9 

Net income attributable to common stockholders 26 $ 90 $ 51 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share: 
Income from continued operations $ 0.58 s 1.08 $ 0.55 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $ (0.27) $ (0.01) $ 0.06 
Basic earnings per common share $ 0.31 $ 1.07 $ 0.61 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share: 
Income from continued operations $ 0.57 $ 1.06 $ 0.54 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $ (0.27) s (0.01) $ 0.06 
Diluted earnings per common share $ 0.30 s 1.05 $ 0.60 

Weighted-average common shares, basic 85.1 84.2 83.5 
Weighted-average com.mon shares, diluted 86.6 85.5 84.9 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

MRC GLOBAL INC. 

(in millions) 

Net income from continuing operations 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax 
Net income 

Other comprehensive (loss) income 
Foreign currency translation adj ustments 
Hedge accounting adjustments, net of tax 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax 

Comprehensive income 

See notes to consolidated financial statemenls. 

2024 
$ 78 

(23) 
$ 55 

(9) 

(9) 

$ 46 
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Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 

$ 115 $ 70 
(1) 5 

$ 114 $ 75 

3 (5) 

(1) 6 
2 I 

$ 116 $ 76 
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CONSOLIDA1ED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
MRC GLOBAL INC. 
(in millions) 

Accumulated 
Additional Other Total 

Common Stock Paid-in Retnincd Trcnsury Stock Comprehensive Stockh olders' 
Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Sha•-cs Amount (Loss) Equity 

Balance at December 3 I, 2021 106 $ $ 1,747 $ (819) (24) $ (375) $ (231) s 323 
Net income 75 75 
Foreign currency translation (5) (5) 
Hedge accounting adjustments 6 6 
Vesting of restricted stock 2 
Shares withheld for taxes (2) (2) 

Equity-based compensation expense 13 13 
Dividends declared on preferred stock (24) (24) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 108 $ $ 1,758 s (768) (24) $ (375) $ (230) $ 386 
Net income 114 114 
Foreign currency translation 3 3 
Hedge accounting adjustments (I) (l) 
Vesting of restricted stock 
Shares withheld for taxes (4) (4) 
Equity-based compensation expense 14 14 

Dividends declared on preferred stock (24) (24) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 109 $ $ 1,768 $ (678) (24) $ (375) $ (228) s 488 
Net income 55 55 
Foreign currency translation (9) (9) 
Shares withheld for taxes (5) (5) 
Equity-based compensation expense 16 16 

Divid~ml~ d~~htrc:d \lo pr~f~rr~d ~~~~~k (ZO) (ZO) 
Loss on repurchase of preferred stock (9) (9) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 109 $ $ 1,779 s (652) (24) $ (375) $ (237) $ 516 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
MRC GLOBAL INC. 
(in millions) 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Operating activities 
Net income from continuing operations $ 7.8 $ 115 $ 70 
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash provided by 
(used in) continuing operations: 

Depreciation and amortization 2 1 19 18 
Amortization of intangibles 1'9 21 21 
Equity-based compensation expense 16 14 13 
Deferred income tax benefit (8) (7) (7) 
(Decrease) increase in LIFO reserve (2) 2 66 
Foreign currency losses 5 3 8 
Other non-cash items 7 3 (5) 
Changes in opera ting assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 25 57 (124) 
Inventories 90 15 (185) 
Other current assets (3) (9) 

Accounts payable (10) (47) 86 
Accmed expenses and other current liabilities 27 (15) 33 

Operating cash flows from continuing operations 268 m (15) 
Operating cash flows from discontinued operations 8 4 (5) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 276 181 (20) 

Investing activities 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (28) (14) (I I ) 

Proceeds from the d isposition of property, plant and equipment 

Other investing activities 1 
Investing c.ash flow s from continuing operations (27) (13) (11) 
Investing cash flows from discontinued operations (1 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities (27) (14) (11) 

Fina ncing activities 
Payments on revolv;ng credit facilities (44'9) (882) (779) 
Proceeds from revolving credit facilities 484 847 824 
Payments on debt obligations (295) (3) (2) 

Proceeds from term loan 34 8 
Debt issuance costs paid (7) (I) 
Repurchase of preferred stock (365) 
Dividends paid on preferred stock (23) (24) (24) 
Repurchases of shares to satisfy tax with'holdings (5) (4) (2) 
Other financing activities (2) 

Financing cash flows from continuing operations (314) (67) 17 
Financing cash nows from discontinued operations 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (314) (67) 17 

(Decrease) increase in c.ash (65) 100 (14) 
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash (3) (I) (2) 

Cash beginning of year 13 1 32 48 
Cash end of year s 63 $ 131 $ 32 

Supplementul cash flow infonn:ttion: 
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest $ 18 $ 33 $ 21 
Cash paid for income taxes 40 55 35 

Supplemental non...,ash transactions: 
Equity-based compensation expense capitalized to software development costs $ 1 $ $ 
Change in accrued purchases of property, plant and equipment s 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
MRC GLOBAL INC. 
December 31, 2024 

NOTE 1-SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Business Operation s: MRC Global Inc. is a holding company headquartered in Houston, Texas. Our wholly owned subsidiaries are global distributors of pipe, valves, 
fi ttings ("PVF") and infrastructure products and services across each of the following sectors: 

• Gas Utilities: gas utilities (storage and distribution of natural gas) 
• I)IEJ': downstream, industrial and energy transition (cmde oil refining, petrochemical and chemical processing, general industrials and energy transition p rojects) 
• PTI: production and transmission infrastructure (exploration, production and extraction, gathering, processing and transmission of oil and gas) 

We have service centers in industrial, chemical, gas distribution and hydrocarbon producing and refining areas throughout the United States, Europe, Asia, Aus tralasia 
and the Middle East . We obtain products from a broad range of suppliers. 

Basis of l'resentntion: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MRC Global Inc. and its wholly owned and majority owned 
subsidiaries (collect ively referred to as the "Company" or by such tenns as "we," "our" or " us"). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

On December 13, 2024, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our Canada operations to EMCO Corporation, and on March 14,2025, we completed the sale. The 
historical results of the Canada segment bave been reflected as discontinued operations in our audited consolidated financial statements for all periods prior to the 
definitive agreement. As a result of the sa le, a pre-tax, non-cash loss on discontinued operations of approximately $22 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2024. 
Assets and liabilities associated with the Canada segment are classified as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations in our audited Consolidated Balance Sheets 
as of December 3 1, 2024 and 2023. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of assets and assumption of liabilities associated with our Canada operations are provided 
in Note 2. 

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in CO·nformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requia·es us to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fin ancial 
statements and the ~eported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. We believe that our most significant estimates and assumptions are 
associated with the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") inventory costing methodology, estimating net realizable value on excess and obsolete inventories, goodwill, indefinite­
lived intangible assets, realizability of deferred taxes and self-insurance programs. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 

Cash Equivalents: We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents . 

Allowance for C o·cdit Losses: We evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses on receivables based upon periodic evaluation of accounts that may have a 
higher credit risk using infonnation available about the customer and other relevant data . This fom1al analysis is inherently subjective and requires us to make 
significant estimates of factors affecting credit losses including customer specific infonnation, current economic conditions, volume, growth and composition of the 
account, and other factors such as financ;ai statements, news reports and published credit ratings. The amount of the allowance lor the remainder of the trade balance is 
not evaluated individually but is based upon historical loss experience. Because this process is subjective and based on estimates, ultimate losses may differ fro m those 
estimates. Receivable balances are written off when we detennine that the balance is uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance when 
received. The provis ion for credit losses is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Inventories: Our U.S. inventories of $335 million and $411 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are valued at the lower of cost, principally LIFO, or market. 
We believe that the use of LIFO results in a better matching of costs and revenue. Inventories held outside of the U.S. of $80 million and $100 million at December 3 1, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, are valued at the lower of weighted-average cost or net realizable value. Our inventory is substantially comprised of finished goods. 

Reserves for excess and obsolete inventories are determined based on analyses comparing inventories on hand to his torical sales activity. The reserve, which totaled 
$15 million and $15 million at December 3 L, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is the amount deemed necessary to reduce the cost of the inventory to its estimated net realizable 
value. 

t>I'Onerl\', Plant and Eguinment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cQst. Depreciation is provided using the estimated useful lives of such assets principally 
by the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease tenn or tbe estimated useful life 
of the improvements. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciatio:n are removed from the accounts and any gain or 
loss is reflected in income for the period. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 

Certain systems development costs related to the purchase, development and installation of computer solhvare are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful 
life of the related asset. Software development costs consist of certain payroll and equity-based compensation costs incurred to develop functionality of our internal­
use software solutions. We capitalize certain software development costs for new offerings as well as significant upgrades and enhancements to our existing software 
solutions. We do not transfer ownership of our software, license, or lease our software to third parties. Costs incurred prior to the development stage, as well as 
m<tintcmmcc, tntining costs ami gcncntl <tml administnllivc expenses arc c11penscd as incurred. 
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are tested for impainnent annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that impaim1ent may exist. We evaluate goodwill for impairment at 
the reporting unit level. Within each reporting unit, we have elected to aggregate the componen t countries and regions into a single reportung unit based on their similar 
economic characteristics, products, customers, suppliers, methods of distribution and the mann.er in which we operate each reporting unit. We perform our annual tests 
for goodwill impaim1ent as of October I of each year, updating on an interim basis should indications of impaim1ent exist. Our arumal impairment test may be perfonned 
utililing either a qualitative or quantitative assessment; however, if a qualitative assessment is performed and we detennine that the fair value of a reporting unit is more 
likely than not (i.e. a likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less than its carrying amount, a quantitative test is perfom1ed. 

The goodwill impainnenttest compares the carrying value of the reporting unit that has the goodwill with the estimat-ed fair value of that reporting unit. To the extent the 
carrying value of a reporting unit is greate r than its estimated fair value, a goodwill impainnent charge is recorded for the difference, up to the carrying value of goodwill. 
Our impairment methodology uses discounted cash flow and multiples of cash earnings valuation techniques, acquis.ition control premium and valuation comparisons to 
similar businesses. Each of these methods involves Level 3 unobservable market inputs and requires us to make certain assumptions and estimates regarding future 
operating results, th.e extent and timing of ful\lfe cash flows, working capital, s.ales prices, pro fitability, discount rates and growth trends. While we believe that such 
assumptions and estimates are reasonable , the actual results may differ materially from the projected results. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate that impainuent may exist. Similar to 
goodwill, our annual impairment test may be performed utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative assessment; however, if a qualitative assessment is performed and we 
determine that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is more likely than (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less than its carrying amount, a 
quantitative test is perfom1ed. This test compares the carrying value of the inde finite-lived intangible assets with thei~ estimated fair value. If the carrying value is more 
than the estimated fair value, impairment losses are recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fai·r value. Our impairment 
methodology uses discounted cash flow and estimated royalty rate valuation techniques. Each of these methods involves Level 3 unobservable market inputs and 
requires us to make certain assumptions a nd estimates regarding future operating results, sales prices, discount rates and growth trends. While we believe that such 
assumptions and estimates are reasonable, the actual results may differ materially from the projected results. 

Other intangible assets primarily include trade names and customer bases resulting from business acquisitions. Other intangible assets are recorded at fair value at the 
date of acquisition. Amortization is provided using the straight- line method over their estimated usef11l lives, ranging from two years to twenty years. 

l11e carrying value of amortizable intangible assets is subject to an impairment test when events or circumstances indicate a possible impajrment. When events or 
circumstances indicate a possible impairment, we assess recoverability from future operat ions using undiscounted cash flows derived from the lowest appropriate asset 
group. If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impainnent charge would be recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the fair value, 
which is detem1ined based on a discounted cash flow analysis. While we believe that assumptions and estimates utilized in the impairment analysis are reasonable, the 
actual results may djffer materially from the projected results . These impaim1ents are determined prior to performing our goodwill impairment test. 

n Privntiv.::•s Hncl HPdging: From time to time) we utili7e intere~1 rat.e ~wap~ t.o reduce our expn~ure to potential interest rate increa~e~. We have de~ign::rled nur intere~t 

rate swap as an effective cash flow hedge utili l ing the guidance under Accounting Standards Update "ASU" 2017- 12 . As such, the valuatjon of the interest rate swap is 
recorded as an asset or liability, and the gain or loss on the derivative is recorded as a component of other comprehensive income. Interest rate swap agreements are 
reported on the accompanying balance sheets at fair value utilizing observable Level 2 inputs such as yield curves and other market-based factors. We obtain dealer 
quotations to value our interest rate swap agreements. The fair value of our interest rate swap is estimated based on the present value of the difference between 
expected cash flows calculated at the contracted interest rates a nd the expected cash flows at current market interest rates. 

We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts (exchange contracts) and options to manage our foreign exchange rate risks resulting from purchase commitments and 
sales orders. Changes in the fair values of our exchange contracts are based upon independent market quotes. We do not designate our exchange contracts as hedging 
instruments; therefore, we record our exchange contracts on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value, with the gains and losses recogoiled in earnings in the period 
o f change. 
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Faio· Value: We measure certain of our assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received 
to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that is 
detennined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. A three-tier fair value hierarchy is established as a basis for 
considering these assumptions for inputs used in the valuation methodologies for measuring fair value: 

Level 1: Q uoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity bas the ability to access at the measurement date. 

Level 2: Significant observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for t'he asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, 
such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that arc observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data. 

Level 3: Signi ficant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability . Unobservable inputs reflect our own assumptions about the assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability (including all assumptions about risk). 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Our assets and l iabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include property, 
plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets. We do not measure these assets at fair value on an ongoing basis; however, these assets are subject to fair 
value adjustments io certain circumstances, such as when we recognize an in1painnent. 

Our impairment methodology for goodwill and other indefinite -lived intangible assets uses both (i) a discounted casb flow analysis requiring certain assumptions and 
estimates to be mad.e regarding the extent and timing of future cash flows, discount rates and growth trends and (ii) valuation based on our publicly traded common 
stock. As all of the assumptions employed to measure these as.-sets and liabilities on a nonrecurring basis are based on management's judgment using internal and 
extemal data, these fair value detem1inations are classified as Level3. We have not elected to apply the fair value option to any of our eligible financial assets and 
liabilities. 

Insurance: We are sel f-insured for U.S. employee healthcare as well as physical damage to automobiles that we own, lease or rent, and product warranty and recall 
liabilities. In addition, we maintain a deductible/retention program as it relates to insurance for property, inventory, workers' compensation, automobile liability , asbestos 
claims with exposure claimed or occurring prior to 1994, general liability claims (including, among others, certain product liability claims for property damage, death or 
injury) and cybersecurity claims. These programs have deductibles and self-insured retentions ranging up to $6 million and are secured by various letters of cre<lit 
totaling $5 million. Our estimated liability and related expenses for claims are based in part upon estimates that insurance carriers, third-pa.-ty administrators and 
actuaries provide. Vole believe that insurance reserves are sufficient to cover outstanding claims, including those incurred but not reported as of the estimation date. 
Further, we maintain commercially reasonable umbrella/excess policy coverage in excess of the primary limits. We do not have excess coverage for physical damage to 
automobiles that we own, lease or rent, and product warranty and recall liabilities. Our accmed liabilities related to deductiblesfretentions under insurance programs 
(other than employee healthcare) were $7 million and $8 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. In the area of employee healthcare, we have a commercially reasonable 
excess stop loss p.-otection on a per person per year basis . Reserves for self-insurance accmed liabilities for employee healthcare were $3 million and $2 million as 
of December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Income Taxes: We account for our income taxes under the liabi lity method using currently enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax 
assets is established. when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

In determining the need for valuation allowances and our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, we consider and make judgments regarding all the available positive 
and negative evideotce, including the timing of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, estimated future taxable income, ongoing, pmdent and feasible tax planning 
strategies and recen.t financial results of operations. The amount of valuation allowances, however, could be adjusted in the future if objective negative evidence in the 
fom1 of cumulative losses is no longer present in certain jurisdictions and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth. 

O ur tax provision is based upon our expected taxable income a.nd statutory rates in effect in each country in which we operate. We are subject to the jurisdiction of 
numerous domestic and foreign tax authorities, as well as to tax agreements and treaties among these governments. Detennination of taxable income in any jurisdiction 
requires the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and the use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future events such as the amount, 
timing and character of deductions, permissible revenue recognition methods under the tax law and the sources and character of income and tax credits . Changes in tax 
laws, regulations, agreements and treaties, foreign currency exchange restrictions or our level of operations or profitability in each taxing j urisdiction could have an 
impact on the amount of income taxes we provide during any g iven year. 

A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including any related 
appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits. We adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new 
information not previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different 
from our current estimate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which the new 
information is available. We classifY interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions as income taxes in our financial statements . 

F-11 



Table of Contents 

Fm·eign Cul'l'encv Translation and Transactions: The functional currency of our foreign operations is the applicable local currency. TI1e cumulative effects of 
translating the balance sheet accounts fro m the functional currency into the U.S. dollar at current exchange rates are included in accumulated other comprehens ive 
income. The balance sheet accounts (with the exception of stockholders' equity) are translated using current exchange rates as of the balance sheet date. Stockb olders' 
equity is translated at historical exchange rates and revenue and expense accounts arc translated using a weighted-average exchange rate during the year. Gains or 
losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Egyjty-Based Compensation: Our equity-based compensation consists of restricted stock units, restricted stock awa~ds, performance share unit awards and 
nonqualified stock options. The cost of employee services received in exchange for an award o f an equity instrument is measured based on the grant-date fair value of 
the award. Equity-based compensation cost is measured at the grant-dale fair value of the award and is recognized over the shorter of the vesting period or the 
remaining requisite service period. Restricted stock units and restricted stock awards are credited to equity as they are expensed over thei:r vesting periods based on the 
grant date value of the shares vested. The lair value of nonqualified stock options is measured on the grant date of the related equity instrument us ing the Black­
Scholes option-pricing model. A Monte Carlo simulation is com pleted to estimate the fair value of perfonnance share unit awards with a stock price perfonnance 
component. 

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue when we transfer control of promised goods or services to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. We generally recognize our revenue when products are shipped or delivered to our customers, 
and payment is due from our customers at the time of billing with a majority of our customers having 30-day terms. We estimate and record returns as a reduction of 
revenue. Amounts received in advance of shipment are deferred and recognized when the performance obligations are satisfied. Sales taxes collected from customers 
and remitted to govenunental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and, therefore, we exclude these taxes from sales in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations. In some cases, particularly with third party pipe shipments, we consider shipping and handling costs to be separate performance obligations, 
and as such, we record the revenue and cost of sales when the performance obligation is ful filled. Our contracts with customers ordinarily involve performance 
obligations that are -one year or less. Therefore, we have applied the optional exemption that permits the omission of infom1a!ion about our unfulfilled perfom1ancc 
obligations as of the balance sheet dates. While a small proport ion of our sales, we occasionally recognize revenue under a bill and hold arrangement. Recognition of 
revenue on bill and hold arrangements occurs when control transfers to the customer provided that the reason for the bill and hold arrangement is substantive, the 
product is separately identified as belong ing to the customer, ready for physical transfer and unavailable to be used or directed to another customer. 

Cost of Sales: Cost of sales includes the cost of inventory sold and related items, such as vendor rebates, inventory allowances and reserves, shipping and handling 
costs associated with inbound and outbound freight, as well as depreciation and amortization and amortization of intangible assets. Certain purchasing costs and 
warehousing activities (including receiving, inspection and stocking costs), as well as general warehousing expenses, are inc luded in selling, general and admin istrative 
expenses and not in cost of sales . 

Earn in as per Sha1·e: Basic earnings per s hare are computed based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, excluding any dilutive effects of 
unexercised stock options, unvested restr icted stock awards, unvested restricted stock unit awards, unvested perfonnance share unit awards, and any outstanding 
shares of preferred stock. Diluted earnings per share are computed based on the weighted-average number of conunon shares outstanding including any dilutive effect 
of unexercised stock options, unvested restricted stock awards, unvested restr icted stock unit awards, unvested perfonnance share unit awards, and any outstanding 
shares of preferred s tock. The dilutive effect of unexercised stock options is calculated under tl!!e treasury stock method. Equity awards and shares of preferred stock are 
disregarded in !he calculations of diluted earnings per share if they are de!em1incd to be an!i-dilulive. 

Concentl'ation of Credit Risk: In the nonnal course of business, we grant credit to customers in the form of trade accounts receivable. These receivables could 
potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk; however, we minimize this risk by closely monitoring extensions of trade credit. We generally do not require 
collateral on trade receivables. We have a broad customer base doing business in many regions of the world. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
no customer represented more than 10% of the Company's total sales. At those respective year-ends, no individual customer balances exceeded I 0% of accounts 
receivable. 

We have a broad supplier base, sourcing our products in most ,-egions of the world. During the years ended Decembe r 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we did not have 
purchases from any one vendor in excess of 10% of our inventory purchases. At those respecli.ve year-ends, no individual vendor balance exceeded 10% of accounts 
payable. 

We maintain the majority of our cash and cash equivalents with several financial institutions. These financial institutions are located in many different geographical 
regions with varying economic characteristics and risks. Deposits held with banks may exceed insuranc·e limits. We believe the risk of loss associated with our cash 
equivalents to be remote. 

Recently Issued Accountina Standards: In November2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting 
Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses ("ASU 2024-03"), which requires public 
entities to include more detailed disclosures about speci fic categories of expenses such as inventory purchases, employee compensation , depreciation, amortization and 
selling costs within the notes to the financial statements. This update will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim periods within 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. We are currently evaluating the impacts of the provisions of ASU 2024-03 on our consolidated financial statements . 

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (fopic 740) (" ASU 2023-09"), which aims to enhance the 
transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures through requiring improvements in those disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and 
income taxes paid information. This update will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. We are currently evaluating the impacts of the 
provisions of ASU 2023-09 on our consolidlt!l:d fimmci~l sl~lcmcnls. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standards: In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) ("ASU 2023-07"), which improves reportable 
segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker 
("CODM"). This update will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. 
This accounting standard update, which we adopted as ofDeccn1bcr 31,2024, did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 16 
for f11rther information on our segments. 
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NOTE 2-DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

On December 13,2024, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell assets associated with our Canada operations to EMCO Corporation, and on March 14, 202:5, we 
completed the sale. The historical results of the assets to be so ld and the liabilities to be assumed (the "Disposal Group") have been reflected as discontinued 
operations in our audited consolidated financial statements for all periods prior to the definitive agreement. As a result of the sale, a pre-tax , non-cash loss on 
discontinued operations of approximately S22 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2024. Assets and liabilities associated with the Disposal Group are classified 
as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations in our audited Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

In connection with the agreement to sell the Disposal Group and effective March 14, 2025, the Company entered into a Transition Services Agreement ("TSA") under 
which the Company provides EMCO Corporation certain transition services related to operation11l systems, finance and accounting, human resources, information 
technology, treasury, data transfer services and licenses to use certain intellectual property rights. The time period in. which the transition services are provided varies 
from at closing to a period not to exceed one year from closing. 

Details of the "(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax" are as follows (in millions): 

Sales 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 

Selling, general and. administrative expenses 
Operating (loss) income 

Other, net 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations 

Pretax loss on classification as held for sale 
Total (loss) income from discontinued operations before income taxes 
Income tax benefit from discontinued operations 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax 

$ 

2024 

111 
97 
14 

17 
(3) 

(2) 

(5) 
(22) 

(27) 
(4) 

(23) 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 

$ 146 $ 166 
126 140 
20 26 

21 21 
(I) 5 

(I ) 5 

(I) 5 

$ (I) s 5 

The following table summarizes the Disposal Group assets and! liabilities classified as discontinued operations in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets (in 
millions): 

Assets 
Current assets : 

Accounts receivable, net 
Inventories, net 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Operating lease assets 
Loss recognized on classification as held for sale 
Current assets of discontinued operations 

Long-tenn assets: 
Operating lease assets 
Property, plant and equipment, net 

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Trade accounts payable 
Ac.crued expenses and other current liabilities 
Operating lease liabilities 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 

Long-term obligations: 
Operating lease liabilities 

Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations 
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December 31, December 31, 
2024 2023 

$ 19 $ 20 
30 49 

1 
8 

(22) 
$ 36 s 69 

9 
I 

$ $ 10 

$ 12 $ ~ 

1 I 
8 2 

21 $ 19 -------------- --------------

$ ~$ __________ ~7 
$ ~s ______________ 1 
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NOTE 3---REVEN!JE RECOGNITION 

Contract Balances: Variations in the timing of revenue recognition, invoicing and receipt of payment result in categories of assets and liabilities that include invoiced 
accounts receivable, uninvoiced accounts receivable, contract assets and deferred revenue (con tract liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Generally, revenue recognition and invoicing occur simultaneously as we transfer control ofpFomised goods or services to our customers. We consider contract assets 
to be a~·counts receivable when we have an unconditional right to consideration and only the passage of time is required before payment is due. In certain cases, 
particularly those involving customer-specific documentation requirements, invoicing is delayed until we are able to meet the documentation requirements. In these 
cases, we recognize a contract asset separate from accounts receivable until those requirements are met, and we are able to invoice the customer. Our contract asset 
balance associated with these requirements, as of December 31,2024 and December 31, 2023, was $18 million and $8 million, respectively. These contract asset balances 
are included within accounts receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

We record contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, when cash payments are received from customers in advance of our performance, including amounts which are 
refundable. The deferred revenue balance at December 31,2024 and December 31, 2023 was $16 million and~ million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 
2024, we recognized ~ million of the revenue that was deferred as of December 31, 2023. Deferred revenue balances are included within accrued expenses and other 
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Djsaggrs•eated Rs•n-pue: Our disaggregated revenue represents our business of selling PVF to the energy sector across each of the Gas Utilities, DIET and PTI sectors 
in each of our reportable segments. Each of our end markets and geographical reportable segments are impacted and influenced by varying factors, including 
macroeconomic environment, commodity prices, maintenance a nd capital spending and exploration and production activity. As such, we believe that this information is 
important in depicting the nature, amount, timing and uncertain ty of our contracts with customers. 

The following table presents our revenue disaggregated by revenue source (in millions): 

Year Ended Oecember3l, 

u.s. lntcmational Total 
2024: 
Gas Utilities $ 1,097 $ $ 1,098 
DrET 703 267 970 
PTI 730 213 943 

$ 2,530 $ 481 $ 3,011 

2023: 
c;,,_, l Jtilitie< $ 1,190 $ 1 $ 1,191 

DIET 790 250 1,040 
PTI 865 168 1,033 

$ 2,845 $ 421 $ 3,266 

2022: 
Gas Utilities $ 1,247 $ 1 s 1,248 
DrET 758 226 984 
PTI 818 147 %5 

2,823 $ 374 $ 3,197 

NOTE 4-ACCOUNTS RECEIVABI.E 

The roll forward of our allowance for credit losses is as follows (in millions): 

December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Beginning balance $ 3 $ 2 $ 2 
Provision 2 
Net charge-offs and other (I) 

Ending balance $ 3 s 3 $ 2 

O ur ac-counts receivable is also presented net of sales returns and allowances. Those allowances approximated Sl million at December 31, 2024, $1 million at December 
31, 2023 and less than $1 million at December 31, 2022. 
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NOTE 5-----1!\'VENTORIES 

The composition of our inventory is as follows (in millions): 

Finished goods inventory at average cosl: 
Valvesl auton1ation, mcasuretnent and instrun1entation 
Carbon steel pipe, fittings and flanges 
Gas products 
All other products 

Less: Excess of weighted-average cost over LIFO cost (LIFO reserve) 
Less: Other inventory reserves 

NOr E 6---PROPERTY. PLANT AND EOU]]>MJ:NT 

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in millions): 

Land and improvements 
Building and building improvements 
Machinery and equipment 
Software 
Software in progress 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Dcprccinble Life (in 
years) 

40 
3 to 10 

lO 

2024 

$ 

$ 

2024 

$ 

December 31, 
2023 

206 $ 254 
135 171 
265 266 
104 117 

710 ~ 

(280) (282) 
(15) (15) 

415 $ 511 
~===~ 

December 31, 

2023 

2 $ 2 
43 44 

121 125 
71 71 
31 8 

268 250 
(179) (173) 

89 s 77 

i;iuilding and building improvements include $1:! million and :1>'9 million of non-cash leasehold improvements representing lease incentives as of December 31,2024 
and December 31,2023, respectively. 

NOTE 7-(".00DWll~L AND OfHER INTANGIBLE ASSt::'fS 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in millions): 

Goodwill at December 31, 2022 (I) 
lmpainnent 
Effect of foreign currency translation 
Goodwill at December 31,2023 
lmpainnent 
Effect of foreign cmTency translation 

Goodwill at December 31,2024 

$ 

$ 

(I) Net of prior years' accumulated impainnent losses of $527 million and $223 million in the U .S. 
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u.s. International 
264 $ 

264 

264 $ 

and lnten1ational segments, respectively. 

Total 
$ 264 

264 

$ 264 
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Other I ntangible Assets 

Other intangible assets by major classification consist of the following (in millions): 

December 31, 2024 
Customer base (I) 

Indefinite-lived trade name (2) 

December 31, 2023 
Customer base (I) 

Indefinite-lived trade name (2) 

(I) Net ofaccnmulated impairment losses of$42 million as of December 31,2024 and 2023. 
(2) Net of accumulated impairment losses of$229 million as of December 31,2024 nod 2023. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Other lptapgjble Assets 

Gross 

$ 370 
107 

$ 477 

$ 368 
107 

$ 475 

Accumulated Net Book 
Amot1ization Value 

$ (334) $ 36 
107 

$ (334) $ 143 

$ (312) $ 56 
107 

$ (312) $ 163 

In connection with our annual impainnent test as of October I, 2024, we performed a quantitative goodwill impainnent test to assess whether the carrying value of the 
U.S. reporting unit exceeds the fair vnlue. TI1e Company estimated the fair value of the U.S. reporting unit utilizing the income approach, which required the use of 
estimates and assumptions related to growth rates, discount rates and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The cash flows employed by the discounted 
cash flow analysis for the U.S. reporting unit are based on the reporting unit's budget, long-term business plan and recent operating perfOJmance. The discount rate 
assumptions are based on an assessment oftl1e risk inherent in the future cash flows of the U.S . reporting unit and market conditions. As of October I, 2024, 
we perfom1ed a quantitative indefinite-li,·ed tradename impairment test to assess if the carrying value of the asset was recoverable. Recoverability of indefinite-lived 
intangible assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value. The Company estimated the fair value of the indefinite-lived tradename 
utilizing an income approach, the relief-ft·om-royalty method, which required the use of estimates and assumptions related to growth rates. discount rates, and the 
amount and timing of expected future cash flows for MRC Global. The cash flows employed by the discounted cash flow analysis for MRC Global are based on the 
Company's budget, long-term business plan and recent operati~ng perfom1ance. The discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of the risk inherent in the 
futnre cash flows of the Company and market conditions. Based on the analysis performed, there were no indicators of impairment for the U.S. reporting unit or 
the indefinite-lived tradcname asset. In connection with our annual impaim1ent tests ~•s of October I , 2023 and 2022, we performed a qualitative assessment of the 
carrying value of the remaining goodwill for our U.S. reporting unit and our indefinite-lived tradename asset. Based o n our assessment, the· fair value exceeded i1s 
carrying value by over I 00% for both our goodwill and indefinite-lived trade name assets, and therefore, we concluded there was no impairment of our goodwill or our 
indefinite-lived trade name. 

Amortization of Intangible Assets 

Total amortization of intangible assets fo•· each of the years ending December 3 1, 2025 to 2029 is currently estimated as follows (in millions): 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
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NOTE &-l.EASES. 

We lease certain distribution centers, warehouses, office space, land, automobiles and equipment. The majority of these leases are classified as operating leases. We 
recognize operating fixed lease expense and finance lease amortization expense on a straight-line basis over the lease tenn. Leases with an initial tenn of 12 months or 
less are not recorded on the balance sheet. 

Many of our facility leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal tenns that can extend the lease tenn from one year to 15 years with a maximum lease tenn 
of30 years, including renewals. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discret ion; therefore, renewals to extend the terms of most leases are not included in 
our right of use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities as they are not reasonably certain of exercise. In the case of our regional distribution centers and certain corporate 
offices, where the renewal is reasonably certain of exercise, we include the renewal period in our lease tenn. Leases with escalation adjustments based on an index, such 
as the consumer pri·cc index, arc expensed based on current rates. Leases with specified escalation steps arc expensed based on the total lease obligation ratably over 
the life of the lease. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the expected lease tem1. Non-lease components, such as payment of real estate taxes, maintenance, 
insurance and other operating expenses, have been excluded from the determination of our lease liability. 

As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on the infonnation available at the commencement date in determining 
the present value of the lease payments using a portfolio approach. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive 
covenants. 

O ur leases are presented in our consolidated balance sheets as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 
Balance Sheet Classification 2024 2023 

Assets 
Operating lease assets Operating lease assets $ 170 s 196 
Finance lease assets (I) Other assets 8 

Total lease assets $ 178 $ 196 

Liabilities 
Current 

Operating lease liabilities Operating lease liabili'lies s 31 $ 32 
Finance lease liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1 

Long-tenn 
Operating lease liabilities Operating lease liabilities 153 179 
Finance lea~e li ahililie~ Other liahi1itie• 8 

Total lease liabilities $ 193 s 211 

(I) Finance lease assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization of $2 million as of December 31, 2024. 

Expense associated with our operating leases was $46 million and $41 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which is classified in selling, 
general and administrative expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2024, expense associated with our finance leases was $2 million related to the amortization of 
ROU Assets, which is classified in cost of sales, and $1 million related to the interest on finance lease liabilities, which is classified in interest expense. Cash paid for 
operating leases recQgnized as liabilities was $41 million and $40 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Cash paid for finance leases was $1 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2024. 

The maturity of lease liabilities is as follows (in millions): 

Maturity of Lease Liabilities 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

After2029 
Total lease payments 
Less: Interest 

Present value of lease liabilities 

The term and discount rate associated with leases are as follows: 

Lease Term and Discount Rate 
Weighted-average remaining lease tenn (years) 

Operating leases 
Finance leases 

Weighted-average discount rate 
Operating leases 
Finance leases 

$ 

$ 

Operating 

December 31, 
2024 

42 
36 
30 
25 
20 

113 

266 
(82) 

184 

11 

5 

6.7% 
6.7% 

$ 

$ 

Finance 

December 31, 
2023 

2 
2 
2 
2 
2 
I 

11 
(2) 
9 

11 

6.5% 

Amounts maturing after 2029 include expected renewals for leases of regional distribution centers and certain corporate offices through dates up to 2048. Excluding 
optional renewals, our weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases is 6 years and 7 years, respectively, for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023. 
Excluding optional renewals, our weighted average remaining lease term for finance leases is 5 years for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

F-17 



Table of Contents 

NOTE 9- ADDmONAI. RAI .ANCE SHEET Th'FORMA TION 

Certain balance sheet amounts arc comprised of the following (in millions): 

Accrued expenses a nd other current liabilities 
Accrued payroll and other related costs 
Deferred revenue 
Taxes (non-income) 
Income tax payable 
Finance lease liabilities 
Dividends payable 

NOTE 10-DEBT 

The components of·our debt are as follows (in millions): 

Senior Secured Term Loan B, due September 2024 ( I) 
Senior Secured Term Loan B, due October 203 1 (2) 
Global ABL Facility 

Less: current portion 

December 31, 

2024 

$ 93 $ 
16 
10 

4 

$ 124 $ 

December 31, 
2024 

$ $ 
3 44 

43 

387 
3 

$ 384 $ 

( I) The Senior Secured Term Loan B, due September 2024, is net of discount and issuanc-e costs of $1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
(2) The Senior Secured Tenn Loan B, due October 2031, is net of discount and issuance costs of S7 million for the year ended December 3 I , 2024. 

2023 

78 
7 
5 
7 

3 
100 

2023 
292 

9 

301 
292 

9 

Prior Senior Secured Term LM n B: We had a senior secured tenn loan B (the "Prior Tenn Loan") with an original principal amount of$400 million, which amortized in 
equal quarterly installments of 1% per year with the balance payable in September 2024, when tlhe facility matured. In May 2024, the Company repaid the Prior Tenn Loan 
in its entirety. The outstanding principal balance on the Prior Tenn Loan at the date of repayment was $292 million. Tile Company used $2 16 million of borrowings from 
our Global ABL Facility (defined below) and $76 million cash to repay the Prior Term Loan. The early repayment of the Prior Term Loan resulted in a loss on early 
extinguishment of debt of$0.2 million. AEI security securing the Prior Term Loan was released upon the repayment of the Prior Tem1 Loan. 

Interest Rate. The Prior Term Loan had an applicable interest rate margin of 300 b~osis points in the case of loans incurring interest based on LID OR, and 200 bas is points 
in the case of loans incurring interest based on the base rate. Beginning July I , 2023, the LIBOR interest rate was cal<:ulated as the aggregate Chicago Mercantile 
Exchange ("CME") Tenn SOFR plus the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) credit adjustment spread. "Term SOFR" is the forward looking, per 
annum secured overnight financing rate administered by CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited and published on the applicable Thompson Reuters 
Corporation website page for each I -month, 3-month, and 6-month matnrities. 

New Senior Sccu1-ed Term Loan B: In October 2024, the Company entered into a new tem1loan "B" (the 'Tem1 Loan") with an original principal amount ofS350 million, 
which amortizes in equal quarterly installments of 1% per year with the balance payable in October 203 1, when the facility matures. The Te1m Loan was issued at an 
original issue discount of 99.5%. The Company used the proceeds from the Tem1 Loan to repu~chase all of its issued. and outstanding shares of its Preferred Stock 
(detined below). 

Interest Rate. The Term Loan accrues interest at a margin plus either Term SOFR or a base rate, depending on the Company's election at the tim e of a loan. For loans 
incurring interest based on Term SOFR, the margin is (a) 350 basis points if either or both of the ratings (i) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") is B2, or 
lower, or (ii) by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("S&P") is B, or lower, and (b) 325 basis points if either or both of the ratings (i) by Moody's is B I , or better, or (ii) 
by S&P is B+, or better. For loans incurring interest based on the base rate, the margin is (a) 250 basis points if either or both of the ratings ( i) by Moody's is B2, or lower, 
or (ii) by S&P is B, or lower, and (b) 225 basis points if either or both of the ratings (i) by Moody's is B I , or better, or (ii) by S&P is B+, or better. The Term Loan provides 
certain provisions if ratings are unavailable. 

Facility Size Increases. The Term Loan allows for incremental increases in facility size (subject to additional lender commitments) up to an aggregate amount equal to the 
greater of S225 mill ion and I 00% of Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent trailing four consecutive fiscal quarters then ended, plus an additional amount such that 
the Company's first lien leverage ratio (as defined under the Term Loan) would not exceed 3.75 to 1.00. 

Security . MRC Global (US) Inc. is the botTower under the Tenn Loan facility, which is guaranteed by MRC Global Inc. and certain of its wholly owned U.S. subsidiaries. 
The Term Loan is secured by a second lien on the assets of MRC Global Inc., MRC Global (US) Inc. and those U.S. subsidiaries guaranteein g the Term Loan faci lity 
(collectively, the "Tem1 Loan Credit Parties") securing the Global ABL Facility (which includes accounts receivable and inventory). The Term Loan is secured by a first 
lien on substantially all of the other assets of the Term Loan Credit Parities. The Tenn Loan is further secured by a first lien pledge of all of the capital stock of certain of 
the direct domestic subsidiaries ofTem1 Loan Credit Parties and 65% of the capital stock of certain of the direct, non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Tenn Loan Credit Parties. 
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Prepayments. We are required to repay the Tenn Loan with the proceeds from certain asset sales and certain insurance proceeds. In addition, on an annual basis, we are 
required to repay an amount equal to 50% of excess cash flow, as defined in the Term Loan, reducing to 25% if our first lien leverage ratio is no more than 3.25 to 1.00 but 
greater than 3.00 to 1.00. No payment of excess cash flow is required if the first lien leverage ratio is less than or equal to 3.00 to 1.00. The amount of cash used iuthe 
determination of the first lien secured leverage ratio is limited to $125 million. 

Resrricrive Covenants. The Term Loan does not include any financial maintenance covenants. 

The Term Loan contains restrictive covenants (in each case, subject to exclusions) that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company and its restricted 
subsidiaries to: 

• make investments, including acquisitions; 
• prepay certain indebtedness; 
• grant liens; 
• incur additional indebtedness; 
• sell assets; 
• make fundamental changes to our business; 
• enter into transactions with affiliates; and 
• pay dividends. 

The Term Loan also contains other customary restrictive covenants. The covenants are subject to various baskets and materiality thresholds, with certain of the baskets 
permitted by the restrictions on the repayment of subordinated indebtedness, restricted payments and investments being available only w·hen the various leverage ratio 
calculations of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries is less than 3.75 to 1.00 or 3.50 to 1.00, as applicable. 

The Tem1 Loan provides that the Company and its restricted subsidiaries may incur any first lien indebtedness that is pari passu to the Tenn Loan so long as the pro 
forma first lien secured leverage ratio of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries is less than or equal to 3. 75 to 1.00. The Company and its restricted 
subsidiaries may incur any second lien indebtedness so long as the pro fomu1 junior secured leverage ratio of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries is less than or 
equal to 4.50 to 1.00. The Company and i ts restricted subsidiaries may incur any unsecured indebtedness so long as the total leverage ratio of the Company and its 
restricted subsidiaries is less than or equa.l to 4 .75 to 1.00 or the pro forma consolidated interest coverage ratio of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries is greater 
than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00. Additionally, under the Tem1 Loan , the Company and its restricted subsidiaries may incur indebtedness under the Global ABL Facility (or 
any replacement fac ility) in an amount not to exceed the greater of $1.3 billion and the borrowing base under the Global ABL Facility at suc'l1 time. 

The Term Loan contains certain cnstomary representations and warranties, affinnative covenants and events of default, including, among other things, payment 
defaults, breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, cross-defaults to certain indebtedness, certain events of bankruptcy, certain events under 
ERISA, judgment defaults, actual or assetied failure of any material guaranty or security documents supporting the Tenn Loan to be in full force and effect and change 
of control. If such an event of default occurs, the Agent under the Tem1 Loan is entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the 
Term Loan and all other actions that a secured creditor is pennitted to take following a default. 

Global ABI. Cn>djt Fadljty: In November 2024, the Company entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Loan, Security and Guarantee Agreement (the "Global ABL 
Facility") by and among the Company, as a guarantor, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as borrowers and guarantors, lenders and Bank of America, N.A. as 
administrative agent, security trustee and collateral agent. As part of the amendment, the $750 million asset-based revolving credit facility maturity date was extended to 
November 2029 from September 2026. The Global ABL Facility is comprised of$705 million in revolver commitments in the United States, which includes a $30 mi llion 
sub-limit for Canada, $12 million in Norway, $10 million in Australia, $10.5 million in the Netherlands, $7.5 million in the United Kingdom and $5 million in Belgium.l11e 
Global ABL Facility contains an accordion feature that allows us to increase the principal amount of the facility by up to $250 million, subject to securing additional 
lender commitments. 

Guaranrees. Obligations of the U.S. Borrowers under the Global ABL Facility are guaranteed by the Company, each of the U.S. Borrowers, each of the Canadian 
Borrowers, certain of the wholly owned material U.S. subsidiaries of the U.S. Borrowers from time to time party to the ABL Agreement (the "U.S. Guarantors") and 
certain of the wholly owned Canadian subsidiaries of the Company from time to time party to the ABL Agreement (the "Canadian Guarantors"). The obligations of the 
Foreign Borrowers under the Global ABL Facility are guaranteed by the U.S. Borrowers, the U.S. Guarantors and, subject to certain limitations the ABL Agreeme nt more 
particularly describes, the Foreign Borrowers (collectively, the " ABL Guarantors"). 
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Security. Obligations under the U.S./Canadian Facility are primarily secured, subject to certain exceptions, by a first-priority security interest in the accounts receivable, 
inventory and related assets of the U.S. Borrowers, U.S. Guaran tors, the Canadian Borrowers and the Canadian G uarantors. The obligations of any Foreign Borrower are 
primarily secured, s ubject to certain exceptions, by a first-priority security interest in the accou nts receivable, inventory and related assets of the Foreign Borrowers and 
the ABL Guarantors and a first-priority pledge by the Foreign Borrower of the equity interests in its direct, wholly owned restricted subsidiaries incorporated in the 
relevant borrower jurisdictions and intercompany debt instruments the Foreign Borrower holds. No property of a Foreign Borrower or its subsidiaries (other than the 
Canadian Borrowers) secures the U.S./Canadian Facility. The security interest in accounts receivable, inventory and related assets of the U.S. Borrowers ranks prior to 
the security interest in this collateral which secures the Tenn Loan. 

Borrowing Bases. Each Foreign Borrower has a separate stand-alone Borrowing Base that limits the Foreign Borrower's abili ty to borrow under its respective Facility, 
subject to an excep6on allowing the Foreign Borrowers to utili~e excess availability under the U.S./Canadian Facility to borrow amounts in excess of their respective 
borrowing bases, which utilization will reduce excess availabilily under the U.S./Canadian Facility dollar for dollar. 

Interest Rates. Prior to December I, 2024, the applicable margin for borrowings under the Global ABL Facility will be set at Level L1 of the defmition of"Applicable 
Margin" under the ABL Agreement as determined by a consolidated fixed charge ratio greater than I .50 to 1.00 but less than or equal to 2.25 to 1.00, which means that 
borrowings will bea.r interest at a rate equal to: 

in the case of U.S. dollar and euro advances, 
Term SOFR plus I .50%, 
EURJBOR plus 1.50%, 

for base rate advances in the U.S. or Canada, the U.S. Base Rate (or Canadian Base Rate if in Canada) plus 0.50%, or 
for base rate advances outside the U. S. and Canada, an applicable Base Rate plus 1.50%; 
in the case of Norwegian Kroner advances, NIBOR plus I .50% or the Nonvegian Base Rate plus 1.50%; 
in the case of Canadian dollar advances, Tem1 CORRA plus 1.50% or the Canadian Prime Rute or Canadian Base Rate plus 0.50%; 
in the case of British pound sterling advances, SONlA plus 1.50%, or the UK Base Rate plus 1.50%; or 
in the case of Australian dollar advances, the Australian Bank Bill Rate plus 1.50% or the Australian Base Rate p lus 1.50%. 

On and after December I, 2024 as of the end of the fiscal quarter that most recently ended, the applicable margins will be subject to a 0.25% step-down to Level III of the 
definition of"Applicable Margin" under fhe ABL Agreement as detennined by a consolidated fixed charge ratio greater than 2.25 to 1.00 or a 0.25% step-up to Level I of 
the definition of"Applicable Margin" under the ABL Agreement as detennined by a consolidated fixed charge ratio less than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00. 

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the Global ABL Facility, the ABL Borrowers are required to pay a commitment fee in respect ofunutilized 
commitments, which is equal to 0.375% per annum for each Facility (or 0.25% per annum if utilization of a Facility exceeds 35% of the aggregate commitments under the 
Facility). 

£.\"cess Availability. AI December 31, 2024, availability under our revolving credit facilities was S460 million. 

lnte1·est on Borrowinas: The interest rates on our borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, including a floating to fixed interest rate swap and 
amortization of deb1 issuance costs, were as follows: 

Senior Secured Term Loan B, due September 2024 
Senior Secured Term Loan B, due October 203 I 
Global ABL Facility 
Weighted average interest rate 

2024 

Matm·ities of Debt: At December 31, 2024 , annual contractual maturities of debt during the next five years are as follows (in millions): 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
Thereafter 
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December 31, 
2023 

8.02% 
5.95% 
7.79% 

$ 

9.08% 

5.82% 
8.98% 

3 
4 
4 
4 

46 
326 
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NOTE 11-DERIV ATIVE FINANCIALINSIRUMENTS 

We use derivative financial instruments to help manage our exposure to interest rate risk and fluctuations in foreign currencies. 

Interest Rate Swap: ln March 2018, we entered into a five-year interest rate swap that became effective on March 31, 2018, with a notional amount of$250 million from 
which we receive payments at !-month LIBOR and make monthly payments at a fixed mte of2.7 145% with settlement and reset dates on or ncar the last business day of 
each month until maturity. The fair value of the swap at inception was zero. On March 3 1, 2023, the interest rate swap agreement expired and was not extended with any 
new agreements or amendments. An immaterial net gain recorded as a component of other comprehensive loss was reclassified to interest expense as of December 3 1, 
2023. There were no balances associated with interest mte swaps as of December 3 1,2024 or 2023. 

Foreign Exchange Forward and Option Contracts: All of our foreign exchange derivative instruments are freestanding. We have not desig nated our foreign exchange 
derivatives as hedges and, accordingly, changes in their fair market value are recorded in earnings. Foreign exchange forward contracts are reported at fair value utilizing 
the Level 2 inputs, as the fair value is based on broker quotes for the same or similar derivative instnnnents. There were no outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts as of December 31, 2024 or 2023. 

For the years ended December 31 , 2024,2023 and 2022, the gain or loss recognized in our consolidated statements of operations related to our derivative instruments 
was not material. 

NOTE 12-INCOME TA."XES 

The components of our income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes were (in millions): 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

United Sta tes $ 84 $ 145 $ 106 
Foreign 21 9 (I) 

$ 105 $ 154 $ 105 

Income taxes included in the consolidated statements of operations consist of (in millions): 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
Current: 

Federal $ 26 $ 34 $ 30 
State 4 7 6 
Foreign 5 5 6 

35 46 42 

Deferred: 
Federal (6) (3) (6) 
State (1 ) (I) 

Foreign ( I ) (4) 

(8) (7) (7) 

Income tax expense 27 $ 39 s 35 
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Our effective tax rate varied from the statutory federal income tax rate for the following reasons ( in millions): 

Federal tax expense at statutory rates 
State taxes 
Nondeductible expenses and other 
Foreign operations taxed at different rates 
Credit carryforwards 
Change in valuation allowance 

Income tax expense 
Effective tax rate 

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in millions): 

Deferred tax assets: 
Accruals and reserves 
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 
Operating lease liabilities 

Other 
Subtotal 
Valuation allowance 

Total 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Inventory valuation 
Property, plant and equipment 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 
Intangible assets 
Other 

Total 

Net deferred tax liability 

2024 
$ 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 
22 $ 32 $ 22 

3 6 4 
3 3 4 
2 4 3 

(26) 
23 (6) 2 
27 $ 39 $ 35 

26% 25% 33% 

Oecember31, 

2024 2023 

$ 20 $ 12 
77 57 
34 

5 3 
136 72 
(81) (57) 

55 15 

(8) (12) 
(5) (4) 

(32) 
(36) (39) 

(3) 
(84) (55) 

$ (29) $ (40) 

We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the 
deferred tax assets depends on the ability to generate sufficienl taxable income of the appropriate character in the futllre and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. 
When we determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the 
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. 

During 2024, the holding stmcture of our Canadian subsidiary was realigned to preserve a built·-in loss in the shares generating a capital loss of $110 million. The total 
capital loss carryforward is $111 million. Capital losses incurred in a taxable year are allowable to the extent of capital gains. A full valuation allowance provision was 
required as the Company does not typical ly generate capital gains. 

In the U.S., we had approximately $111 million of U.S. capital loss ("CL") carry forwards as of December 31, 2024, which will expire in 2029, $12 million of state net 
operating loss ("NOL'') carry forwards which will expire in future years through 2032, and $1 mil lion of foreign tax credit ("FfC") carryforwards, which will expire in future 
years through 2027. In certain non-U.S. jurisdictions, we had $180 million ofNOL carryforwards, of which Sl31 million have no expiration, and $49 million will expire in 
future years through 2044. We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit from U.S. st.ate NOL, capital loss carryforwards, FfC carryforwards and a significant 
portion of the non-U.S. jurisdiction NOL carryfonvards will not be reali:led. As such, we have recorded a valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets related to the 
$I II capital loss carry forwards, $12 million state NOL carryfonvards, $175 million non-U.S. jurisdictions NOL carryfonvards and $1 million FfC carryforwards. 

Dividends from the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries subsequent to 2017 are eligible for a 100% dividend exclusion in determining our U.S. federal taxes. As such, we 
do not expect fi1ture dividends, if any, from the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to result in U.S. federal income taxes. Deferred tax liabilities arising from the 
difference between the financial reporting and income tax bases inherent in these foreign subsidiaries, referred to as outside basis differences, have not been provided 
for U.S. income tax purposes because we do not intend to sell, liquidate or otherwise trigger the recognition of U.S. taxable income with regard to our investment in these 
foreign subsidiaries. Determining the amount of U.S. deferred tax liabilities associated with outside basis differences is not practicable at this time. 

Our tax filings for various periods are subject to audit by the tax authorities in most jurisdictions where we conduct business. We are no longer subject to U.S. federal 
income tax examination for all years through 2020 and the statute of limitations at our international locations is generally six years or seven years. 

At both December 31,2024 and 2023, our unrecognized tax benefits totaled $1 million and $1 million, respectively. 

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development has enacted model rules for a new global minimum tax framework, also known as Pillar Two, and 
continues to release additional guidance on how Pillar Two rules should be interpreted and applied by jurisdictions as they adopt Pillar Two. A number of countries have 
utilized the administrative guidance as a starting point for legislation that went into effect Januaty I , 2024. '111ese rules did not have a material impact on our taxes as of 
December 31, 2024. 
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NOTE1>-REDEE~1ABLEPREFERREDSTOCK 

Preferred S tock Repurchase 

In June 2015, we issued 363,000 shares of Series A Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock") and received gross proceeds of $363 million. On October 
29, 2024, the Company repurchased all of the outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock for $361 million plus $4 million in accmed dividends, and all of the Preferred 
Stock was retired on October 30, 2024. 1l1e Company used the proceeds from the Term Loan, cash on hand and drawings from its Global ABL Facility to fund the 
repurchase. Before its repurchase, the Preferred Stock ranked senior to our common stock with respect to dividend rights and rights on liquidation, winding-up and 
dissolution. The Preferred Stock had a stated value of $1,000 per share, and holders of Preferred Stock were entitled to cumulative dividends payable quarterly in cash at 
a rate of 6.50% per annum. 

The Preferred Stock was convertible at the option of the holders into shares of conunon stock at an initial conversion rate of 55.9284 shares of common stock for each 
share of Preferred Stock, which represented an initial conversion price of$17.88 per share of common stock, subject lo adjustment. The Company had the option to 
redeem, in whole but not in part, all the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock at par value, subject to certain redemption price adjustments. We had the election to 
convert the Preferred Stock, in whole but not in part, into the relevant number of shares of common stock if the last reported sale price of the common stock had been at 
least 150% of the conversion price then in effect for a specified period. The conversion rate was subject to customary anti-dilution and other adjustments. 

Holders of the Preferred Stock could have at their option, required the Company to repurchase their shares in the event of a fundamental c]tange, as defined in the 
agreement. The repurchase price was based on the original $1,000 per share purchase price except in the case of a liq nidation, in which case the holders would have 
received the greater of$1,000 per share and the amount that would have been received if they held conunon stock converted at the conversion rate in effect at the time 
of the fundamental change. Because this feature could have required redemption as a result of the occurrence of an event not solely within the control of the Company, 
the Preferred Stock was classified as temporary equity on our balance sheet. 

NOTE 14-STOCKHOLDERS' [QUJTY 

Prefen·ed S tock 

We have authorized I 00,000,000 shares ofundesignated preferred stock. Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue shares of the preferred stock. As of December 
31, 2024 and 2023, there were no shares and 363,000 shares of p referred stock, respectively, as described in Note 13 issued and outstanding. 

Accumulated Otheo· Comp•·ehensive L oss 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consists of the following (in millions): 

Currency translation adjustments 
Hedge accounting adjustments 
Other adjustments 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

$ 

s 
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2023 
(236) $ (227) 
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Earnings per Sha•·e 

Earnings per share are calculated in the table below (in millions, except per share amounts): 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Numerator 
Net income from continuing operations $ 78 $ 115 $ 70 
Less: Dividends on Series A Preferred Stock 20 24 24 

Less: Loss on repurchase and retirement of preferred stock 9 
Net income from continuing operations at tributable to conm1on stockholders used in 
earnings per share 49 91 46 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (23) (I) 5 
Net income attributable to common stockholders used in earnings per share $ 26 $ 90 $ 51 

Oenomi.nator 
Average basic shares outstanding 85.1 842 83.5 
Etlect of dilutive securities 1.5 13 1.4 

Average diluted shares outstanding 86.6 85.5 84.9 

Basic eamings (loss) per common share: 
Income from continued operations s 0.58 $ 1.08 $ 0.55 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.2!) (0.01) 0.06 
Basic earnings per common share s 0.31 $ 1.07 $ 0.61 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share: 
Income from continued operations s 0.57 $ 1.06 $ 0.54 
(Loss) income from discontinued operatio ns (0.2!) (0.01) 0.06 
Diluted earnings per common share $ 0.30 $ 1.05 $ 0.60 

Equity awards and shares of Preferred Stock are disregarded in this calculation if they are determined to be anti-dilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2024,2023 
and 2022 all of the shares of Preferred Stock were anti-dilutive. We had approximately less than 0.1 million, 1.2 million and 1.2 million anti-di lutive stock options, restricted 
stock units, and perfonnance units for the years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

NOTE 15--EMJ>LOytE BENEFIT I'I.ANS 

Eauitv Compensation Plans: Our Omnibus Incentive Plan originally had 3,250,000 shares available for issuance pursuant to the plan. ln each of April 2015, April 2019 
and May 2022, our s hareholders approved an additional4,250,000, 2,500,000 and 3,000,000 shares, respectively, for issuance under the plan. Shares that do not vest and 
are forfeited and shares that are surrendered for the payment of withholding taxes are rentmed to the pool of shares available for issuance pursuant to the plan . Certain 
shares that are not likely to be issued may also be available. The plan permits the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock 
units, perfonnance shares, perfonnance units and other stock-based and cash-based awards. Since the adoption of the plan, the Company's Board of Directors has 
periodically granted stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and perfonnance share units to directors and employees. but no other types o f awards 
have been granted u nder the plan. Options and stock appreciation rights may not be granted at prices less than their fair market value on the date of the grant, nor for a 
tern1 exceeding ten years. For employees, vesting generally occurs over a three-year period (but no less than one year) on the anniversarie·s of the date speci lied in the 
employees' respective agreements, subject to accelerated vesting under certain circumstances set forth in the agreements. Vesting for directors generally occurs on the 
one-year anniversary of the grant date. ln 2024, 123,064 shares of restricted stock, 42 1,711 performance share units and 1,000,027 restricted stock units were granted to 
executive management, members of our Board of Directors and employees under this plan. A B1ack-Scholes option pricing model is used to estimate the fair value of the 
stock options. A Monte Carlo simulation is completed to estimate the fair value of perfonnance share unit awards with a stock price performance component. We 
expense the fair value of all equity grants, including perfonnance share unit awards, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

Stock Options 

The following table summarizes outstanding stock options: 

Stock Options 
Balance at December 31, 2023 

Forfeited or expired 

Balance at December 3 1, 2024 

At December 31, 2024 
Options outstanding, vested and exercisable 
Options outstanding, vested and expected to vest 

F-24 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Options Price 

289,686 $ 29.30 
(289,686) 29.30 

$ 

$ 
$ 

Weighted 
A vet-age 

Remaining 
ContJ·actual 

Tem1 
(years) 

0.1 $ 

$ 

$ 
$ 

Aggr egate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
(millions) 
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Restricted Stock A wards 

The following tables summarizes award activity for restricted stock awards: 

Restricted Stock Awards 

Non vested at December 3 1, 2023 
Granted 
Vested 

Non vested at December 31, 2024 

Restricted Stock Awards 
Weighted-average, grant-date fair value of awards granted 
Total fair value of restricted stock vested 

Restricted Stock Unit Awards 

The following table sunm1arizes award activity for restricted stock unit awards: 

Restricted Stock Unit Awards 
Non vested at December 3 I, 2023 

Granted 
Vested 
Forfeited 

Nonvested at Oecember 3 1 , 2024 

Restricted Stock Unit Awards 
Weighted-average, grant-date tair value of awards granted 
Total fair value of restricted stock units vested 

Performance Share Unit Awards 

$ 

s 

Shares 

Weighted 
A\'erage 

Grant-Da te 
Fair· Value 

135,019 s 9.03 
123,064 11.64 

(135,019) 9.03 

123,064 $ JJ .64 ======== 
Year Ended December 31, 

2024 

11.64 s 
1,554,069 

2023 

Sha res 

9.03 s 
873,856 

2022 

12.21 

1,409,251 

Weighted 
Average 

G rant-Date 
Fair Value 

1,693,830 s 10 .33 
1,000,027 10.60 
(905,4 50) 9.83 

(59,702) 10.73 

1, 7Z8, 705 ;;,$ ====,;1;,;0,;,;. 7,;4 

Yea r Ended Decem ber 31, 

2024 

10.60 $ 
9,906,963 

2023 

13.07 s 
11,307,908 

2022 

7.66 
5,950,613 

Perfonnance share units have been grante d to certain executive officers . The perfonnance unit awards will be earned only to the extent that MRC Global attains specified 
performance goals over performance periods in a three-year period relating to MRC Global 's total shareholder return compared to companies within the Philadelphia Oil 
Service Index (for 2022 grants) or the VanEck Oil Services Exchange-Traded Fund ("ETF") (for 2023 and 2024 grants) and DNOW lnc. plus iS hares Russell 2000 ETF 
(taken as a whole rather than individual companies in the index). The number of shares awarded at the end of the three-year period could vary from zero, ifperfonnance 
goals are not met, to as much as 200% of target, if perfonnance goals are exceeded. 

The following tables summarizes award activity for perfonnance share unit awards: 

Pe1jormance Share Unit Awards 
Nonvested at December 31, 2023 

Granted 

Vested 
Forfeited 
Performance Adjustment 

Non vested at December 31, 2024 

Pe1junnanc:e Share Unit Awards 
Weighted-average, grant-date fair value of awards granted 
Total fair value of performance share units vested 
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$ 

Shares 

Weighted 
Average 

G mnt-Da te 
Fai.r Value 

1,149,286 $ 12.34 
421,711 12.17 

(372,845) 10.68 
(71,494) 19.40 
35,427 11.86 

1,162,085 =$ =====1=2=.4=1 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 

12.17 s 
4,015,541 

2023 2022 

16.86 s 8.96 
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Recognized compensation expense and related income tax benefits under our equity-based com1'ensation plans are set forth in the table below (in millions): 

Equity-based compensation expense: 
Restricted stock awards 
Restricted stock unit awards 

Performance share unit awards 

Total equity-based compensation expense 

Income tax benefits. related to equity-based compensation 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2024 

1 
10 

5 

16 

3 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

$ I $ 

8 
5 

$ 14 $ 

s 2 s 

In 2024, we capitalized $1 million of equity-based compensation expense associated with the cost of developing internal-use software. In 2023 and 2022, we had no 
equity-based compensation expense capitalized. 

Unrecognized compensation expense under our equity-based compensation plans is set forth in the table below (in millions): 

Unrecognized equity-based compensation expense: 
Restricted stock awards 
Restricted stock unit awards 
Performance share unit awards 

Total unrecognized equity-based compensation expense 

Weighted-
A ve..age V csting 
Period (in yea•·s) 

03 
0.8 
1.1 

$ 

$ 

Decembc•· 31, 
2024 

Defined Contribution Emnloyee Benefit Plans: We maintain defined contribution employee benefit plans in a number of countries in which we operate. These p lans 
generally allow employees the option to defer a percentage of their compensation in accordance with local tax laws. In addition, we make contributions under these 
plans ranging from 0.15% to 31.5% of elig ible compensation. In June 2020, the Company indefi nitely suspended matching contributions for employees in the 

2 
7 
4 

13 

2 

I 
8 
4 

13 

U.S. Beginning in October 202I, the Company partially reinstated contribution matching in the U.S. In October 2022, the Company fully reinstated contribution matching 
in the U.S. Expense under defined contribution plans were $9 million, $8 million and $6 million for the years ended December 31,2024, 2023 and 2022. 

NOTE 16--SEGMENT. GEOGRAPHIC AND PRODUCT LINE INFORMATION 

Our business is comprised of two operating and reportable segments as of December 31, 2024 : U .S. and lntemational. Our International segment consists of our 
operations outside of the U.S. These segments represent our business of selling PVF to the ene rgy sector across each of the following sectors: 

• Gas Utilities (s.torage and distribution of natural gas), 
• DIEf: downstream, industrial and energy transition (crude oil refining, petrochemical processing, general industrials and energy transition projects), and 
• Pn: production and transmission infrastrucn•re (exploratio n, production, extraction, gathering, processing and transmission of oil and gas). 

The Company has identified its Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") as our President and Chief Executive Ofllcer. The CODM regularly reviews gross profit and 
operating income (loss) by reportable segment to make operating decisions, allocate resources and assess perfonnance of the business. 

On Dec.ember 13, 2024, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell assets associated with our Canada operations, which was previously considered an operating and 
reportable segment of the business. The operating re.sults and cash flows for the assets sold and liabilities assumed as part of the agreement have been classified as 
discontinued operat:ions within the Consolidated Financial Statements for all periods presented. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of the assets associated with 
our Canada operations are provided in Note 2. 
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The following table presents financial information for each segment (in millions): 

Sales 
u.s. 
lntenmtional 

Consolidated sales 

Depreciation and amortization 
u.s. 
International 

Total depreciation and amortization expense 

Amor tization of intangibles 
u.s. 
International 

Total amortization of intangibles expense 

G ross profit 
u.s. 
International 

Total gross profit 

Operating income (loss) 
u.s 
International 
Corporate and other (I) 

Total operating income 

Interest expense 
Other exp ense 

Income from continui.ng ope.-ations before income taxes 

2024 

$ 2,530 
481 

$ 3,011 

$ 19 
2 

$ 21 

18 

19 

497 
123 
6 20 

108 
3 1 
(4) 

135 

(26) 
(4) 

105 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

s 2,845 s 2,823 
421 374 

$ 3,266 $ 3,197 

$ 17 s 15 
2 3 

$ 19 $ 18 

$ 19 $ 19 
2 2 

$ 21 $ 21 

$ 563 $ 489 
107 95 

$ 670 $ 584 

$ 174 $ 127 
21 14 
(7) (6) 

s 188 $ 135 

(32) (24) 
(2) (6) 

$ !54 $ 105 

( I) The balances included in corporate and other represent the operating activity previously id.entified in our Canada segment that do not meet the criteria for 
discontinued operations. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of the assets associated. with our Canada operations are provided in Note 2 . 

Total assets by segment are as follows (in millions): 

Total assets 
u.s. 
International 
Corporate and other ( I) 

Discontinued operations 

Total assets 

2024 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 

2023 

1,278 $ 1,499 
301 300 

9 8 
36 ~ 

1,624 ,;,$====,;,;1',;,886;,;, 

(I) The balances included in corporate a nd other represent the assets previous ly identified in our Canada segment that do not meet the c1·iteria for discontinue d 
operations. Additional disclosures regarding the sale of the assets associated with our Can ada operations are pr·ovided in Note 2. 

The percentages of our propetty, plant and equipment relating to the following geographic areas are as follows: 

Property, plant and equipment 
u.s. 
International 

Total property, plant and equipment 
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94% 
6% 

------------~-O~Oo/o 

2023 

91% 
9"/o 
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O ur net sales and percentage of total sales by product line are as follows (in millions): 

Year Ended Dt'Cembcr 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
Line pipe $ 405 13% $ 532 16% s 550 17% 
Carbon steel fittings and flanges 371 12% 424 13% 406 13% 
Total carbon steel p ipe, fittings and flanges 776 25% 956 29% 956 30% 
Valves, automation, measurement and 
instmmentation 1,086 36% 1, 129 35% 1,043 32% 
Gas products 753 25% 780 24% 776 24% 
Stainless steel alloy pipe and fittings 169 6% 135 4% 177 6% 
General products 227 8% 266 8% 245 8% 

$ 3,011 $ 3,266 $ 3,197 

ISQ'l:E IZ- EAIB ~.4.1 ,li£ lVIU\Sl!BEMENIS 

With the exception of debt, the fair value·s of our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accoun'ls receivable, trade accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximate carrying value. The carrying value of our debt was $387 million and $301 million at December 3l, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The fair value of our debt was $394 million and $302 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, rewectively. We estimated the fair value of amounts outstanding under the 
Tenn Loan using Level 2 inputs, or quoted market prices as of December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

NOI"E 18----COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Legal Pl'oceedings 

Asbestos Claims. We are one of many defendants in lawsuits that plaintiffs have brought seeking damages for personal injuries that exposure to asbestos allegedly 
caused. Plaintiffs and their family members have brought these lawsuits against a large volume of defendant entities as a result of the various defendants' manufacture, 
distribution, supply or other involvement with asbestos, asbestos-containing products or equipment or activities that allegedly caused plaintiffs to be exposed to 
asbestos. These plaintiffs typically assert exposure to asbestos as a consequence of third-party manufactured products that the Company's subsidiary, MRC Global 
(US) Inc., purportedly distributed. As of December 31,2024, we are a named defendant in approximately 495 lawsuits involving approximately I ,060 claims. No asbestos 
lawsuit has resulted. in a judsment asainst us to date, with the majority beins settled, dismissed or othenvise resolved. Applicable third-party insurance has 
substantially covered these claims, and insurance should continue to cover a substantial majority of existing and anticipated futttre claims. Accordingly, we have 
recorded a liability for our estimate of the most likely settlement of asserted claims and a related. receivable from insurers for our estimated recovery, to the extent we 
believe that the amounts of recovery are probable. 

We annually conduct analyses of our ashestos-rel"ted litigation to estimate the adequacy of the reserve for pending and prohahle asbestos-related claims. Given these 
estimated reserves and existing insurance coverage that has been available to cover substantial portions of these claims, we believe that our current accruals and 
associated estimates relating to pending and probable asbestos-related litigation likely to be asserted in the future are currently adequate. This belief, however, relies on 
a number of assumptions, including: 

• That our future settlement payments, disease mix and dismissal rates will be materially consistent with historic experience; 

• That future incidences of asbestos-related diseases in the U.S. will be materially consistent with current public health estimates; 

• That the rates at which future asbestos-related mesothelioma incidences result in compensable claims filings against us will be materially consistent with its 
historic experience; 

• That insurance recoveries for settlement payments and defense costs will be materially consistent with historic experience; 

• That legal standards (and the interpretation of these standards) applicable to asbestos litigation will not change in material respects; 

• n1at there are no materially negative developments in the claims pending against us; and 

• That key co-defendants in current and future claims remain solvent. 

If any of these assumptions prove to be materially different in light of future developments, liabilities related to asbestos-related litigation may be materially different 
than amounts accrued or estimated. Further, while we anticipate that additional claims will be filed in the future, we are unable to predict with any certainty the number, 
timing and magnitttdc of such f11ture claims. In addition, applicable insurance policies are subje.ct to overall caps on limits, which coverage may exhaust the amount 
available from insurers under those limits. ln those cases, the Company is seeking indemnity payments from respons.ive excess insurance policies, but other insurers 
may not be solvent or may not make payments under the policies without contesting their liability. In our opinion, there are no pending legal proceedings that are likely 
to have a material adverse eiTect on our consolidated financial statements. 
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Other Legal Claims and Proceedings. From time to time, we have been subject to various claims and involved in legal proceedings incidental to the nature of our 
businesses. We mai-ntain insurance coverage to reduce financial risk associated with certain of these claims and proceedings. It is not possible to predict tile outc<.>me of 
these claims and proceedings. However, in our opinion, there are no pending legal proceedings that are likely to have a material adverse eflect on our consolidMed 
financial statements. 

Unclaimed Property Audit. The Company is subject to state laws relating to abandoned and unclaimed property. States routinely audit the records of companies to 
assess compliance with such laws. The Company is currently undergoing a multi-state unclaimed property audit. The timing and outcome of the multi-state unclaimed 
property audit cannot be predicted. We have reserved all of our rights, claims, and defenses. Given the nature of these matters, we are unable to reasonably estimate the 
total possible loss or ranges of loss, if any. If the Company is found to be in nonc<.>mpliance with applicable unclaimed property laws or the manner in which those laws 
are interpreted or applied, states may determine that they are entitled to the Company's remittance of unclaimed or abandoned property and further may seek to impose 
other costs on the Company, including penalties and interest. We intend to vigorously contest the above matter; however, an adverse decision in this matter could have 
an adverse itnpact on us, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Product Claims. From time to time, in the ordinary course of our business, our customers may claim that the products that we distribute are either defective or require 
repair or replacement under warranties that either we or the manufacturer may provide to the customer. These proceedings arc, in the opinion of management, ordinary 
and routine matters incidental to our nonnal business. Our purchase orders with our suppliers generally requ.ire the manufacturer to indemnify us against any product 
liability claims, leaving the manufacturer ultimately responsible for these claims. In many cases, state, provincial or foreign law provides protection to distributors for 
these sorts of claims, shifting the responsibility to the manufacturer. In some cases, we could be required to repair or replace the products lor the benefit of our customer 
and seek our recovery from the manufacturer for our expense. nn our opinion, the likelihood that the ultimate disposition of any of these cla ims and legal proceedings will 
have a material adverse e!Tect on our consolidated financial statements is remote . 

In Re: July 27 Chemical Release Litigation. In 2019, the Company's customer, Lyondell Chemical, a subsidiary of Ly-ondellBasselllndustries Holdings B.V. (collectively 
with its subsidiaries, "Lyondell"), entered into an order with the Company's subsidiary, MRC Global (US) Inc., for MRC Global (US) to facilitate a refurbishment of a 
Lyondell-owned valve by the valve manufacturer, Xomax Corp<>ration, a subsidiary of Crane Co . (collectively with its subsidiaries, "Crane"), and thereafter for MRC 
Global (US) to affix. a new bracket and actuator to the refurbished Crane Valve. When Crane completed the refurbishment, it shipped the valve to MRC Global (US), 
which, in turn, procured a bracket from a third-party fabricator and installed the bracket and an actuator on the valve and redelivered the valve back to Lyondell. Almost 
two years later, in 2021, Lyon dell contracted with Turn2 Specia lty Companies, LLC ("Turn2") to remove the actuator as part of a maintenance and repair job that was 
being perfonned on a Lyon dell pipe. While perfornting the actuator removal job, representatives of Turn2 removed more than the necessary bolts required to remove the 
actuator, which caused a release from a "live", pressurized line o f chemicals. Two fatalities occurred from the release a long with injnries to others at or near the site. 59 

plaintiffs, including the estates of the two fatalities, sued Lyondell, Tum2 and others in Texas State Court pursuant to multiple lawsuits. These cases were consolidated 
into a multi-district l itigation assigned to the I 90th Judicial Court of Harris County, Texas. Lyondell and Tum2 have e ither settled with the plaintiffs or were dismissed 
based on payments that they made to plaintiffs for workers' compensation, thus, availing themselves of the workers' compensation bar. 

On July 24, 2023, just days prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, the plaintiffs added MRC Global (US), Crane and others to their lawsuits. Plaintiffs claimed 
that MRC Global (US) failed to warn Turn2 of the d.,ngers of removing the wrong bolts and fttiled to properly instrnet Lyondell and Tum2 on how to remove the actuator. 
The plaintiffs also alleged that MRC Global (US) was responsible as an assembler or seller of the final valve package distributed to Lyondell. MRC Global (US) disagrees 
that it had any liability and vigorously defended these claims. Plainti!Ts asserted variOltS claims for damages, including for bodily injury, past and future medical 
expenses, lost wages, mental anguish, pain and suffering and punitive damages. 

As of [)ecernber 2024, MRC Global and its insurers settled with all of the plaintiffs within MRC Global's insurance limits. 

Customer Co11tracts 

We have contracts and agreements with many of our customers that dictate certain terms of our sales arrangements (pricing, deliverables, etc.). While we make every 
effort to abide by the tenns of these contracts, certain provisions are complex and may be subject to varying interpretations. Under the tenns of these contracts, our 
customers have the right to audit our adherence to the contract terms. Historically, any settlements that have resulted fi-om these customer audits have been immaterial 
to our consolidated financial statements. 

Letters of Credit 

O ur letters of credit outstanding at Decemb'-r 31, 2024 approximated $17 million. 
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Bank Guarantees 

Certain of our international subsidiaries have trade guarantees that banks have issued on their behalf. The amount of these guarantees at December 31, 2024 was 
approximately $13 million. 

Purchase Commitments 

We have p urchase obligations consisting primarily of inventory purchases made in the nonnal course of business to meet operating needs. While our vendors often 
allow us to cancel th ese purchase orders without penalty, in certain cases, cancellations may subject us to cancellation fees or penalties depending on the tenns of the 
contract. 

Wnrramy Claims 

We arc involved from time to time in various warranty claims, which arise in the ordinary course of business. Historically, any settlements that have resulted from these 
warranty claims have been immaterial to our consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 19-Sl ffiSEOUENT EVENTS 

In January 2025, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a new $125 million share repurchase program, which expires on January 2, 2028. Under the repurchase 
program, the Company may purchase its outstanding common shares through various means, including open market transactions, block purchases, privately negotiated 
transactions or otherwise in accordance with applicable federal securities laws, including Rule I Ob-18 and Rule I ObS-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. nte program may be modi tied, discontinued or suspended at any time without prior notice. 

In March 2025, the Company closed the sale of its assets associated with its Canada operations to EMCO Corporation. The Company received net proceeds from the 
sale of$16 million. 

F-30 






